# Singularity formation in the incompressible Euler equation in finite and infinite time

Theodore D. Drivas and Tarek M. Elgindi

**Abstract.** Some classical and recent results on the Euler equations governing perfect (incompressible and inviscid) fluid motion are collected and reviewed, with some small novelties scattered throughout. The perspective and emphasis will be given through the lens of infinite-dimensional dynamical systems, and various open problems are listed and discussed.

Dedicated to Prof. Dennis Sullivan on the occasion of his 80th birthday

## Contents

1.	Introduction		2
2.	The	perfect fluid dynamical system	2
	2.1.	Principle of least action on configuration space	2
	2.2.	Cauchy well-posedness in phase space	10
3.	2D f	luids: A tale of isolation, wandering, and long-time strife	15
	3.1.	Isolation: Stationary states, symmetry and stability	16
	3.2.	Wandering: Non-recurrence in infinite dimensions	26
	3.3.	Strife: Instability and infinite-time blow-up	31
	3.4.	Asymptotic picture: "Entropy" decrease	41
4.	3D fluids: Finite-time singularity formation		47
	4.1.	Background, 1D models and special solutions	48
	4.2.	Taming the non-local effects	60
	4.3.	Self-similar singularity	67
	4.4.	Application to axi-symmetric no swirl solutions	72
	4.5.	Analysis of the linearized operator $\mathcal{L}$ and design of angular weights $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	74
5.	Perspectives and problems on singularity formation		75
	5.1.	The Boussinesq system	75
	5.2.	Axi-symmetric solutions on the cylinder: The Hou–Luo scenario	77
	5.3.	Axi-symmetric solutions without swirl	78
6.	$\infty D$	fluids: Finite-time singularity from smooth data	82
7.	Collection of problems, questions and conjectures		85
References			88

2020 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 35Q30; Secondary 35Q31.

*Keywords.* Incompressible Euler equations, infinite-dimensional dynamical systems, singularity formation.

### 1. Introduction

In this paper, some classical and recent results on the Euler equations governing perfect (incompressible and inviscid) fluid motion are collected and reviewed, with some small novelties scattered throughout. The perspective and emphasis will be given through the lens of infinite-dimensional dynamical systems, and various open problems are listed and discussed. We begin in Section 2 by describing the geometric viewpoint of fluid flow as geodesic motion on the group of volume-preserving diffeomorphisms. Wellposedness results are then discussed for the Eulerian velocity field belonging to various function spaces. We continue in Section 3 by examining 2D fluid motion with an eye towards long-time persistent behaviors. Subsequently, Section 4 examines mechanisms for finite-time singularity formation and reviews recent advances on blow-up of classical solutions for 3D Euler. Section 5 gives an outlook on singularity formation in 3D and some open directions. Finally, in Section 6 we discuss a class of global solutions in any dimension (those with constant pressure) and use them to give an example of finite-time blow-up from smooth initial data for the Euler equations in "infinite" spatial dimensions.

### 2. The perfect fluid dynamical system

Let  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded simply connected open domain, possibly with boundary  $\partial M$  having exterior unit normal  $\hat{n}$ . The Euler equations governing the velocity u(t, x):  $[0, T] \times M \to \mathbb{R}^d$  of a fluid which is perfect and confined to M read

$$\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u = -\nabla p \quad \text{in} \quad M,$$
 (2.1)

$$\nabla \cdot u = 0 \qquad \text{in } M, \tag{2.2}$$

$$u|_{t=0} = u_0 \qquad \text{in } M,$$
 (2.3)

$$u \cdot \hat{n} = 0$$
 on  $\partial M$ , (2.4)

where  $p(t, x): [0, T] \times M \to \mathbb{R}$  is the hydrodynamic pressure which enforces incompressibility (2.2). See Figure 2.1. We shall sometimes refer to M as the *fluid vessel* and we will denote its closure by  $\overline{M}$ .

#### 2.1. Principle of least action on configuration space

The Euler equations have a beautiful geometric interpretation, due to V. I. Arnold [7]. Let  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  denote the group of smooth volume-preserving diffeomorphisms of M which leave the boundary invariant. This acts as the configuration space of the fluid, labelling particle positions. Perfect fluid motion is governed by the ODE for  $t \mapsto \Phi_t$  in the space  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$ :

$$\begin{split} \hat{\Phi}_t(x) &= -\nabla p(t, \Phi_t(x)) \qquad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times M, \\ \Phi_0(x) &= x \qquad \qquad x \in M, \\ \Phi_t(\cdot) &\in \mathcal{D}_\mu(M) \qquad \qquad t \in [0, T]. \end{split}$$

$$(2.5)$$



Figure 2.1. Fluid vessel, with the instantaneous velocity and a particle path until time t.

In these equations, the acceleration (the pressure gradient) acts in keeping with its role as a constraint to enforce incompressibility. The system (2.5) can be thought of as arising from d'Alembert's principle of constrained motion, namely  $\Phi_t \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}$ ,  $\dot{\Phi}_t \in T_{\Phi_t} \mathcal{D}_{\mu}$  (the tangent space to  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}$  at  $\Phi_t$  consisting of divergence-free vector fields tangent to  $\partial M$ ) and  $\ddot{\Phi}_t \in (T_{\Phi_t} \mathcal{D}_{\mu})^{\perp}$  (the orthogonal complement to the tangent space consisting of gradient vector fields). Said another way, the acceleration (the pressure gradient) is orthogonal to the constraint (that  $\Phi_t$  remain in  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}$ ). The system (2.5) can be considered as the definition of perfect fluid motion.

Arnold interpreted the ODE (2.5) for  $t \mapsto \Phi_t$  as a *geodesic* equation on  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$ . To understand this view, fix  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$ . Then, for any path  $\gamma :: [t_1, t_2] \mapsto \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  satisfying  $\gamma_{t_1} = \gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_{t_2} = \gamma_2$ , define the action functional

$$\mathcal{A}[\gamma]_{t_1}^{t_2} := \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_M \frac{1}{2} |\dot{\gamma}_t(x)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}t.$$
 (2.6)

We take variations of  $\mathcal{A}$  in path space as follows. Consider a smooth one-parameter family of paths  $\gamma_{t_1}^{\varepsilon}: [t_1, t_2] \mapsto \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  for  $\varepsilon \in (-1, 1)$  with fixed endpoints  $\gamma_{t_1}^{\varepsilon} = \gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_{t_2}^{\varepsilon} = \gamma_2$ and where  $\gamma^0 = \gamma$ . Then we define the variation by

$$\delta \mathcal{A}[\gamma]_{t_1}^{t_2} := \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\varepsilon} \mathcal{A}[\gamma^{\varepsilon}]_{t_1}^{t_2}\Big|_{\varepsilon=0}$$

In order to compute this object we need the variation of the path, defined by

$$\delta \gamma_t(x) := \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\varepsilon} \gamma_t^{\varepsilon}(x) \Big|_{\varepsilon=0}.$$
(2.7)

Fixing  $x \in M$ , the variation  $\delta \gamma_{\cdot}(x): [t_1, t_2] \mapsto T_{\gamma_{\cdot}(x)}M$  defines an element of the tangent space of the manifold at  $\gamma_{\cdot}(x)$  (formally  $\delta \gamma_{\cdot}: [t_1, t_2] \mapsto T_{\gamma_{\cdot}} \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  defines an element of the tangent space of  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  along the path  $\gamma$ ). Composing with  $\gamma^{-1}, \delta \gamma \circ \gamma^{-1}: [t_1, t_2] \mapsto$  $T_{id} \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  gives an element of the tangent space to the volume-preserving diffeomorphism group at the identity. Let  $\mathcal{X}_{\mu}(M)$  be the space of smooth divergence-free vector fields over M which are tangent to the boundary. The tangent space  $T_{id} \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  can be identified with  $\mathcal{X}_{\mu}(M)$ . For our discussion, we require only that for any variation defined by pinned paths as above, it holds

$$\delta \gamma_t \left( \gamma_t^{-1}(x) \right) = v(t, x), \tag{2.8}$$

for some  $v: [t_1, t_2] \mapsto \mathfrak{X}_{\mu}(M)$  with  $v(t_1) = v(t_2) = 0$ , and vice versa. The proof is elementary as everything is taken to be smooth:

**Lemma 2.1.** Fix  $\gamma: [t_1, t_2] \mapsto \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$ . The following two statements hold:

- (1) Fix  $v: [t_1, t_2] \mapsto \mathfrak{X}_{\mu}(M)$  with  $v(t_1) = v(t_2) = 0$ . There is a family  $\gamma^{\varepsilon}: [t_1, t_2] \mapsto \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  for  $\varepsilon \in (-1, 1)$  with  $\gamma^{\varepsilon}_{t_1} = \gamma_1$ ,  $\gamma^{\varepsilon}_{t_2} = \gamma_2$  and  $\gamma^0 = \gamma$  such that (2.8) holds.
- (2) Let  $\gamma_{\cdot}^{\varepsilon}: [t_1, t_2] \mapsto \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  for  $\varepsilon \in (-1, 1)$  be paths with  $\gamma_{t_1}^{\varepsilon} = \gamma_1$ ,  $\gamma_{t_2}^{\varepsilon} = \gamma_2$ and  $\gamma^0 = \gamma$ . There exists  $v: [t_1, t_2] \mapsto \mathfrak{X}_{\mu}(M)$  with  $v(t_1) = v(t_2) = 0$  such that (2.8) holds.

*Proof.* To establish the first direction, define the family  $\gamma_{\cdot}^{\varepsilon}: [t_1, t_2] \mapsto \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\varepsilon}\gamma_t^{\varepsilon}(x) = v\big(t, \gamma_t^{\varepsilon}(x)\big), \qquad \gamma_t^0(x) = \gamma_t(x)$$

Since  $v \in \mathfrak{X}_{\mu}(M)$ , by Liouville's theorem it follows that  $\det(\nabla \gamma_t^{\varepsilon}(x)) = 1$  and thus  $\gamma^{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  for all  $\varepsilon$ . Note that  $\frac{d}{d\varepsilon} \gamma_t^{\varepsilon} |_{t_1} = \frac{d}{d\varepsilon} \gamma_t^{\varepsilon} |_{t_2} = 0$  since v vanishes at those times so that  $\gamma_{t_1}^{\varepsilon} = \gamma_1, \gamma_{t_2}^{\varepsilon} = \gamma_2$ . According to definition (2.7), it follows that (2.8) holds.

In the other direction, define

$$v^{\varepsilon}(t,x) := \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\varepsilon}\gamma_t^{\varepsilon}\right) \big( (\gamma_t^{\varepsilon})^{-1}(x) \big),$$

so that  $\frac{d}{d\varepsilon}\gamma_t^{\varepsilon}(x) = v^{\varepsilon}(t, \gamma_t^{\varepsilon}(x))$ . Since  $\gamma_t^{\varepsilon}$  preserves volume, again by Liouville's theorem we have that  $v^{\varepsilon}: [t_1, t_2] \mapsto \mathfrak{X}_{\mu}(M)$  for all  $\varepsilon \in [0, 1)$ . Moreover,  $v^{\varepsilon}(t_1) = v^{\varepsilon}(t_2) = 0$  since  $\frac{d}{d\varepsilon}\gamma_{t_1}^{\varepsilon} = \frac{d}{d\varepsilon}\gamma_{t_2}^{\varepsilon} = 0$ . With  $v := v^0$ , the claim follows.

With this in hand, we arrive at the formal variational principle:

**Theorem 2.2** (Action principle for perfect fluid motion). Let  $\Phi_{t_1}$ ,  $\Phi_{t_2} \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  be configurations of the fluid at times  $t_1$  and  $t_2$  with  $t_1 < t_2$ . A trajectory  $\Phi_t: [t_1, t_2] \mapsto \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  is a perfect fluid flow, i.e.,  $u := \dot{\Phi}_t \circ \Phi_t^{-1}$  satisfies equations (2.1)–(2.4), if and only if  $\Phi$  is a critical point of the action  $\mathcal{A}$ , i.e.,

$$\delta \mathcal{A}[\Phi]_{t_1}^{t_2} = 0, \quad \text{with} \quad \delta \Phi_{t_1} = 0, \quad \delta \Phi_{t_2} = 0.$$

Proof. Compute the first variation

$$\delta \mathcal{A}[\Phi]_{t_1}^{t_2} = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_M \dot{\Phi}_t(x) \cdot \delta \dot{\Phi}_t(x) \, dx \, dt$$
  
=  $\int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_M \ddot{\Phi}_t(x) \cdot \delta \Phi_t(x) \, dx \, dt$  (using that  $\delta \Phi_{t_1} = \delta \Phi_{t_2} = 0$ ).

According to Lemma 2.1,  $\delta \Phi_t(\Phi_t^{-1}(x)) = v(x,t)$  for some divergence-free velocity field v which satisfies  $v \cdot \hat{n}|_{\partial M} = 0$  and  $v(t_1) = v(t_2) = 0$ . This in hand, using that  $\Phi_t^{-1}$  preserves volume and  $\Phi_t(M) = M$  we write the variation of the action as

$$\delta \mathcal{A}[\Phi]_{t_1}^{t_2} = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_M \ddot{\Phi}_t \left( \Phi_t^{-1}(x) \right) \cdot v(x,t) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t.$$
(2.9)

Assume first that  $\delta \mathcal{A}[\Phi]_{t_1}^{t_2} = 0$ , namely the action is stationary on  $\Phi$  under any variation. By Lemma 2.1 (1), the object (2.9) must vanish in particular for vector fields of the form  $v(x,t) = f(t)\psi(x)$  for  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(t_1,t_2)$  and  $\psi \in \mathcal{X}_{\mu}(M)$ . Thus,

$$0 = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} f(t)g(t) \, \mathrm{d}t, \qquad g(t) := \int_M \ddot{\Phi}_t \left( \Phi_t^{-1}(x) \right) \cdot \psi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

for all  $\psi \in \mathfrak{X}_{\mu}(M)$ ,  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(t_1, t_2)$ . Since g is continuous in time, we may take f to approximate g on  $[t_1, t_2]$  to conclude that g(t) = 0 for each  $t \in [t_1, t_2]$  (the fundamental lemma of calculus of variations). We deduce for each  $t \in [t_1, t_2]$  that

$$0 = \int_{M} \ddot{\Phi}_t \left( \Phi_t^{-1}(x) \right) \cdot \psi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t, \qquad \forall \psi \in \mathfrak{X}_{\mu}(M).$$

The arbitrariness of  $\psi \in \mathfrak{X}_{\mu}(M)$  together with the Hodge decomposition allows us to conclude the existence of p(t, x):  $[t_1, t_2] \times M \to \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\ddot{\Phi}_t(x) = -\nabla p(t, \Phi_t(x)), \qquad \forall t \in [t_1, t_2].$$
(2.10)

Since  $\ddot{\Phi}_t(x) = (\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u)(\Phi_t(x), t)$  where  $u = \dot{\Phi}_t \circ \Phi_t^{-1}$ , we see that (2.10) implies that *u* solves Euler. Contrariwise, if *u* solves the Euler equations then (2.10) holds with *p* as the pressure field so that  $\delta \mathcal{A}[\Phi]_{t_1}^{t_2} = 0$  by (2.9) and  $v \in \mathfrak{X}_{\mu}(M)$ .

Next we show that for short times the Euler flow minimizes the action. This fact was pointed out by Ebin and Marsden [62, Section 9]. The following version is due to Y. Brenier in [16, Section 5] or [17, Proposition 3.2].

**Theorem 2.3** (Perfect fluid flow minimizes the action for short times). Let  $u \in C^1([0,T] \times \overline{M})$ ,  $p \in C([0,T]; C^2_x(\overline{M}))$ . Suppose that T > 0 is such that

$$T^2 \le \pi^2 / K \tag{2.11}$$

with  $K := \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \sup_{x \in \overline{M}} \sup_{|y|=1} y \cdot \nabla^2 p(x,t) \cdot y$ . If (u, p) is a solution of the Euler equations (2.1)–(2.4) and  $\dot{\Phi}_t = u(\Phi_t, t)$  with  $\Phi_0 = \text{id}$ , then

$$\mathcal{A}[\Phi]_0^T \le \mathcal{A}[\gamma]_0^T$$

among all  $\gamma$ :  $[0, T] \mapsto \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  with  $\gamma_0 = \text{id}$  and  $\gamma_T = \Phi_T$ . If  $T^2 < \pi^2/K$ , equality holds if and only if  $\gamma = \Phi$ .

From a geometric standpoint, the pressure Hessian is the second fundamental form – encoding how the submanifold of volume-preserving diffeomorphisms  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  sits inside the ambient group of all diffeomorphisms  $\mathcal{D}(M)$  [148].

*Proof.* Since (u, p) is an Euler solution, we have  $\ddot{\Phi}_t(x) = -\nabla p(\Phi_t(x))$ . Note first

$$\mathcal{A}[\Phi]_0^T = \mathcal{A}[\gamma]_0^T + \int_0^T \int_M \dot{\Phi}_t(x) \cdot \left(\dot{\Phi}_t(x) - \dot{\gamma}_t(x)\right) dx dt - \mathcal{A}[\Phi - \gamma]_0^T.$$

The last two terms are negative for short time. Indeed, by Poincaré's inequality,<sup>1</sup>

$$\mathcal{A}[\Phi - \gamma]_0^T = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^T \int_M \left| \dot{\Phi}_t(x) - \dot{\gamma}_t(x) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \ge \frac{\pi^2}{2T^2} \int_0^T \int_M \left| \Phi_t(x) - \gamma_t(x) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

On the other hand, since  $\Phi_0(x) = \gamma_0(x)$  and  $\Phi_T(x) = \gamma_T(x)$ , we have

$$\int_0^T \int_M \dot{\Phi}_t(x) \cdot \left(\dot{\Phi}_t(x) - \dot{\gamma}_t(x)\right) dx dt = \int_0^T \int_M \ddot{\Phi}_t(x) \cdot \left(\Phi_t(x) - \gamma_t(x)\right) dx dt$$
$$= -\int_0^T \int_M \nabla p(\Phi_t(x)) \cdot \left(\Phi_t(x) - \gamma_t(x)\right) dx dt.$$

Since the pressure is twice differentiable, by Taylor's theorem we have

$$p(\gamma_t(x)) = p(\Phi_t(x)) + \nabla p(\Phi_t(x)) \cdot (\Phi_t(x) - \gamma_t(x))$$
  
+ 
$$\frac{1}{2} (\Phi_t(x) - \gamma_t(x)) \cdot \nabla^2 p(Y_t(x)) \cdot (\Phi_t(x) - \gamma_t(x)),$$

where  $Y_t(x)$  is on the chord connecting  $\gamma_t(x)$  to  $\Phi_t(x)$ . Upon integrating, using the fact that  $\gamma_t$  and  $\Phi_t$  preserve volume, we obtain

$$-\int_0^T \int_M \nabla p(\Phi_t(x)) \cdot (\Phi_t(x) - \gamma_t(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2} \int_0^T \int_M (\Phi_t(x) - \gamma_t(x)) \cdot \nabla^2 p(Y_t(x)) \cdot (\Phi_t(x) - \gamma_t(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t$ 

It follows that

$$\left|\int_0^T \int_M \dot{\Phi}_t(x) \cdot \left(\dot{\Phi}_t(x) - \dot{\gamma}_t(x)\right) \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t\right| \le \frac{K}{2} \int_0^T \int_M \left|\Phi_t(x) - \gamma_t(x)\right|^2 \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t$$

Thus we obtain the upper bound

$$\mathcal{A}[\Phi]_{0}^{T} \leq \mathcal{A}[\gamma]_{0}^{T} + \frac{1}{2} \left( K - \frac{\pi^{2}}{T^{2}} \right) \int_{0}^{T} \int_{M} \left| \Phi_{t}(x) - \gamma_{t}(x) \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t, \qquad (2.12)$$

whence for  $T^2 \leq \pi^2/K$  we have  $\mathcal{A}[\Phi]_0^T \leq \mathcal{A}[\gamma]_0^T$  as claimed. If equality holds, then from (2.12) we deduce  $\int_0^T \int_M |\Phi_t(x) - \gamma_t(x)|^2 dx dt = 0$  so that  $\gamma = \Phi$  as claimed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Indeed, consider any absolutely continuous curve  $f:[0,T] \mapsto \mathbb{R}^d$  with f(0) = f(T) = 0 and with  $df(t)/dt \in L^2([0,T])$ . Using the Fourier series representation of f together with Plancherel's theorem we find immediately that  $||f(\cdot)||^2_{L^2([0,T])} \leq \frac{T^2}{\pi^2} ||\frac{d}{dt} f(\cdot)||^2_{L^2([0,T])}$ .

**Remark 2.4** (Failure to be a minimizer). The condition (2.11) on the time is sharp in the following senses. Consider the two-dimensional example of solid body rotation, i.e.,  $u(x) = x^{\perp}$ . This is an exact stationary solution of the Euler equations having pressure  $p(x) = \frac{1}{2}|x|^2$  on a disk domain. The corresponding flowmap is  $\Phi_t(x) = R_{t \mod 2\pi} x$ where  $R_{\theta}$  denotes the (counterclockwise) rotation matrix by angle  $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$  about 0. Brenier [16] points out that at time  $T = \pi$  (a half rotation of the disk), there fails to be a unique minimizer of the action. Indeed, the action does not depend on whether the rotation is clockwise or counterclockwise, both of which are geodesics connecting these two states. Note that since  $\nabla^2 p = I$  we have K = 1. Thus, at exactly this moment,  $T = \pi$ , the condition (2.11) is violated illustrating its sharpness. For  $T > \pi$ , there exists a shorter path (just rotate clockwise) and thus after this moment, the original fluid flow is not the minimum of the action any longer. We remark that solid body rotation has a *cut point* at  $T = \pi$  – see [61] for further discussion of this geometric notion. It is also an example of *isochronal* flow: one for which the Lagrangian flowmap is time-periodic (see Definition 3.2 below). Geometrically, this corresponds to  $\Phi$  being a *closed geodesic* in  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  [171]. These flows will be discussed further in Section 3.3.

**Remark 2.5** (Euler as geodesic motion on  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$ ). We now describe V. I. Arnold's geometric picture in greater detail. Formally, one can view the space  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  as an infinitedimensional manifold with the metric inherited from the embedding in  $L^2(M; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , and with tangent space made by the divergence-free vector fields tangent to the boundary of M. We can define the length of a path  $\gamma:[t_1, t_2] \mapsto \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  by the expression

$$\mathcal{L}[\gamma]_{t_1}^{t_2} := \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \|\dot{\gamma}_t(\cdot)\|_{L^2(M)} \,\mathrm{d}t.$$

We formally define the *geodesic distance* connecting two states  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  by

$$\operatorname{dist}_{\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)}(\gamma_{0},\gamma_{1}) = \inf_{\substack{\gamma:[0,1]\mapsto\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)\\\gamma(0)=\gamma_{0},\ \gamma(1)=\gamma_{1}}} \mathcal{L}[\gamma]_{0}^{1}.$$

A geodesic curve  $\Phi$ :  $[t_1, t_2] \mapsto \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  is defined to be one so that for all  $t_1 \in \mathbb{R}$  there exists a  $\tau > 0$  such that if  $t_1 < t_2 < t_1 + \tau$  then

$$\operatorname{dist}_{\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)}(\Phi(t_1), \Phi(t_2)) = \mathcal{L}[\Phi]_{t_1}^{t_2}$$

If additionally the parametrization by *t* is chosen so that  $\|\dot{\Phi}_t(\cdot)\|_{L^2(M)} = (\text{const.})$ , then  $\Phi$  minimizes the action (2.6) among all smooth paths connecting  $\Phi(t_1)$  and  $\Phi(t_2)$ . Indeed by Schwarz's inequality, we have  $\mathcal{A}[\gamma]_{t_1}^{t_2} \ge (\mathcal{L}[\gamma]_{t_1}^{t_2})^2/2(t_2 - t_2)$  with equality if and only if  $\|\dot{\gamma}_t(\cdot)\|_{L^2(M)} = (\text{const.})$ . In general, according to Theorem 2.2 perfect fluid motion is a critical point of both functionals  $\mathcal{A}[\gamma]_{t_1}^{t_2}$  and  $\mathcal{L}[\gamma]_{t_1}^{t_2}$ . It is, in fact, a geodesic according to Theorem 2.3, although as we say in Remark 2.4 it need not be the curve of minimal length for long times.

The above discussion is somewhat formal in that it ignores issues of regularity required for precise definitions of the variations. To make things more precise, one may consider



Figure 2.2. Depiction of the geometry of fluid motion.

the group  $\mathcal{D}^s_{\mu}(M)$  for s > d/2 + 1, which is a submanifold of all  $H^s$  diffeomorphisms of M, see [62]. The  $L^2$  exponential map is defined as the solution map of the geodesic equations: it maps lines through the origin in the tangent space at a given diffeomorphism onto geodesics in the diffeomorphism group. More precisely, at the identity we set

$$\exp_{\mathrm{id}}: T_{\mathrm{id}} \mathcal{D}^s_{\mu} \to \mathcal{D}^s_{\mu}, \qquad \exp_{\mathrm{id}} t u_0 = \Phi_t, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}, \tag{2.13}$$

where  $\Phi_t$  is the unique  $L^2$  geodesic (at least for short times) starting from id with velocity  $u_0$ . We note that in any spatial dimension,  $\exp_{id}$  is a local diffeomorphism near id and in two dimensions, it is defined on the whole tangent space. The study of analytical properties of this map is the subject of the classical work of Ebin and Marsden [62]. This framework opened up the possibility to ask purely geometric questions about fluid motion, such as those concerning the existence of conjugate and cut points. See [61, 149, 178].

**Remark 2.6** (Euler–Arnold equations). Arnold's geometric description of the motion of a physical system as geodesic flow on a Lie group with respect to some metric extends widely. These occur either by changing the group (e.g., instead of  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$ , consider  $\mathcal{D}(M)$ , SO(n), the Virasoro group, etc.) or changing the metric (e.g., instead of  $L^2$ , consider  $H^1$ ,  $\dot{H}^1$ ,  $H^{-1}$ , etc.). Some of the systems described in this framework are the *n*-dimensional top [144], the Camassa–Holm equation [130], the Euler- $\alpha$  mean motion model [105, 174], the Burgers equation and compressible fluids [119, 161], the Hunter– Saxton equation [135, 162], among others. See [8]. One can also accommodate systems such as compressible and quantum fluids, by the inclusion of an appropriate potential related to material properties of the system. See the recent survey [119]. **Remark 2.7** (Time analyticity of particle trajectories). Shnirelman proved [181] that  $\exp_e$  defined by (2.13) is a real analytic map provided that the fluid domain is an analytic manifold. As a corollary Lagrangian trajectories are analytic functions of time at fixed labels [136]. This fact was proved first by Serfati [170] and, for streamlines of stationary states, by Nadirashvili [156]. The difference between Eulerian and Lagrangian analyticity was highlighted by Constantin–Kukuvika–Vicol [41], and these results have subsequently been extended by Constantin–Vicol–Wu [44] to other systems. See also the discussion by Frisch and Zheligovsky [88]. It would be interesting to understand which Eulerian phase spaces have this property. For example, are particle trajectories real analytic for bounded vorticity solutions (the Yudovich phase space, see Theorem 2.12)?

**Remark 2.8** (Two-point fluid problem). The principle of least action suggests the following "infinite-dimensional Dirichlet principle": given two isotopic configurations  $\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_2 \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}$ , construct a perfect fluid flow connecting them by identifying the shortest path between them in the diffeomorphism group (in the  $L^2$  metric). From the above discussion, if such a path exists it is automatically a perfect fluid flow. This problem was first investigated by Shnirelman [175], where he proved that if  $d \ge 3$ , this variational problem does not have minimizers for some pairs of configurations  $\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_2$ . In d = 2, this is open even in the following relaxed form:

**Question 1** (Shnirelman [175]). Let  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a domain with smooth boundary. Does there exist a perfect fluid flow connecting any two isotopic states  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$ ?

See also [115]. In particular, it is not known whether the image of the space of incompressible vector fields in  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}$  defined by the  $L^2$  exponential map is the whole group  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}$ , i.e., that any such diffeomorphism could be realized as a time-1 value of some solution of the Euler-Lagrange equation. It is a question of accessibility of the entire configuration space by perfect fluid flows. If Question 1 is answered in the affirmative, it would represent a hydrodynamical analogue of the Hopf-Rinow theorem for the group of diffeomorphisms. The difficulty is that this group is not locally compact. However, Misiołek and Preston proved that the  $L^2$  exponential map is a covering space map on an open connected component  $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathcal{D}^s_\mu$  of the identity whose  $L^2$  diameter is infinite, cf. [150]. This is a consequence of the fact that exp<sub>id</sub> is a nonlinear Fredholm map of index zero, see [63, 180]. An affirmative resolution of Question 1 (conjectured by Shnirelman in [175]) would result from showing this connected component is the whole group. We remark finally that a different but related question is that of finding minimizers (shortest paths) connecting the states  $\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_2$ . The existence of conjugate and cut points along geodesics generated by simple steady solutions on  $M = \mathbb{T}^2$  having streamfunction  $\psi(x_1, x_2) = \sin(nx_1)\sin(mx_2)$  (Kolmogorov flows) [61, 149] indicate that the minimum may fail to be achieved at long times (see the numerical study [132]), as was conjectured in [176].

In view of the fact that classical minimizers of the two-point problem need not always exist [175], Brenier introduced *generalized flows*, which are a wider class of (stochastic)

objects over which the variation problem is always solvable [16]. Shnirelman used this idea to show that any sufficiently long geodesic in  $\mathcal{D}^s_{\mu}(M)$  will contain a local cut point if dim M = 3 (a point such that shorter paths can be chosen arbitrarily close to the given geodesic in the manifold topology).

#### 2.2. Cauchy well-posedness in phase space

To understand the appropriate phase space for the Eulerian (for the velocity field rather than the flowmap) dynamics (2.1)–(2.4), a useful quantity to introduce is the vorticity two-form  $\Omega := \frac{1}{2}(\nabla u - \nabla u^t)$ , which is the antisymmetric part of the velocity gradient tensor. Recall that the Lie derivative  $\pounds_v$  along a vector field v acting on a two-form a reads  $\pounds_v a = v \cdot \nabla a + a(\nabla v)^t + (\nabla v)a$ . In any dimension, perfect fluid motion (2.1)–(2.4) is equivalently defined by the property that vorticity two-form is transported:

$$\partial_t \Omega + \mathbf{f}_u \Omega = 0 \qquad \text{in } M,$$
 (2.14)

$$\Omega|_{t=0} = \Omega_0 \qquad \text{in} \quad M, \tag{2.15}$$

where  $u := u_{rot} + u_H$  where  $u_H$  is the harmonic part<sup>2</sup> of the velocity field and the nonharmonic part  $u_{rot}$  is recovered from  $\Omega$  by the Biot–Savart law  $K_M$ . More specifically,  $u_{rot} = K_M[\Omega]$  is defined as the unique solution of the following elliptic system having trivial harmonic component<sup>3</sup> (see, e.g., [128])

$$\Delta u = 2\nabla \cdot \Omega \qquad \text{in} \quad M, \tag{2.16}$$

$$u \cdot \hat{n} = 0$$
 on  $\partial M$ , (2.17)

$$\hat{\tau} \cdot (\partial_n u - 2\hat{n} \cdot \Omega) = \hat{\tau} \cdot \kappa \cdot u \quad \text{on } \partial M,$$
(2.18)

for all  $\{\hat{\tau}_i\}_{i=1}^{d-1}$  tangent vector fields and where  $\kappa_{ij} = \partial_i \hat{n}_j$  is the second fundamental form of the boundary. The solution to (2.16)–(2.18) defines the Biot–Savart law  $u = K_M[\Omega]$ . On the other hand, if  $\overline{M}$  is compact and  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathsf{H}}$  denotes the orthogonal projection of  $L^2$  onto the finite-dimensional space of harmonic vector fields on M tangent to the boundary  $\partial M$ ,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Recall the space of harmonic vector fields on a compact Riemannian manifold M is isomorphic to the first cohomology group of M. See, e.g., [191, Book 1, Chapter 5]. If M has trivial first cohomology (e.g., M is simply connected), then there are no non-trivial harmonic vector fields, the curl is injective and the vorticity formulation (2.14)–(2.15) with u recovered by Biot–Savart is equivalent to the velocity formulation. If the first cohomology is non-trivial (e.g.,  $M = \mathbb{T}^d$ ) then the harmonic part of the solution must be kept track of separately according to equation (2.19).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>One could instead define the Biot–Savart operator to have exactly the harmonic component consistent with the Euler equations. As discussed here, this can be accomplished by solving the coupled system of (2.19) and (2.14)–(2.18) in tandem. However, there can be simpler prescriptions. For example, suppose  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  is a bounded planar domain with connected components of the boundary denoted by  $\Gamma_0, \Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_N$  with  $\Gamma_0$  bordering the unbounded connected component of  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus M$ . Then the harmonic part of the velocity is fixed by demanding in addition to (2.16)–(2.18) that the circulations  $\oint_{\Gamma_i} u \cdot d\ell = \gamma_i$  be given. Euler preserves these circulations by Kelvin's theorem since connected components of the boundary are invariant under the Lagrangian flow. Thus  $\gamma_i := \oint_{\Gamma_i} u_0 \cdot d\ell$ , closing the system without the need for an additional evolution equation.

then an evolution equation for the harmonic part of the velocity  $u_{\rm H} = \mathbb{P}_{\rm H} u$  is found by projecting the Euler equation (2.1)–(2.4) yielding

$$\partial_t u_{\mathsf{H}} + \mathbb{P}_{\mathsf{H}}[\operatorname{div}(u_{\mathsf{rot}} + u_{\mathsf{H}}) \otimes (u_{\mathsf{rot}} + u_{\mathsf{H}})] = 0, \qquad (2.19)$$

where, in deriving (2.19), we used that gradient vector fields (the pressure forces) are orthogonal to harmonic vector fields which are tangent to the boundary. Equation (2.19) is a closed equation for the harmonic component  $u_{\rm H}$  given the vorticity  $\Omega$ . Thus, it can be evolved alongside the vorticity evolution equation (2.14)–(2.15) in order to recover the full Euler solution  $u := u_{\rm rot} + u_{\rm H}$ . As such, a solution to (2.14)–(2.19) generates a solution to (2.1)–(2.4) and vice versa.

**Remark 2.9** (Solutions with stationary vorticity). Note that an immediate consequence of this discussion is that the space of harmonic vector fields is invariant under the Euler evolution and the dynamics restricted to this subspace becomes finite-dimensional. In fact, every harmonic vector field is a stationary Euler solution as they are divergence free and satisfy  $u_{\rm H} \cdot \nabla u_{\rm H} = \nabla \frac{1}{2} |u_{\rm H}|^2$  which follows from their vorticity being trivial. This fact can also be used to eliminate the nonlinear term in  $u_{\rm H}$  from the equation (2.19). More generally, if the vorticity  $\Omega$  is time independent (and thus  $u_{\rm rot}$ ), then so is  $u_{\rm H}$ provided that either M has trivial first cohomology (by Hodge theory), the dimension of the space spanned by the harmonic vector fields tangent to the boundary is unity (by energy conservation), or M is a compact planar domain (by a structural cancellation). See [191, Book 3, Chapter 11, Section 1]. Outside of these settings, it would be interesting to study what kind of motion the projected dynamics (2.19) with steady vorticity can give in the space of harmonic vector fields.

We remark that, in the case  $M = \mathbb{T}^d$ , there are *d* independent harmonic vector fields  $\{h_i\}_{i=1}^d$  which an be identified as the direction fields  $h_i = e_i$ . Thus, the orthogonal projection  $\mathbb{P}_H$  is simply integration over the domain, i.e.,  $u_H = \mathbb{P}_H u := \sum_{i=1}^d (u, h_i)_{L^2} h_i =$  $\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} u \, dx$ . Since  $u_{\text{rot}}$ ,  $u_H$  are periodic, equation (2.19) shows that  $u_H(t) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} u_0 \, dx$  is constant in time. A similar remark holds on the periodic channel  $M = \mathbb{T}^{d-1} \times [0, 1]$ where the horizontal means are preserved. As such, the harmonic-free part (the dynamical component) can be solved using the Euler equation written in a moving reference frame, i.e., by Galilean transformation.

Hereon, we shall denote by  $S_t$  the vorticity solution map  $\Omega(t) = S_t(\Omega_0)$ . We now discuss the issue of local well-posedness of the Euler equation on a given function space X. We call X a good phase space for the Euler dynamics if given data in X, the equations admit unique solutions in  $\Omega_0 \in X$ , at least for short time, i.e., the solution operator  $S_t: X \ni \Omega_0 \mapsto \Omega(t) \in X$  is a well-defined injective map for all t sufficiently small. Generally speaking, this will be the case provided

- (a) X is an algebra,
- (b) trajectories  $\dot{\Phi}_t(x) = u(\Phi_t(x), t)$  are unique for all  $x \in M$  provided  $\nabla u \in X$ ,
- (c) X is compatible with the Biot–Savart law  $u = K_M[\Omega]$ , i.e.,  $\|\nabla u\|_X \le C \|\Omega\|_X$ .

Examples of such a phase space include  $X = C^{\alpha}$  for  $\alpha > 0$  with  $\alpha \notin \mathbb{N}$  and  $X = W^{s,p}(M)$  for s > d/p for p > 1. Generally, any space X that embeds in the space of continuous functions will satisfy (a). Particle trajectories are usually well defined at this level of regularity, e.g., (b) is satisfied. The Hölder spaces  $C^k$  or Sobolev spaces  $W^{k,p}$  with  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $p = 1, \infty$  are not good phase spaces for Euler since it is well known that the elliptic regularity estimate (c) can fail in those endpoint spaces and, as a result, the dynamics can be ill-posed [15, 76, 151].

We now recall the classical result on local well-posedness in Hölder spaces:

**Theorem 2.10** (Local well-posedness for  $d \ge 2$ ). Let  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded domain with smooth boundary  $\partial M$ . Let  $\alpha > 0$  and  $u_0 \in C^{1,\alpha}(M)$  be divergence-free and tangent to  $\partial M$ . For T > 0 sufficiently small, there exists a unique  $u \in C^{1,\alpha}((-T, T) \times M)$  solving (2.1)–(2.4) with vorticity  $\Omega \in C^{\alpha}((-T, T) \times M)$  If [0, T) is the maximal interval of existence, then

$$\int_0^T \|\Omega(t)\|_{L^\infty(M)} \,\mathrm{d}t = \infty. \tag{2.20}$$

Local existence is due to Wolibner [199], Hölder [103] and Ebin & Marsden [62]. The continuation criterion in terms of vorticity (2.20) was proved by Beale–Kato–Majda [11] (generalized to bounded domains and manifolds in [82, 191]). In two dimensions one can identify the vorticity  $\Omega$  with a scalar field  $\omega = \nabla^{\perp} \cdot u$  where  $\nabla^{\perp} = (-\partial_2, \partial_1)$  and in three dimensions with a vector field  $\omega = \nabla \times u$ . These are transported by u as a scalar field and vector field respectively

$$d = 2: \qquad \partial_t \omega + u \cdot \nabla \omega = 0, \tag{2.21}$$
  
$$d = 3: \qquad \partial_t \omega + u \cdot \nabla \omega = \omega \cdot \nabla u.$$

Note that, in lower regularity, there has been an explosion of work in recent years related to problems in turbulence. See the recent reviews [19,51].

This difference in character of the vorticity leads to extreme differences in behaviors of two- and three-dimensional fluids. In two dimensions, conservation of vorticity magnitudes results in an inverse cascade where large-scale velocity structures emerge over time through a process of vortex mergers [10, 131]. In three-dimensions, the vorticity magnitude is not invariant due to stretching by the (symmetric part of the) velocity gradient tensor. This results in direct energy cascade [129] and a fine-scale filamentary structure of the vorticity field where large values are spatiotemporally sparse but highly relevant dynamically. See Figure 2.3 for a visualization of time snapshots from direct numerical simulations.

In two dimensions, a consequence of the transport structure (2.21) is that the solution has the Lagrangian representation formula

$$\omega(t) = \omega_0 \circ \Phi_t^{-1} \tag{2.22}$$

where  $\dot{\Phi}_t = u(\Phi_t, t)$  is the Lagrangian flowmap labelled at  $\Phi_0 = \text{id.}$  A consequence of this fact together with Theorem 2.10 is the global well-posedness in 2D [97, 103, 199]:



**Figure 2.3.** Typical instances of vorticity in two-dimensions (left panel, visualized through its signed magnitude) and three-dimensions (right panel, thresholded at large values).

**Theorem 2.11** (Global well-posedness in 2D). Let  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded domain with smooth boundary  $\partial M$ . Let  $\alpha > 0$  and  $u_0 \in C^{1,\alpha}(M)$  be divergence-free and tangent to  $\partial M$ . Then there exists a unique  $u \in C^{1,\alpha}((-\infty, \infty) \times M)$  solving (2.1)–(2.4) with vorticity  $\omega \in C^{\alpha}((-\infty, \infty) \times M)$ . Moreover, there exists a constant c := c(M) so that the following bound holds for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$\frac{\|\omega(t)\|_{C^{\alpha}(M)}}{\|\omega_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}(M)}} \le \left(\frac{\|\omega_{0}\|_{C^{\alpha}(M)}}{\|\omega_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}(M)}}\right)^{\exp(c\|\omega_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}(M)}|t|/\alpha)}.$$
(2.23)

We remark that the time dependence in (2.23) is known to be sharp due to the work of Kiselev–Šverák, see Theorem 3.16 herein.

Thus, the 2D Euler equations (2.1)–(2.4) form an infinite-dimensional dynamical system  $S_t: C^{\alpha} \to C^{\alpha}$  for all time  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  on the space of  $C^{\alpha}$  vorticity fields. We are interested in the long-time behavior of this dynamical system. The formula (2.22) shows that the vorticity at any later time is just some area-preserving rearrangement of its initial conditions. As discussed in Section 2.1, any perfect fluid flow can be thought of as a path in the group of such transformations  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  (the configuration space of the flow). As such, the diffeomorphism could conceivably become very complex: filamenting, stretching, kneading and folding the initial vorticity isolines as time progresses. This action causes norms which measure regularity of the vorticity to grow over time. There are some limitations; the bound (2.23) shows that the orbit  $\omega(t) = S_t(\omega_0)$  may exit the phase space  $C^{\alpha}$  at infinite time at a rate at most double exponential. There is great interest in finding examples of such exits with various rates – each rate corresponds to some physical process of generation of small scales. We will discuss some examples in detail along with some speculations about generic behavior in Section 3.

The strongest known control uniform in time on the vorticity is in  $L^{\infty}$ . Using this fact, in the celebrated paper [112], Yudovich proved that the 2D Euler equations are globally well-posed on this space  $S_t: L^{\infty} \to L^{\infty}$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ :

**Theorem 2.12** (Global bounded vorticity solutions). Let  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded domain with smooth boundary  $\partial M$ . Let  $\omega_0 \in L^{\infty}(M)$ . There exists a unique weak Euler solution of class  $\omega \in L^{\infty}((-\infty, \infty) \times M)$  with the following properties

- (a)  $\omega(t)$  takes the form (2.22) for a unique Hölder continuous flow of homeomorphisms  $\Phi_t \in C^{\alpha(t)}(M)$  for C := C(M) and  $\alpha(t) := \exp(-C|t| \|\omega_0\|_{L^{\infty}})$ . Consequently,  $\|\omega(t)\|_{L^{\infty}(M)} = \|\omega_0\|_{L^{\infty}(M)}$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .
- (b)  $\omega \in C(\mathbb{R}; L^p(M)) \cap C_w(\mathbb{R}; L^\infty(M))$  for all  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , where  $C_w(\mathbb{R}; L^\infty(M))$  denotes the space of functions which are continuous in time with values in the weak-\* topology of  $L^\infty(M)$ .
- (c) The solution map  $S_t$  is continuous in the weak-\* topology of  $L^{\infty}(M)$ , i.e., if  $\omega_0^n \xrightarrow{*} \omega_0$  in  $L^{\infty}(M)$ , then  $S_t(\omega_0^n) \xrightarrow{*} S_t(\omega_0)$  in  $L^{\infty}(M)$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Property (a) that the flowmap is Hölder continuous follows from the fact that velocity fields with bounded vorticity enjoy Log-Lipschitz regularity.<sup>4</sup> Property (b) shows that the solution map  $S_t: L^{\infty} \to L^{\infty}$  is well defined for every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Regarding property (c), it is also known that the solution map is continuous in  $L^p(M)$  on bounded sets in  $L^{\infty}(M)$  [37]. As stated, property (c) (see [139, 158, 190]) gives continuity of the solution map in the weak-\* topology and it is particularly important in connection with long-time behavior. Specifically, let  $X_* = X_*(M)$  be the unit ball in the  $L^{\infty}$  phase space

$$X_* := \{ \omega \in L^{\infty}(M) : \|\omega\|_{L^{\infty}} \le 1 \}$$
(2.24)

endowed with the weak-\* topology.<sup>5</sup> In light of properties (a)–(c), Euler forms a dynamical system in the compact metric space  $X_*$ . By time reversibility of the dynamics and uniqueness,  $S_t(X_*) = X_*$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . By property (a), weak-\* limits of any  $\omega_0 \in X_*$ always exist along subsequences as  $t \to \infty$ . We define the  $\omega$ -limit set for any  $\omega_0 \in X_*$  by

$$\Omega_{+}(\omega_{0}) := \bigcap_{s \ge 0} \overline{\left\{ \overline{S_{t}(\omega_{0}), t \ge s} \right\}}^{*}.$$
(2.25)

This set represents the collection of all persistent "coarse-scale" (in that information can be "averaged out" in the weak-\* limits) behaviors of the Euler orbit emanating from  $\omega_0$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>For Yudovich solutions, the velocity is thus Osgood continuous and particle trajectories are unique. This is at the heart of why there is a good uniqueness theory for such solutions in two dimensions – the mathematics of which has strong parallels with the measurable Riemann mapping theorem. See the discourse of D. Sullivan [188].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>We recall that the standard way to metrize  $X_*$  which gives the weak-\* topology. Consider a countable dense set of integrable functions  $\{\varphi_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$  satisfying  $\|\varphi_j\|_{L^1(M)} \leq 1$ . Let  $p_j(\omega) := |\int_M \varphi_j \omega \, dx|$  and set  $dist(\omega_1, \omega_2) = \sum_j 2^{-j} \frac{p_j(\omega_1 - \omega_2)}{1 + p_j(\omega_1 - \omega_2)}$ .

In effect, the set (2.25) can be thought of as what a myopic observer without glasses would see (e.g., averaging fine-scale filaments together) when looking at the flow evolved for a long period of time. This set is compact and connected in  $X_*$ , which follows from the fact that  $X_*$  is equipped with the weak<sup>\*</sup> topology. We shall discuss further properties of this set, as well as conjectures concerning its composition in Section 3.4. See also the lecture notes of Šverák for a detailed discussion of these points [190].

We remark finally that Theorem 2.12 can be generalized to accommodate weakly divergent vorticities. This was proved slightly later by Yudovich himself [200] (independently established by Serfati [168]). For example, let Y = Y(M) be the space consisting of all functions  $f \in L^p(M)$  for  $2 \le p < \infty$  which are finite in the norm (see [46, 200] for generality):

$$\|f\|_{Y} := \sup_{p \ge 2} \frac{\|f\|_{L^{p}}}{\log(p)}.$$
(2.26)

The Euler equation defines a dynamical system  $S_t: Y \to Y$  for all times  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Note that for any  $\omega \in Y$ , the corresponding velocity field is Osgood continuous, giving uniqueness of Lagrangian trajectories. As a consequence, all  $L^p$  with  $1 \le p < \infty$  norms are conserved for solutions in Y. This makes the space Y endowed the topology defined by the norm (2.26) another good (albeit slightly larger) phase space on which to study the longtime properties of 2D fluid motion.

### 3. 2D fluids: A tale of isolation, wandering, and long-time strife

In this section, we discuss properties of two-dimensional perfect fluids exclusively. Two dimensions come with the simplifying feature that any divergence-free velocity field  $u \in H^1(M) \cap C(\overline{M})$  which is tangent to  $\partial M$  can be represented as a perpendicular gradient of a scalar streamfunction which is constant on connected components of the boundary. That is, there is a streamfunction  $\psi: M \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\psi|_{\partial M} = (\text{const.})$  and  $u = \nabla^{\perp} \psi$ . Since vorticity is a scalar, (2.14)–(2.15) say

$$\partial_t \omega + u \cdot \nabla \omega = 0 \qquad \text{in } M,$$
$$u = K_M[\omega] \qquad \text{in } M,$$
$$\omega|_{t=0} = \omega_0 \qquad \text{in } M.$$

Here, if M is simply connected then  $K_M = \nabla^{\perp} \Delta^{-1}$  is the perpendicular gradient  $\nabla^{\perp} = (-\partial_2, \partial_1)$  of the Green function for the Dirichlet Laplacian on M. If the domain is multiply connected, circulations along the inner boundaries (which are preserved in time by the Euler motion by the circulation theorem) must be also given to recover the harmonic component (see footnote 3). This velocity is automatically divergence-free and tangent to the boundary  $u \cdot \hat{n}|_{\partial M} = 0$ .

#### 3.1. Isolation: Stationary states, symmetry and stability

The simplest class of permanent fluid motions are those which have stationary (time independent) velocity fields. The structure of such solutions (their stability, symmetry properties, stagnation sets, etc.) sheds light on large-scale features which can emerge and persist over time in dynamical solutions. In terms of the streamfunction  $\psi: M \to \mathbb{R}$ , the condition for being a stationary Euler solution is the statement that the gradients of the streamfunction and the vorticity are collinear, i.e.,  $\nabla \psi \parallel \nabla \omega$ . There are a plethora of stationary solutions of the two-dimensional Euler equation. For example, every vector field on  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, 1]$  or  $\mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{R}$  taking the form of a shear flow

$$u(x_1, x_2) = \begin{pmatrix} U(x_2) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

for some  $U \in C^1$  is a stationary solution of the Euler equation with vorticity  $\omega = -U'(x_2)$ and constant pressure. Similarly, every circular flow on the disk

$$u(x_1, x_2) = V(|x|) \frac{x^{\perp}}{|x|}$$

with r = |x| and  $V \in C^1$  is stationary and has vorticity  $\omega(r) = \frac{1}{r} \partial_r (rV(r))$  and pressure  $p(r) = -\int^r \frac{V(\rho)^2}{\rho} d\rho$ . One can also generate steady solutions on general Riemannian manifolds with or without smooth boundary (simply connected for simplicity) by specifying a Lipschitz function  $F: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  and solving the elliptic problem

$$\Delta \psi = F(\psi) \quad \text{in} \quad M, \tag{3.1}$$

$$\psi = 0 \qquad \text{on} \quad \partial M, \tag{3.2}$$

where  $\Delta$  is the Laplace–Beltrami operator of the Riemannian metric g on M. Then  $u = \nabla^{\perp} \psi$  defines a stationary solution of the Euler equations with vorticity  $\omega = F(\psi)$  and pressure  $p = -\frac{1}{2} |\nabla \psi|^2 + G(\psi)$  where G is an antiderivative of F. Examples of stationary solutions satisfying (3.1)–(3.2) include cellular flows<sup>6</sup> (also known as Kolmogorov flows) with streamfunction

$$\psi_{\mathsf{c}}(x) = \sin(x_1)\sin(x_2) \tag{3.3}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>We remark in passing that it is an intriguing open issue to establish nonlinear instability of the steady state (3.3) in  $L^2$  of vorticity (or, in fact, velocity). This would represent a large-scale instability, unlike the small-scale instability/singularity formation which is the subject of Section 3.3 and in contrast to the stability Theorem 3.5 below. Being on the second shell and possessing a hyperbolic stagnation point, this steady state is susceptible to generation of larger-scale motions which may destabilize the structure [87]. Established methods for proving instability [84, 85, 146] are difficult to apply to this example due to its fully two-dimensional structure. We remark that for higher eigenfunctions  $\psi = \sin(x_1) \sin(mx_2)$  in the highly oscillatory regime with  $m \gg 1$ , unstable eigenfunctions can be constructed using averaging methods together with the Meshalkin–Sinai continued fraction technique [86]. A compelling piece of evidence for nonlinear instability of (3.3) is that, from the work of Shvydkoy and Latushkin [183], we know that the spectrum of the linearized Euler in  $H^1$  and  $H^{-1}$  is the full band  $|\Re ez| \leq 1$  and so it is very unstable linearly. It is unknown whether or not there is an embedded eigenvalue; if so, the instability would follow from the work of Lin [137].

which are eigenfunctions of the Laplacian, i.e.,  $\Delta \psi_c = -2\psi_c$ . There are also the Kelvin–Stuart cat's-eye vortices defined by the streamfunction

$$\psi_{\mathsf{KS}}(x) = -\log\left(\gamma \cosh x_1 + \sqrt{\gamma^2 - 1} \cos x_2\right), \qquad \gamma \ge 1. \tag{3.4}$$

which solve equation  $\Delta \psi_{\text{KS}} = -e^{2\psi_{\text{KS}}}$  (these flows make an interesting connection with conformal geometry<sup>7</sup>).

Note that (3.1)–(3.2) is not generally a "good" equation for  $\psi$  in that it may have no, one, or many solutions depending on F. For instance, taking affine  $F(\psi) = -\lambda \psi$ , we obtain the eigenvalue problem for the Laplacian which exhibits all those phenomena depending on the proportionality constant. Note also that not every Euler solution need to have a globally defined relationship between vorticity and the streamfunction. Indeed there are shear flows (perturbations of Kolmogorov flow) for which this is not so: e.g., defined on  $M = [0, 2\pi]^2$  for each  $\varepsilon > 0$  by

$$\psi^{\varepsilon}(x_1, x_2) = \sin(x_2) + \varepsilon \sin(2x_2).$$

In this case,  $\psi^{\varepsilon}$  has a line of critical points. The recent work [94] gives examples of this phenomenon for non-radial vortex patches with compactly supported velocity field on the plane. If  $\psi$  has no critical points (on a multiply connected domain) or isolated critical points, there always will exist a single global map *F*.

There is a privileged class of such stationary solutions (3.1)–(3.2) that are "stable." Specifically, if  $F: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is Lipschitz, single valued and either

$$-\lambda_1(M) < F'(\psi) < 0 \quad \text{or} \quad 0 < F'(\psi) < \infty \tag{3.5}$$

where  $\lambda_1 > 0$  is the smallest eigenvalue of  $-\Delta$  in M. Such steady states  $\omega$  are called *Arnold stable*. They are nonlinearly (Lyapunov) stable in the  $L^2(M)$  norm (see [8] and Theorem 3.5 below). The two ranges are referred to as type I and type II Arnold stability conditions. They ensure that the steady state is either a minimum or a maximum of the energy (the action) on the orbit of a vorticity distribution in the group of volume-preserving diffeomorphisms [8]. The degenerate case of  $F(\psi) = (\text{const.})$  corresponds to a steady state  $\omega$  which is nonlinearly stable in  $L^{\infty}(M)$ . All these steady states have the property that

(H0) the operator

$$\mathcal{L}_{\psi} := \Delta - F'(\psi)$$

has a trivial kernel in  $H_0^1(M)$ .

The following result of [38] shows that all such steady states are severely constrained by the symmetries of the vessel M:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Curvature, conformal mapping, and 2D stationary fluid flows (M. Taylor): https://mtaylor.web.unc. edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/16915/2018/04/stream.pdf.

**Theorem 3.1** (Symmetry of stable equilibria [38]). Let (M, g) be a compact twodimensional Riemannian manifold with smooth boundary  $\partial M$ . Suppose that there exists a Killing field  $\xi$  for g tangent to  $\partial M$ . Let  $\psi \in C^3(M)$  be a steady state streamfunction with vorticity  $\omega = F(\psi)$  such that  $\mathcal{L}_{\psi}$  satisfies (**H0**). Then  $\mathfrak{L}_{\xi}\psi = 0$  where  $\mathfrak{L}_{\xi}$  is the Lie derivative along  $\xi$ .

Theorem 3.1 is essentially the fact that in a Hamiltonian system, a critical point of the Hamiltonian is invariant under the symmetries of the Hamiltonian unless there is some non-trivial central manifold. Its proof is elementary and follows from applying  $\pounds_{\xi}$  to the equation (3.1), using the fact that the Lie derivative commutes with the Laplace–Beltrami operator, and noting that  $\pounds_{\xi}$  is a tangential derivative along the boundary. A sufficient condition to ensure that  $\pounds_{\psi}$  has a trivial kernel is  $F'(\psi) > -\lambda_1$  where  $\lambda_1$  is the first eigenvalue of  $-\Delta_g$  on M – all of the above stability conditions ensure this. Theorem 3.1 immediately implies that on the channel with  $\xi = e_{\alpha}$  all Arnold stable states are shears  $u = v(x_2)e_{x_1}$ , on the disk (or annulus) with  $\xi = e_{\theta}$  all Arnold stable states are circular  $u = v(r)e_{\theta}$  and on the hemisphere, all Arnold stable stationary solutions are zonal (functions of latitude). It also implies that whenever there are two transversal Killing fields (as on the sphere or the torus), there are no non-trivial flows satisfying the Arnold stability conditions. We note that rotation on the sphere ( $\beta$ -plane equations on the torus) introduces an anisotropy in the system and non-trivial Arnold stable solutions can again exist [34, 197].

Since  $F'(\psi) > -\lambda_1$  is an open condition, Theorem 3.1 shows that such stable steady states on domains with symmetry are *isolated* in  $C^1$  of vorticity from asymmetric equilibria. Here isolated takes the following precise meaning

**Definition 3.2** (Isolation from *G* in *X*). Given a Banach space *X*, we say that an element  $u \in X$  is *isolated* from  $G \subset X$  if  $dist_X(u, G) > \varepsilon$  for some  $\varepsilon > 0$ .

Thus, Theorem 3.1 reveals a strong form of rigidity of stable steady states and, as such, indirectly sheds light on the everyday observable phenomena such as axi-symmetrization of tea or coffee when stirred, and formation of large stable vortices (e.g., hurricanes, the great red spot of Jupiter) in planetary atmospheres.

It is not only the dynamically stable steady states which assume the symmetries of their vessels. In some cases, all stationary solutions having certain structural properties to do with their stagnation sets must also "fit" the geometry. In particular,

Theorem 3.3 (Hamel and Nadirashvili [98, 99]). The following hold:

- Let  $M = \mathbb{T} \times [0, 1]$  be the periodic channel. Let  $u \in C^2(\overline{M})$  be any stationary solution of the Euler equations satisfying  $\inf_{\Omega} |u| > 0$ . Then u is a shear flow  $u = v(x_2)e_{x_1}$ with  $v \in C^2$  having a strict sign.
- Let  $M = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |x| \in (1/2, 1)\}$  be the annulus. Let  $u \in C^2(\overline{M})$  be any stationary solution of the Euler equations satisfying  $\inf_{\Omega} |u| > 0$ . Then u is a circular flow  $u = v(r)e_{\theta}$  with  $v \in C^2$  having a strict sign.

• Let  $M = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |x| < 1\}$  be the disk. Let  $u \in C^2(\overline{M} \setminus \{0\})$  be any stationary solution of the Euler equations satisfying u > 0 on  $\overline{M} \setminus \{0\}$ . Then u is a circular flow  $u = v(r)e_{\theta}$  with  $v \in C^2$  having a strict sign.

In Theorem 3.3, we have highlighted just a couple results of [98,99] – termed Liouville theorems – which show symmetry of solutions having a certain structure. We remark that it is an interesting open issue (conjectured in [99]) whether on the disk domain it is enough to say  $u \in C^2(\overline{M} \setminus \{z\})$  for some interior point  $z \in M$  with u > 0 on  $\overline{M} \setminus \{z\}$  to conclude that z must be the origin and u must be circular.

In a similar spirit to Theorem 3.3, there is the recent work [96] which establishes radial symmetry for all compactly supported single signed vorticity distributions on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , as well as for more singular vortex sheet configurations [95]. Free boundary fluid bodies also exhibit strong forms of rigidity [39, 99].

Note that the flows of Theorem 3.3 are *not* isolated from other stationary solutions, since one can find nearby shear/radial flows in any given  $C^1$  neighborhood. However, this theorem shows that stationary solutions without stagnation points *are* isolated from any non-shear stationary solution of the equations in  $C^1$  (e.g., from cellular flow (3.3) and cat's-eyes (3.4)). It is important to emphasize that without the assumption of no stagnation points, shear flows are no longer isolated and that these statements depend strongly on topology. For instance, Lin and Zeng [138] showed that Couette flow  $u(x) = (x_2, 0)$  is isolated from non-shears in the  $H^s$ , s > 3/2 topology while there exist non-shear cat's-eye vortices arbitrarily close in the s < 3/2 topologies. Coti Zelati–Elgindi–Widmayer [47] showed that Kolmogorov flow  $u_K(x) = (\sin(x_2), 0)$  is not isolated from non-shear steady states even in the analytic topology, showing an extreme example of the effect of stagnation. However, the work of [47] also showed that all (Sobolev  $H^s$ , s > 5) neighboring solutions to Poiseuille flow  $u_0(x) = (|x_2|^2, 0)$  are shear flows.

One can ask about the "flexibility" of steady states more systematically. For example, say one wants to find nearby steady states corresponding to a slight change in the vorticity, a wrinkling of the domains (slight changes of the background metric), or a wiggling in the boundary of the vessel (see Figure 3.1).



**Figure 3.1.** Deformation of periodic channel  $M_0$  and streamfunction  $\psi_0$  by  $\gamma$ .

There have been a number of results recently on the flexibility of stationary solutions. Here we discuss the implications for a large class of stable steady states. Specifically, let  $M_0 \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $\psi_0: M_0 \to \mathbb{R}$  be any streamfunction satisfying:

(H1) The vorticity  $\omega_0 = \Delta \psi_0 = F_0(\psi_0)$  satisfies  $F'_0(\psi_0) > -\lambda_1(M_0)$ .

(H2) There exists  $c_{\psi_0} > 0$  such that  $\forall c \in \text{image}(\psi_0)$  one has  $\mu(c) \leq 1/c_{\psi_0}$  where

$$\mu(c) := \oint_{\{\psi_0 = c\}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\ell}{|\nabla\psi_0|}.\tag{3.6}$$

The purpose of hypothesis (H1) is to ensure something slightly stronger than (H0), namely that the operator  $\mathcal{L}_{\psi}$  be positive definite. Hypothesis (H1) is guaranteed for all known stable states (e.g., (3.5) and constant vorticity). Hypothesis (H2) ensures that the period of revolution of fluid parcels along streamlines (the travel time) is bounded. This condition is satisfied for any base flow without stagnation points on multiply connected domains. A sufficient condition on simply connected domains to ensure it holds is that there is a unique critical point where the vorticity does not vanish  $\omega_0 \neq 0$ . Such solutions are flexible:

**Theorem 3.4** (Structural stability of stable states [38]). Let  $\alpha > 0$  and  $k \ge 3$ . Let  $(M_0, g_0)$  be a compact two-dimensional Riemannian submanifold of  $\mathbb{R}^2$  with  $C^{k,\alpha}$  boundary. Suppose  $\psi_0 \in C^{k,\alpha}(M_0)$  satisfies (H1)–(H2) on  $(M_0, g_0)$  with vorticity profile  $F_0 \in C^{k-2,\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$ . Then there are constants  $\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2, \varepsilon_3$  depending only on  $M_0, F_0, g_0$  and  $\|\psi_0\|_{C^{k,\alpha}}$  such that if (M, g) is a compact Riemannian manifold and  $\rho: M_0 \to \mathbb{R}$  with  $\int_{D_0} \rho \operatorname{dvol}_{g_0} = \operatorname{Vol}_g(D)$  and  $g: M_0 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  satisfy

$$\|\partial M - \partial M_0\|_{C^{k,\alpha}} \le \varepsilon_1, \quad \|\rho - 1\|_{C^{k,\alpha}(M_0)} \le \varepsilon_2, \quad \|g - g_0\|_{C^{k,\alpha}(M_0)} \le \varepsilon_3,$$

then there is a diffeomorphism  $\gamma: M_0 \to M$  with Jacobian det $(\nabla \gamma) = \rho$ , and a function  $F: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  close in  $C^{k-2,\alpha}$  to  $F_0$  so that  $\psi = \psi_0 \circ \gamma^{-1} \in C^{k,\alpha}(M)$  and  $\psi$  satisfies (3.1)–(3.2) on (M, g). Thus,  $u = \nabla^{\perp} \psi$  is an Euler solution on (M, g) satisfying (H1)–(H2) nearby  $u_0$  whose vorticity is  $\omega = F(\psi)$ .

Theorem 3.4 generates solutions with the same streamline topologies of the base state since the new streamfunction  $\psi$  is on the orbit of the base  $\psi_0$  in the group of areapreserving diffeomorphisms.<sup>8</sup> This result is built on the previous works of [29, 198]. Wirosoetisno and Vanneste [198] proved that shear flows without stagnation points on the channel can be deformed to domains with wiggled boundaries. This analysis can be extended also to circular flows on annuli or with single critical points on the disk, showing that all the steady states of Theorem 3.3 are flexible to deformation of the fluid vessel. Choffrut and Šverák [29] gave a full characterization of the steady states nearby certain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>As we will describe in Section 3.3, this fact is useful for constructing isochronal steady solutions (having time-periodic flowmap) on domain nearby disks/ellipses.

ones satisfying a version of (H1) on annular domains by showing that they are in oneto-one correspondence with their distribution functions, i.e., for all  $\omega_0$  sufficiently close to  $\omega$ , there exists a unique stationary solution on the orbit  $\mathcal{O}_{\omega_0} := \{\omega_0 \circ \varphi : \varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)\}$ in the group of area-preserving diffeomorphisms. That stationary states come in such rich families is a truly infinite-dimensional feature of the Euler equations.

We remark in passing that, in the opposite direction, Ginzburg and Khesin [92, 93] show that if M is a simply connected planar domain and  $\omega_0$  is Morse, positive and has both a local maximum and minimum in the interior, then  $\mathcal{O}_{\omega_0}$  contains no smooth Euler steady state. Izosimov and Khesin [109] later gave necessary conditions on the vorticity  $\omega_0$  to have a smooth steady Euler solution on  $\mathcal{O}_{\omega_0}$  for any metric, as well as a sufficient condition for the existence of a steady solution for some metric.

It is important to note that hypothesis (H0) or (H1) are not strictly needed for the conclusions of Theorem 3.4 to hold if the kernel of  $\mathcal{L}_{\psi}$  can be well understood. This is demonstrated by the work of Coti Zelati–Elgindi–Widmayer [47] for Kolmogorov flow  $u_{\mathsf{K}}(x_1, x_2) = (\sin(x_2), 0)$ . These shear flows are eigenfunctions of the Laplacian having vorticity  $F_0(\psi_{\mathsf{K}}) = -\psi_{\mathsf{K}}$ . The operator  $\mathcal{L}_{\psi_{\mathsf{K}}} := \Delta - F'_0(\psi_{\mathsf{K}})$  has a non-trivial kernel Ker $(\mathcal{L}_{\psi_{\mathsf{K}}}) = \text{span}\{\sin(x_1), \cos(x_1), \sin(x_2), \cos(x_2)\}$ . Nevertheless, nearby non-shear solutions can be found by a Lyapunov–Schmidt scheme in which, to deal with this degeneracy, extra degrees of freedom from the kernel are introduced within the construction.

All of the above results point to Euler equilibria being non-isolated from one another.

**Problem 1.** Show that there is no steady 2D Euler solution  $\omega \in C^1$  that is isolated in  $C^1$  from other stationary solutions (modulo symmetries).

If isolated steady states did exist, then the ray generated by scaling would be a candidate attractor for the Eulerian dynamics either forward or backward in time.

We now begin our discussion of dynamics nearby steady states. We first recall the famous theorem of Arnold showing that certain large-scale structures (which include monotone shear flows on the channel and radial vortices with decreasing vorticity on the disk or plane) do persist for all time under evolution. It reads:

**Theorem 3.5** (Arnold [4–6,8]). Let  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a simply connected domain with smooth boundary. Let  $u_* := \nabla^{\perp} \psi_*$  be a steady solution of Euler with the property that  $\omega_* := \nabla^{\perp} \cdot u_* = F(\psi_*)$ . If *F* is single valued and

$$-\lambda_1(M) < F'(\psi) < 0 \quad or \quad 0 < F'(\psi) < \infty \tag{3.7}$$

where  $\lambda_1 > 0$  is the smallest eigenvalue of  $-\Delta$  in M, then  $\omega$  is nonlinearly stable in the  $L^2(M)$  norm. That is, for any  $\delta > 0$ , there is an  $\varepsilon := \varepsilon(\delta)$  such that for all  $\omega_0 \in L^{\infty}(M)$  satisfying  $\|\omega_0 - \omega_*\|_{L^2} < \varepsilon$  and with equal circulations at the boundary of  $\Omega$  to v, then  $\|S_t(\omega_0) - \omega_*\|_{L^2} \le \delta$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

The two ranges in (3.7) are referred to as type I and type II. The result holds also for multiply connected domains if we restrict to perturbations which conserve the circulation

along the boundaries. See the recent work of Gallay and Šverák for a detailed discussion of this theory for radial vortices [89]. We note also that similar results can be established for other nonlinear fluid equations [104].

We remark that, since Arnold stable solutions come in infinite-dimensional families according to Theorem 3.4 and the results of [29], the asymptotic behavior of the long-time limits can be extremely difficult to determine. Some results and conjectures in this direction are deferred to Section 3.4.

*Proof.* For a suitable  $H: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  to be chosen, we introduce the functional

$$A[\omega] = \frac{1}{2} \int_M |u|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_M H[\omega] \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

We want  $A[\omega]$  to be locally convex/concave and coercive with respect to the  $L^2$  norms of the velocity and vorticity in a neighborhood of the critical point. Recall, coercive with respect to a norm means that control on the energy functional controls the norm. Since Fis strictly decreasing for type I flows and increasing for type II flows, it is invertible and we can H such that  $H'[\omega] = F^{-1}(M)$  and

$$H''[\omega] = 1/F'(F^{-1}(M)).$$

It follows that H is strictly concave if the type I condition holds and strictly convex if the type II condition holds.

Note that A is invariant under the Euler flow (energy and enstrophy are conserved). For  $\omega_0 \in L^{\infty}(M)$ , denote  $\omega(t) = S_t(\omega_0)$  and  $u(t) = K_M[\omega(t)]$ . Then

$$A[\omega_0] - A[\omega_*] = A[S_t(\omega_0)] - A[\omega_*].$$

We next write

$$\begin{split} A[S_t(\omega_0)] - A[\omega_*] &= \frac{1}{2} \int_M (|u(t)|^2 - |u_*|^2) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_M (H[\omega(t)] - H[\omega_*]) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_M (|u(t)|^2 - |u_*|^2) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \int_M (H[\omega(t)] - H[\omega_*] - H'[\omega_*](\omega - \omega_*)) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \int_M H'[\omega_*](\omega - \omega_*) \, \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

Using the fact that  $H'[\omega_*] = F^{-1}(\omega_*) = \psi_*$ , and that  $u_*^{\perp} = -\nabla \psi_*$ , we have

$$\int_{\Omega} H'[\omega_*](\omega - \omega_*) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_M \psi_* \nabla^{\perp} \cdot (u - u_*) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_M \left( |u_*|^2 - u_* \cdot u \right) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

since  $\psi_*|_{\partial M} = 0$ . Thus we obtain

$$A[\omega_0] - A[\omega_*] = \frac{1}{2} \int_M |u(t) - u_*|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_M \left( H[\omega(t)] - H[\omega_*] - H'[\omega_*](\omega - \omega_*) \right) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

By concavity/convexity of H, we have the following bounds

type I: 
$$-\frac{c}{2}(\omega-\omega_*)^2 \ge H[\omega] - H[\omega_*] - H'[\omega_*](\omega-\omega_*) \ge -\frac{C}{2}(\omega-\omega_*)^2,$$
  
type II: 
$$\frac{C}{2}(\omega-\omega_*)^2 \ge H[\omega] - H[\omega_*] - H'[\omega_*](\omega-\omega_*) \ge \frac{c}{2}(\omega-\omega_*)^2,$$

for appropriate constants  $0 < c < C < \infty$ . Recalling Poincaré's inequality,

$$\lambda_1 \int_M |u(t) - u_*|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \le \int_M |\omega(t) - \omega_*|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

we deduce that

type I: 
$$A[\omega_*] - A[\omega_0] \ge \frac{C - 1/\lambda_1}{2} \int_M |\omega(t) - \omega_*|^2 dx$$
  
type II: 
$$A[\omega_0] - A[\omega_*] \ge \frac{c}{2} \int_M |\omega(t) - \omega_*|^2 dx.$$

For type I steady states,  $C > 1/\lambda_1$  giving coercive control. Thus the kinetic energy and the enstrophy of the perturbation are uniformly bounded by data with

$$|A[\omega_0] - A[\omega_*]| \lesssim \int_M |\omega_0 - \omega_*|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

thereby completing the proof.

A consequence of this result together with interpolation is that  $\omega$  is Lyapunov stable in the same sense in  $L^p(M)$  for  $p \in [2, \infty)$ . However, the dynamics of the Euler equation in the spaces  $L^p(M)$  is not understood for  $p < \infty$ . Global existence of solutions with initial data  $\omega_0 \in L^2(M)$  is known [55, 112] but not uniqueness. In fact, Euler is known to possess multiple weak solutions emanating from  $\omega_0 \in L^p$  with  $p < \infty$ , at least in the presence of an external force (see Vishik [194]). As such, Arnold's stability theorem is an "a priori estimate" rather than a true dynamical stability [5]. In view of this, it is of interest to understand the stability properties of stationary solutions in spaces on which Euler is a well-defined dynamical system. This question was asked in the context of the space  $L^\infty$  by Yudovich [202, Question 6a] of Arnold stable solutions. Unfortunately,  $L^2$ stable Euler states are not, in general, stable in the  $L^\infty$  topology (see Remark 3.8 below).

Here we give an example of a Banach space, X, on which Euler is a dynamical system and Arnold stable solutions (in fact, any  $L^2$  stable solutions) are Lyapunov stable in the Xtopology. Specifically, let X = X(M) be the space consisting of all functions  $f \in L^p(M)$ for  $2 \le p < \infty$  which are finite in the norm:

$$\|f\|_{X} = \sum_{p=2}^{\infty} \frac{\|f\|_{L^{p}}}{p(\log(p))^{2}}.$$
(3.8)

Observe that  $||f||_X \leq ||f||_{L^{\infty}}$  whenever the right-hand side is bounded. It is also not difficult to check that this is an existence and uniqueness class for the 2D Euler equation.

Indeed (see Lemma 3.7 below),  $||f||_Y \leq ||f||_X$  where *Y* is the Yudovich space defined by (2.26) in which Euler is globally well-posed [200]. Since all  $L^p$  with  $1 \leq p < \infty$  norms of vorticity are conserved for solutions in *Y*, one has  $||\omega_0||_X = ||\omega(t)||_X$  and  $\omega(t) \in X$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

We show that if  $\omega_* \in X$  is the vorticity of a steady Euler solution which is stable in  $L^2$  (e.g., satisfies Arnold's conditions (3.5)), then it is stable in X:

**Theorem 3.6.** Let  $\omega_* \in X$  be a stationary state of the 2D Euler equation that is Lyapunov stable in  $L^2(M)$ . Then,  $\omega_*$  is Lyapunov stable in X.

*Proof.* Fix  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ . Since  $\omega_* \in X$ , there exists  $N_{\varepsilon} > 1$  so that

$$\sum_{p=N_{\varepsilon}}^{\infty} \frac{\|\omega_*\|_{L^p}}{p(\log(p))^2} < \frac{\varepsilon}{4}$$

Thus, if  $\omega_0 \in B_{\varepsilon/4}(\omega_*)$  in the X topology and  $\omega(t) := S_t(\omega_0)$ , we have

$$\sum_{p=N_{\varepsilon}}^{\infty} \frac{\|\omega(t)\|_{L^{p}}}{p(\log(p))^{2}} < \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \quad \text{for all} \quad t \ge 0,$$

by conservation of the  $L^p$  norms. Since  $\omega_*$  is stable in  $L^2$ , for each  $\kappa > 0$ , there exists  $\delta_{\kappa} > 0$  so that  $\|\omega_* - \omega_0\|_X < \delta_{\kappa}$  implies

$$\|\omega_* - \omega(t)\|_{L^2} < \kappa \qquad \text{for all} \quad t \ge 0.$$

This follows since the X norm controls the  $L^2$  norm. Now, by interpolation, if  $2 \le p \le N_{\varepsilon} - 1$  we have

$$\begin{split} \left\|\omega_{*}-\omega(t)\right\|_{L^{p}} &\leq \left\|\omega_{*}-\omega(t)\right\|_{L^{2}}^{\frac{N_{\varepsilon}-2}{N_{\varepsilon}-2}} \left\|\omega_{*}-\omega(t)\right\|_{L^{N_{\varepsilon}}}^{\frac{p-2}{N_{\varepsilon}-2}} \\ &< \kappa^{\frac{1}{N_{\varepsilon}-2}} \max\left\{\left\|\omega_{*}-\omega(t)\right\|_{L^{N_{\varepsilon}}}, 1\right\} \\ &\leq \kappa^{\frac{1}{N_{\varepsilon}-2}} N_{\varepsilon} (\log(N_{\varepsilon}))^{2}. \end{split}$$

Thus, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\|\omega_{*}-\omega(t)\right\|_{X} &\leq \sum_{p=1}^{N_{\varepsilon}-1} \frac{\|\omega_{*}-\omega(t)\|_{L^{p}}}{p(\log(p))^{2}} + \sum_{p=N_{\varepsilon}}^{\infty} \frac{\|\omega_{*}\|_{L^{p}} + \|\omega(t)\|_{L^{p}}}{p(\log(p))^{2}} \\ &< \kappa^{\frac{1}{N_{\varepsilon}-2}} (N_{\varepsilon})^{2} (\log(N_{\varepsilon}))^{2} + \frac{3\varepsilon}{4}. \end{split}$$

Choosing  $\kappa = (\varepsilon/4N_{\varepsilon}^2 \log(N_{\varepsilon})^2)^{N_{\varepsilon}-2}$ , we find  $\|\omega_* - \omega(t)\|_X < \varepsilon$  for all  $t \ge 0$ .

**Lemma 3.7.** We have the following inclusions:  $L^{\infty} \subset X \subset Y$ .

*Proof.* The first inclusion  $L^{\infty} \subset X$  is obvious. To see that  $X \subset Y$ , note that for any  $f \in X$  there exists a subsequence  $\{p_i\}_{i \in N}$  with  $p_i \to \infty$  such that

$$\|f\|_{L^{p_i}} \leq C \log(p_i)$$

for some constant C > 0. We aim to show that  $||f||_{L^p} \le C' \log(p)$  on the whole sequence for a possibly different constant C' > 0. Indeed, fix any  $q \in [p_i, p_{i+1}]$ . By interpolation, we have

$$\|f\|_{L^q} \le \|f\|_{L^1}^{\frac{p_{i+1}-q}{p_{i+1}-1}} \|f\|_{L^{p_{i+1}-1}}^{\frac{q-1}{p_{i+1}-1}}.$$

Now note that for all *m* sufficiently large we have

$$\log(n)^{\frac{m-1}{n-1}} \le \log(m)$$
 for all  $n \ge m$ .

Thus, for all *i* sufficiently large, we have for all  $q \in [p_i, p_{i+1}]$  that

$$\|f\|_{L^{q}} \leq \|f\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{p_{i+1}-q}{p_{i+1}-1}} C^{\frac{q-1}{p_{i+1}-1}} \ln(q) \leq \max\{\|f\|_{L^{1}}, 1, C\} \ln(q).$$

This proves that  $f \in Y$ .

We remark that stability trivially holds for the phase space  $X_*$  given by (2.24) endowed with the  $L^2$  topology. However, the space X in Theorem 3.6 reflects a stronger topology for which all  $L^2$  stable steady states are Lyapunov stable and for which particle trajectories are controlled (since  $\omega \in X$  implies u is Osgood).

**Remark 3.8** (Nonlinear stability in  $L^{\infty}$ ). There exist particular stationary solutions which possess stronger stability properties. For example, in a simply connected domain, every flow with constant vorticity (Couette flow on the periodic channel) is nonlinearly stable in  $L^{\infty}$  since there is no "stretching" of a vortical perturbation. In view of this fact, one may ask whether or not stability in  $L^2$  can be promoted to stability in  $L^{\infty}$  in general [155,202]. This is not the case. For example, consider the Rankine vortex, which is the stationary solution  $\omega_* = \mathbf{1}_{B_1(0)}$ . The vortex patch is known to be nonlinearly stable in  $L^2$  for a certain class of perturbations [195, Section 7]. However, it is not stable in  $L^{\infty}$ . To see this, consider an initial condition of two patches, the Rankine vortex and a small patch of intensity  $\varepsilon$  outside. The presence of the second patch immediately shifts the Rankine vortex, resulting in an O(1) change in  $L^{\infty}$ . On the other hand, this example reflects a kind of ill-posedness (in the sense of Hadamard, a lack of continuity of the solution operator  $S_t: L^{\infty} \to L^{\infty}$ ) for the Cauchy problem in  $L^{\infty}$ . We note that if  $\omega_*$  is continuous, then  $S_t: L^{\infty} \to L^{\infty}$  is continuous at  $\omega_*$ . A natural question is:

**Question 2** (Yudovich [202]). Does there exist a continuous  $L^2$  stable steady state  $\omega_*$  that is unstable in  $L^{\infty}$ ?

Theorems 3.5 and 3.6 shed some light on the Eulerian dynamics on the phase space X. Systems that cover all accessible phase volume are sometimes called ergodic, mixing or

stochastic. Ergodicity is often invoked to predict the asymptotic behavior as maximizers of some entropy functional defined on the phase space – we shall briefly return to this point in Section 3.4. An immediate corollary of Theorems 3.5 and 3.6 is the failure of ergodicity in this sense in the X phase space due to the presence of Lyapunov stable equilibria. Another example of failure of ergodicity is the existence of wandering points. This is the subject of the subsequent section (Section 3.2). We remark that it is possible that neither of these phenomena exclude the possibility of ergodicity in a weak-\* sense. Establishing that this is not the case is the essence of Problem 4.

We close this section with one final open question:

**Question 3.** Let (M, g) be a compact two-dimensional Riemannian manifold without boundary (e.g.,  $\mathbb{S}^2$  with the round metric or  $\mathbb{T}^2$  with the flat metric). Do there exist any non-trivial stable steady Euler solutions?

In the above, the perturbations should have trivial harmonic component. We should remark that the first eigenfunctions of Laplacian (harmonics) on any such manifold are stable, but these are necessarily constant and thus are trivial. Desingularized periodic point vortex lattices [3, 164, 192] may be interesting to investigate in the context of Question 3.

### 3.2. Wandering: Non-recurrence in infinite dimensions

In this section, we discuss another truly infinite-dimensional feature of perfect fluid motion. We first recall the notion of non-wandering from finite-dimensional dynamics, which takes the form of the Poincaré recurrence theorem:

**Theorem 3.9** (Poincaré recurrence). Let  $(X, \Sigma, \mu)$  be a finite measure space and  $\varphi: X \mapsto X$  be a measure-preserving transformation. For any  $E \in \Sigma$  (the sigma algebra of measurable subsets of X), the measure

 $\mu(\{x \in E : \exists N \in \mathbb{N} \text{ such that } \varphi^n(x) \notin E \text{ for all } n > N\}) = 0.$ 

This says that in a finite measure space, the images of a positive measure set under a measure-preserving transformation will be forced to intersect the original set repeatedly. This behavior should be contrasted with that of wandering:

**Definition 3.10** (Wandering in *X*). Let *X* be Banach space and  $S_t: X \to X$  for  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  be a dynamical system. A given  $\omega \in X$  is called a *wandering point* if for all initial conditions in a neighborhood  $\|\omega_0 - \omega\|_X \le \varepsilon$ , there is a moment T > 0 such that the solution emanating from any such  $\omega_0$  leaves that vicinity forever after, i.e.,  $\|S_t(\omega_0) - \omega\|_X > \varepsilon$  for all t > T. The dynamics has a *wandering neighborhood* U in X if  $S_t(U) \cap U = \emptyset$  for all t > T for some T := T(U).

There are various finite-dimensional approximations to the Euler equations (see, e.g., [143, Chapter 5]); for example, the Galerkin approximation [142], Sullivan's fluid algebra models [185], the Kirchhoff point vortex approximation [122], and lattice models [189].

An application of the Poincaré recurrence theorem (Theorem 3.9) can be used to show that some of these finite-dimensional approximations are non-wandering. For example, energy-preserving Galerkin truncations form a dynamical system on a sphere in  $\mathbb{R}^m$ where *m* is the number of Fourier modes retained. For some such truncations, the motion preserves the Euclidean volume on spherical shells (Liouville theorem). Sullivan's fluid algebra models and Zeitlin's approximation [203] also all have this property. Thus, the Poincaré recurrence theorem applies and almost every moving point returns to a neighborhood in which it started repeatedly. We remark that this same property allows Galerkin Euler to support a Gibbs measure (Gaussian measure) since the flow is tangent to the  $L^2$  spheres and the Euclidean volume is preserved on spherical shells (which are preserved). This measure corresponds to a  $k^2$  equipartition energy spectrum. This socalled Liouville theorem was proved first by Burgers [20] and then by Lee [133] and Hopf [106]. Sullivan [187] establishes the result for fluid algebra models [185] and uses it to motivate a conjecture about almost-sure well-posedness in the zero-viscosity limit.

The non-wandering behavior implied by Poincaré recurrence relies crucially on the space X in Theorem 3.9 being finite and finite-dimensional. Despite the fact that certain finite-dimensional approximations to Euler are volume-preserving, an example of wandering points for the infinite-dimensional Euler equations in the unit  $L^{\infty}$  ball phase space (recall from the discussion around Theorem 2.12 that  $X_*$  is a compact metric space preserved by the Euler dynamics) was given by Nadirashvili.

**Theorem 3.11** (Nadirashvili [157]). Let  $M = [-\pi, \pi) \times [0, 1]$  be the periodic channel. There is a scalar field  $\xi \in C^{\infty}(M)$  such that for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  sufficiently small, there exists a finite time  $T := T(\varepsilon)$  so that any initial condition satisfying  $\|\omega_0 - \xi\|_{L^{\infty}} < \varepsilon$  wanders in  $L^{\infty}$ , i.e.,  $\|S_t(\omega_0) - \xi\|_{L^{\infty}} > \varepsilon$  for all t > T.

In Nadirashvili's original paper, he works on the annulus with a circular flow having zero vorticity (streamfunction  $\psi(x) = \ln |x|$ ). The ideas are the same. The significance of this result is that it establishes the existence of data  $\omega_0 \in L^{\infty}$  (those satisfying  $\omega_0 \in \mathcal{O}_{\xi}$ ) such that the Euler solution  $S_t(\omega_0)$  is not ergodic on  $\mathcal{O}_{\omega_0} \cap \{E = E_0\}$  where  $\mathcal{O}_{\omega_0}$  is the orbit of  $\omega_0$  in the group of area-preserving diffeomorphisms:

$$\mathcal{O}_{\omega_0} := \{ \omega_0 \circ \varphi : \varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M) \},\$$

and  $\{E = E_0\}$  is the collection of vorticity fields with equal energy. This set is the natural phase space for a given datum  $\omega_0$ , and incorporates all known conservation laws of the Euler equation. Failure of ergodicity in this sense is relevant to the applicability of statistical hydrodynamic theories of long-term behavior, see further discussion in Section 3.4. We remark that there have been recent developments establishing wandering (rather, non-approaching) in 3D Euler [116, 117].

*Proof.* We first construct the field  $\xi$ . Let  $v(x) = (x_2, 0)$  be Couette flow (any  $L^2$  stable shear flow can generate such an example). Note that the field is solenoidal  $\nabla \cdot v = 0$ ,

tangent to the boundary  $v \cdot \hat{n}|_{\partial M} = 0$ , with circulations  $\phi_{\{y=1\}} v \cdot d\ell = 2\pi$  and  $\phi_{\{y=0\}} v \cdot d\ell = 0$  and has vorticity  $\eta := \nabla^{\perp} \cdot v = -1$ .



Figure 3.2. Setup for Nadirashvili's example. Here g could be supported on G and the blue lines represent the velocity field of the Couette flow. The set B is the grey region.

Consider the sets (see Figure 3.2)

$$B = [0, \pi] \times [0, 1], \qquad \gamma = \{-\pi/2\} \times [0, 1],$$

Let  $h \in C^{\infty}(M)$  be any scalar function  $h: M \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfying

$$h|_{\gamma} \ge 1/2, \qquad h|_{B} = 0, \qquad \|h\|_{L^{\infty}} \le 1.$$
 (3.9)

Thus, *h* is supported entirely in the white region of Figure 3.2, and is non-trivial on the line  $\gamma$ . For  $\delta \ll 1$ , define  $\xi \in C^{\infty}(M)$  as a perturbation of the Couette vorticity

$$\xi := \eta + \delta h.$$

It follows that  $\xi|_B = -1$ . For any  $g \in L^{\infty}(M)$  such that  $||g||_{L^{\infty}} < 1$  and let

$$\omega_0 = \xi + \varepsilon g \quad \text{for} \quad \varepsilon \ll 1.$$
 (3.10)

For instance, *g* could be supported in the region  $G \subset B$  of Figure 3.2. It follows by (3.10), (3.9) and  $||g||_{L^{\infty}} < 1$  that we have

$$\|\omega_0 - \xi\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \varepsilon, \qquad \|\omega_0 - \eta\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \varepsilon + \delta, \qquad \omega_0|_{\gamma} > \eta + \delta/2 - \varepsilon.$$
(3.11)

Consider  $\omega(t) := S_t(\omega_0)$ . The perturbed vorticity  $\tilde{\omega} := \omega - \eta$  is transported:

$$\partial_t \widetilde{\omega} + u \cdot \nabla \widetilde{\omega} = 0,$$
  
 $\widetilde{\omega}|_{t=0} = \delta h + \varepsilon g,$ 

where  $u = K_M[\omega]$ . Thus, we find that

$$\|\omega(t) - \eta\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \varepsilon + \delta,$$

showing that Couette flow (as any constant vorticity solution) is stable in  $L^{\infty}$  topology for vorticity. We now appeal to the following elementary lemma:

**Lemma 3.12.** Let  $M = [-\pi, \pi) \times [0, 1]$  and  $u \in C^1(M)$  be divergence-free  $\nabla \cdot u = 0$ with  $u \cdot \hat{n}|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$  and with  $\oint_{\{v=0\}} u \cdot d\ell = 0$ . Then for some C := C(M) > 0

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C \|\nabla^{\perp} \cdot u\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

In fact, the stronger result that  $||u||_{C^{\alpha}} \leq C(\alpha) ||\nabla^{\perp} \cdot u||_{L^{\infty}}$  for all  $\alpha \in [0, 1)$  holds by Schauder theory (see, e.g., [91]). As a consequence of Lemma 3.12,

$$\|u(t) - v\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C(\varepsilon + \delta)$$

since by Galilean transformation, a small constant velocity can be removed to ensure the circulation on the bottom boundary be zero. Now we take  $\delta$  and  $\varepsilon$  sufficiently small so that

$$\|u(t) - v\|_{L^{\infty}} \le 1/4. \tag{3.12}$$

This velocity field u(t) defines an area-preserving diffeomorphism  $\Phi_t$  of the periodic channel with  $\Phi_0 = id$ . Since the velocity is tangent to the walls  $u_2(t)|_{y=0,1} = 0$ ,  $\Phi_t$  maps the boundaries to themselves. Note that from (3.12) we deduce

$$u_1(t)|_{x_2=0} \le 1/4, \qquad u_1(t)|_{x_2=1} \ge 3/4$$
 (3.13)

so that the smallest relative velocity is  $\min_{\{y=1\}} u_1(t) - \max_{\{y=0\}} u_1(t) \ge 1/2$  for all *t*. We now consider the image of the line  $\gamma$  under the flow  $\gamma(t) := \Phi_t(\gamma)$ . Due to the relative speeds along the top and bottom boundary, we find (3.13)

$$dist(\gamma(t)|_{x_2=1}, \gamma(t)|_{x_2=0}) \ge t/2.$$

Combined with the fact that the domain is periodic in  $x \in [-\pi, \pi)$ , this shows that for



**Figure 3.3.** Representation of a possible evolution  $\gamma(t)$ . Here the dashed red line is the evolution of the line  $\gamma$  if the problem were linear (with velocity 3/4 at the top and 1/4 at the bottom, the worst-case scenario). A possible region  $G(t) := \Phi_t(G)$  is also shown.

large enough time we have that the curve must partially occupy the region B forever after:

$$\gamma(t) \cap B \neq \emptyset$$
 for all  $t > 2\pi$ . (3.14)

See Figure 3.3 for a depiction of a possible evolution. It is enough to wait until the image of the curve wraps once around the torus – the longer time elapses, the more the image



Figure 3.4. The unwrapped evolution on the covering space of the cylinder.

will become wrapped. This fact can be clearly seen by lifting to a covering space of the cylinder, see Figure 3.4.

To complete the proof, we note that since vorticity is transported  $\omega(t) = \omega_0 \circ \Phi_t^{-1}$ , we have from (3.11) that

$$|\omega(t)|_{\gamma(t)} > \eta + \delta/2 - \varepsilon.$$

It follows from (3.14) that for all  $t > 2\pi$ , the above implies that

$$\|\omega(t) - \xi\|_{L^{\infty}} \ge \|\omega(t) - \xi\|_{L^{\infty}(B)} > \delta/2 - \varepsilon$$

since  $\xi|_B = \eta = -1$ . For any  $\varepsilon < \delta/4$ ,  $\|\omega(t) - \xi\|_{L^{\infty}} > \varepsilon$  establishing the claim.

We should remark that two distinguishing features of Nadirashvili's setup is that the domain of the fluid has boundary and a non-trivial fundamental group. Elgindi and Jeong [71] showed in the case of the trivial fundamental group, when boundary is present, the boundary of a large chunk of a vortex patch can play the role of an essential curve (see Figure 3.5) and an infinite spiral can form. To show this, one must use the fact that the velocity vanishes at the corner of the domain and so particles cannot pass through to different sides of the square's boundary. This idea can establish the existence of wandering points on simply connected domains with corners.



Figure 3.5. Spiral formation in the case of the square [71, Figure 4].

On  $M = \mathbb{T}^2$ , Shnirelman proved that a *typical* trajectory of the Euler equation is wandering. He works with Lagrangian description rather than the Eulerian, rephrasing Euler with initial data  $\omega_0$  as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(\Phi,\omega_0) = \left( K_{\mathbb{T}^2}[\omega_0 \circ \Phi^{-1}] \circ \Phi, 0 \right),$$

where we used  $\omega(t) := \omega_0 \circ \Phi^{-1}$  and where  $K_{\mathbb{T}^2}$  is the Biot–Savart law on  $\mathbb{T}^2$ . Rather than working in Hölder or Sobolev spaces, Shnirelman works with Besov spaces,  $B_{2,\infty}^s$ . Note that  $H^s \subset B_{2,\infty}^s \subset H^{s-1}$  for any s > 0. It is proved that  $X^s := B_{2,\infty}^s \times B_{2,\infty}^{s-1}$  defines a suitable phase-space for the pair  $(\Phi - \mathrm{id}, \omega_0)$  provided s > 3 for all time. The main result is:

**Theorem 3.13** (Shnirelman [179]). For s > 3, there exists an open and dense set  $Y^s \subset X^s$ , such that each  $(\Phi, \omega_0) \in Y^s$  is contained in a wandering neighborhood.

The main difference between the above result and the one of Nadirashvili is that Shnirelman's theorem takes place at the level of particle configurations  $\Phi$ , not velocity fields  $u := K_{\mathbb{T}^2}[\omega_0 \circ \Phi^{-1}]$ . Seemingly, a wandering neighborhood in configuration space (at the level of the Lagrangian flowmap) is not inconsistent with non-wandering in phase space (at the level of the vorticity field), and so the results are complementary. Finally, the dynamics are not uniformly-in-time bounded in the  $X^s$  topology, unlike the  $L^{\infty}$  phase space of Theorem 3.11.

**Problem 2.** Show that there exist wandering neighborhoods in the phase space  $L^{\infty}$  of vorticity on compact domains without boundary (e.g.,  $M = \mathbb{T}^2$  or  $\mathbb{S}^2$ ).

These domains should be somehow generic, in the spirit of Theorem 3.13.

#### 3.3. Strife: Instability and infinite-time blow-up

As discussed in Section 3.1, Arnold established a form of dynamical stability in his works [4, 5]. Namely, if  $\omega_*$  is a stationary solution satisfying one of two so-called Arnold stability conditions, then it is Lyapunov stable in the  $L^2$  topology (Theorem 3.5). This can be promoted to a true dynamical stability in a suitable phase space X (Theorem 3.6 herein). On the other hand, in stronger topologies such as  $C^{\alpha}(M)$  or  $H^s(M)$  for s > 0, stationary solutions – especially those identified by Arnold – are known to be strongly unstable. In fact, a behavior which is believed to be typical is a gradual *deterioration* of smoothness or infinite-time blow-up. Namely, solutions can have the property that  $\|\omega(t)\|_{C^{\alpha}(M)} \to \infty$  as  $t \to \infty$  thereby leaving the  $C^{\alpha}$  phase space at infinite time. Physically, such roughening is the result of a process of the stretching, folding and filamenting of vortex lines by coherent velocity structures and is the signature of the direct cascade of enstrophy to small scales, see Figure 3.9.

In this direction, the Nadirashvili's argument [157] of wandering in Theorem 3.11 can be modified to provide a simple example of sustained growth. The construction is

on the periodic channel for a constant vorticity steady Euler solution  $\omega_*$ . Such a state is nonlinearly stable has the property that its velocity field exhibits a fixed "gap," i.e., the particles on top boundary  $\{x_2 = 1\}$  are moving strictly faster than those moving along the bottom  $\{x_2 = 0\}$ . Below we state the result for shear flows on  $M = \mathbb{T} \times [0, 1]$  but this is non-essential: constant vorticity steady states on a fluid vessel which is topologically annular would work.

**Theorem 3.14** (Growth in  $C^{\alpha}$  near constant vorticity states). Let  $M = \mathbb{T} \times [0, 1]$  and  $\alpha > 0$ . Let  $\omega_*$  be a constant-vorticity steady Euler solution with

$$u_*^{\mathsf{t}} := \min_{x_1 \in \mathbb{T}} u_* \big|_{x_2 = 1} > \max_{x_1 \in \mathbb{T}} u_* \big|_{x_2 = 0} =: u_*^{\mathsf{b}}$$

For any  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ , there exists  $\xi \in C^{\infty}(M)$  with  $\|\xi - \omega_*\|_{C^{\alpha}(M)} < \varepsilon$ , a time  $T := T(\varepsilon, M, u_*^{t} - u_*^{b})$  and a constant  $C := C(\xi, M, u_*^{t} - u_*^{b}) > 0$  such that

$$\|S_t(\gamma_0) - \xi\|_{C^{\alpha}(M)} \ge \varepsilon C t^{\alpha} \quad \text{for all} \quad \|\gamma_0 - \xi\|_{C^{\alpha}(M)} < \varepsilon.$$

*Proof.* The setup is along the same lines as the proof of Theorem 3.11. For simplicity set  $u_*^t = 1$  and  $u_*^b = 0$ . Define a pair of curves traversing the channel

$$\gamma_1 = \{-\pi/2\} \times [0,1], \qquad \gamma_2 = \{-\pi/4\} \times [0,1].$$

Let

$$h|_{\gamma_1} \ge 1/2, \qquad h|_{\gamma_2} \le 1/4, \qquad \|h\|_{C^{\alpha}} \le 1$$

Set  $\xi := \omega_* + \varepsilon h$  for  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ . We take initial data

$$\gamma_0 = \xi + \varepsilon g$$

where  $g \in C^{\alpha}(M)$  with  $||g||_{L^{\infty}} < 1/4$ . Define the rectangle delimited by  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2$  as

$$A = [-\pi/2, -\pi/4] \times [0, 1].$$



**Figure 3.6.** Setup for example of growth. Here *g* could, e.g., be supported on *G* and  $\xi$  has non-trivial support on  $\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_2$ . The set *A* is the area contained between  $\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_2$ .

We claim that the distance between the images of the two lines  $\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_2$  under the Lagrangian flow  $\Phi_t$  decreases. This will be used to deduce growth of the  $C^{\alpha}$  norms since the curves carry different values of vorticity (since the background is constant).

**Lemma 3.15.** Let  $\gamma_i(t) = \Phi_t(\gamma_i)$  for i = 1, 2 where  $\Phi_t$  is the Lagrangian flow corresponding to the solution with initial vorticity  $\gamma_0$ . Then

$$dist(\gamma_1(t), \gamma_2(t)) \le \frac{8A}{t}.$$
 (3.15)

*Proof.* First note that for any p > 2, interpolation and  $L^2$ -stability yields

$$\|u(t) - u_*\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \|\omega(t) - \omega_*\|_{L^p} \le 2C \|\omega(t) - \omega_*\|_{L^{\infty}}^{\frac{p-2}{p}} \|\omega(t) - \omega_*\|_{L^2}^{\frac{2}{p}}$$

By choosing  $\varepsilon \ll 1$  sufficiently small, it follows that for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$|u_1(t)|_{x_2=0} \le 1/4, \qquad |u_1(t)|_{x_2=1} \ge 3/4.$$

Letting  $x_i^t(t) = \gamma_i(t)|_{x_2=1}$  and  $x_i^b(t) = \gamma_i(t)|_{x_2=0}$ , on the covering space of M (see Figure 3.4) we have the ordering

$$x_1^{\mathsf{b}}(t) < x_2^{\mathsf{b}}(t) < \frac{t}{4}$$
 and  $x_2^{\mathsf{t}}(t) > x_1^{\mathsf{t}}(t) > \frac{3t}{4}$ .

Assume now for contradiction that the result (3.15) is false. Fix  $x \in (\frac{1}{4}t, \frac{3}{4}t)$ . Let  $y_1(x)$  be the lowest  $x_2$ -value of any point on the line  $x = x_0$  intersecting  $\gamma_1(t)$  and  $y_2(x)$  be the highest  $x_2$ -value on the line  $x = x_0$  intersecting  $\gamma_2(t)$ . By continuity and by the assumption, the vertical line  $[y_1(x), y_1(x) + \frac{8A}{t}]$  is in the domain. See, e.g., Figure 3.7. On the other hand, by volume preservation and Fubini's theorem, we arrive at a contradiction

$$|A| \ge \int_{t/4}^{3t/4} \int_0^1 \chi_A \ge \int_{t/4}^{3t/4} \frac{8A}{t} dx > 2|A|.$$



**Figure 3.7.** Cartoon of the evolution spiraling around the torus. Dashed purple vertical line indicates the point where the distance between the lines is smallest.

With Lemma 3.15, the result follows after noting that for some c > 0 we have

$$\|\omega(t)\|_{C^{\alpha}} \ge \frac{|\omega(t, y_1(t)) - \omega(t, y_2(t))|}{|y_1(t) - y_2(t)|^{\alpha}} \ge \frac{c\varepsilon t^{\alpha}}{(8A)^{\alpha}}$$

where  $\omega(t) := S_t(\gamma_0)$  and  $y_1(t)$  and  $y_2(t)$  are as above (endpoints of purple line in Figure 3.7).

There has been subsequent work exhibiting this type of behavior (often stated for the gradient of the vorticity) on domains with the boundary [13, 107, 113, 124, 126, 157, 172, 201], on the torus [53, 54, 204] near stationary solutions and the plane near a vortex dipole [31]. The works [113, 157, 201] provide linear-in-time growth rates whereas the others provide superlinear growth rates, with [126] on the domain of a disk standing out as the sole example of double-exponential growth from smooth data of the vorticity gradient, saturating the bound (2.23). The result is:

**Theorem 3.16** (Kiselev–Šverák [126]). Let M be the unit disk. There exists smooth initial datum  $\omega_0$  with  $\|\nabla \omega_0\|_{L^{\infty}}/\|\omega_0\|_{L^{\infty}} > 1$  such that the Euler solution  $\omega(t) = S_t(\omega_0)$  satisfies for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  the lower bound

$$\frac{\|\nabla\omega(t)\|_{L^{\infty}(M)}}{\|\omega_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}}} \ge \left(\frac{\|\nabla\omega_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}(M)}}{\|\omega_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}(M)}}\right)^{c \exp(c\|\omega_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}(M)}|t|)}$$
(3.16)

for some constant c > 0.

**Remark 3.17.** The original paper of Kiselev–Šverák [126] finds data for which (3.16) holds for all t > 0. The case of all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  follows by a simple modification.

In generality (nearby arbitrary steady states), little is known about infinite-time blowup. However, the following theorem due to Koch [128] establishes a strong form of nonlinear instability:

**Theorem 3.18** (Koch [128]). Every stationary solution  $\omega_* \in C^{1,\alpha}$  of the two-dimensional Euler equation whose Lagrangian flow is not periodic in time is nonlinearly unstable in  $C^{\alpha}$ . Specifically, for all M and  $\varepsilon$ , there exists a time  $T := T(M, \varepsilon)$  and a solution  $\omega(t) = S_t(\omega_0)$  with the property that

$$\|\omega_0 - \omega_*\|_{C^{\alpha}} \le \varepsilon, \qquad \text{while} \qquad \|\omega(T) - \omega_*\|_{C^{\alpha}} \ge M.$$

The idea of the proof is that the vorticity of a perturbation is transported by the volumepreserving flow  $\Phi_t$  up to a lower order (compact) term. If the gradient of the corresponding Lagrangian flow is large at some point, then derivatives of the perturbation can be large. The gradient of the Lagrangian flow of the steady state  $\omega_*$  grows unboundedly large unless it is periodic in time – i.e.,  $\omega_*$  is the vorticity of a so-called *isochronal* [155,201]. Towards a contradiction, stability in the  $C^{\alpha}$  topology of the vorticity gives Lipschitz stability of the flowmap. As such, unbounded growth of the base flow means nearby solutions have a large stretching factor at a fixed late time. The perturbation is designed to exploit this stretching, yielding instability. It would be interesting to extend Theorem 3.18 to *supercritical* (in the sense that the dynamics are uncontrolled) spaces.

**Problem 3.** Let X be any space compactly embedded in  $L^2$ . Show that any smooth stationary solution  $\omega_*$  of the two-dimensional Euler equation whose Lagrangian flow is not periodic in time is nonlinearly unstable in X.

It would be interesting to prove first the above statement for  $X = H^s$  with s > 0. We remark that the analogous instability statement in 3D would be for X be any space compactly embedded in  $L^2$  of velocity (rather than vorticity) and it appears to be much harder due to the lack of control on the dynamics there.



**Figure 3.8.** A fluid "clock" which is right at least twice a day: isochronal flow with period T = 12 hrs. Clock hands are made of Lagrangian particles seen at the different times.

The assumption of the Lagrangian flowmap being non-periodic is not always necessary. For example, the trivial solution has periodic flowmap but is clearly is unstable in the sense of Theorem 3.18. We call those velocity fields with periodic flowmaps isochronal:

**Definition 3.19.** We say that a Hamiltonian  $\psi: M \to \mathbb{R}$  or its corresponding Hamiltonian vector field  $u = \nabla^{\perp} \psi: M \to \mathbb{R}^2$  is *isochronal* if the flowmap  $\Phi_t$  it generates via  $\dot{\Phi}_t = u \circ \Phi_t$  is time-periodic.

An interesting family of isochronal flows are elliptical vortices with constant vorticity, see [155]. Specifically, let M be an elliptical vessel with major axis a > 0 and minor axis b > 0. This family is defined by the streamfunctions

$$\psi(x_1, x_2) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \left( \frac{x_1}{a} \right)^2 + \left( \frac{x_2}{b} \right)^2 \right)$$
(3.17)

which correspond to Euler solutions having constant vorticity  $\Delta \psi = (a^2 + b^2)/(a^2b^2)$ . One member of this family is the radial solid-body rotation vortex discussed in Remark 2.4. Having constant vorticity, these steady states are stable in  $L^{\infty}$ . The travel time (3.6)  $\mu(c) = 2\pi ab$  along each streamline { $\psi = c$ } is manifestly independent of c and thus these flows are isochronal.

Although Theorem 3.18 does not directly apply, it can be shown that members of the family of elliptical vortices are not isolated (see Definition 3.2) from non-isochronal steady states in the  $C^{\alpha}$  topology on vorticity [155]. As such, they too are nonlinearly unstable. It seems reasonable to conjecture that *all* steady states are unstable in  $C^{\alpha}$ . A natural starting point for addressing this question would be to characterize Euler flows having this isochronal property. In certain cases, this can easily accomplished:

**Lemma 3.20.** Let  $M = \{x : |x| \le 1\}$  be the disk. There exists a unique smooth isochronal *Euler flow (up to scaling), corresponding to solid body rotation.* 

*Proof.* If  $\psi: M \to \mathbb{R}$  is an isochronal streamfunction for a Hamiltonian vector field on  $\overline{M}$ , then it possesses exactly one critical point (otherwise, there will be a curve along which the velocity  $u = \nabla^{\perp} \psi$  vanishes, and so the period would need to be zero making u is everywhere trivial). Being a stationary solution of Euler imposes  $\nabla^{\perp} \psi \cdot \nabla \Delta \psi = 0$  in M (vorticity equation) and  $\partial_{\tau} \psi|_{\partial M} = 0$  (non-penetration condition). Since  $\psi \in C^2(M)$  has a single critical point, there is a  $C^1$  function  $F: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\Delta \psi = F(\psi) \quad \text{in } M,$$
  
$$\psi = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial M.$$

See, e.g., [39, Lemma 5]. Clearly  $\psi$  cannot change sign in M (it otherwise would contradict  $\psi$  having a unique critical point). It follows from the symmetry results of Gidas–Ni–Nirenberg [90] that  $\psi$  is radially symmetric  $\psi = \psi(|x|)$ . The only (up to scaling) circular isochronal flow is solid body rotation  $\psi(|x|) = \frac{1}{2}|x|^2$ .

In light of Lemma 3.20, since the isochronal flow is nearby (in any topology) circular solutions which are not isochronal, we have:

### **Corollary 3.21.** All steady Euler solutions on the disk are unstable in $C^{1,\alpha}$ .

Yudovich conjectured that the elliptical family, of which solid body rotation is a member, are the unique isochronal Euler solutions having constant vorticity [201]. However, preliminary computations of ours based on expanding the analytic Euler solutions with constant vorticity about the center critical point suggests there exists another branch of steady states that are isochronal, having domains which terminate at one with non-smooth boundary. As such, the situation may not be so simple. Nevertheless, we ask:

**Question 4.** For each simply connected domain  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ , is there at most one (modulo scaling) smooth isochronal flow?

A rough motivation for this question is as follows. Steady Euler solutions can be constructed by finding a scalar function  $\psi$  sharing the same level sets as its Laplacian, the vorticity  $\omega = \Delta \psi$ . Imagine starting with a single-level curve (say the boundary of the domain) and "evolving" away to form a steady Euler solution. Thus there is one degree of freedom at each level of  $\psi$ , since the vorticity can be an arbitrary function of the streamfunction. On the other hand, the condition of isochronality removes a degree of freedom, so by naive counting one should obtain at most one flow for suitable initial conditions.

More substantial support comes from the following simple fact: given an isochronal flow with streamfunction  $\psi_0$ , new isochronal flows can be generated by finding other stationary Euler solution on the orbit of the *streamfunction*  $\psi_0$  in the group of area-preserving diffeomorphisms.
**Lemma 3.22.** Let  $M_0 \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  and suppose that  $\psi_0: M_0 \to \mathbb{R}$  is a  $C^1$  streamfunction of an isochronal Hamiltonian vector field on  $M_0$ . Let  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  with  $|M| = |M_0|$  be diffeomorphic to  $M_0$ . Any element  $\psi$  of

 $\mathcal{O}_{\psi_0} := \{\psi_0 \circ \varphi \text{ for any } \varphi : M \to M_0 \text{ smooth area-preserving diffeomorphism}\}$ 

is a streamfunction  $\psi: M \to \mathbb{R}$  of an isochronal Hamiltonian vector field on M.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\psi_0$  is isochronal with travel time  $\mu_0(c) = \mu_0$  (defined by (3.6)). If  $M_0$  is simply connected, then  $\psi_0$  has one isolated critical point so that its level sets foliate  $M_0$ . If it is doubly connected, it has no critical points, and there do not exist isochronal Hamiltonian vector fields on domains with more than one hole. In any case, call rang $(\psi_0) = [a, b]$ . By the coarea formula, we have for any  $f \in L^1([a, b])$  the identity

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}_0} f(\psi_0(x)) \,\mathrm{d}x = \mu_0 \int_a^b f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Let *M* be a deformation of  $M_0$  having equal area. Any  $\psi \in \mathcal{O}_{\psi_0}$  takes the form  $\psi = \psi_0 \circ \gamma^{-1}$  where  $\gamma: M_0 \to M$ . Consequently, we have

$$\int_{M} f(\psi(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{M} f\left(\psi_{0}(\gamma^{-1}(x))\right) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{M_{0}} f(\psi_{0}(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x = \mu_{0} \int_{a}^{b} f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Choosing  $f(x) = \chi_{[a,c]}(x)$ , we obtain an identity on the area enclosed by  $\psi$ -levels:

Area
$$(\{\psi \le c\}) = \mu_0(c-a).$$
 (3.18)

Finally, we recall the general identity (see, e.g., [171, Section 4.1] or [38, Appendix E])

$$\mu(c) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}c} \operatorname{Area}(\{\psi \le c\}).$$
(3.19)

It follows from (3.18) and (3.19) that  $\mu(c) = \mu_0$  is constant.

Using Lemma 3.22, we can exhibit a non-trivial family of isochronal Euler solutions. Specifically, let  $\psi_0$  be the streamfunction for a isochronal steady Euler solution with  $\mu_0(c) = \mu_0$  on  $M_0 \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  satisfying the stability condition (H1). For example, one can take  $M_0$  to be an ellipse and  $\psi_0$  to be the constant vorticity isochronal streamfunction (3.17) on  $M_0$ . Let M be a slight deformation of  $M_0$  having equal area (here we can also "wrinkle" the domain M by varying the Riemannian metric). By Theorem 3.4 there exists a steady Euler streamfunction on M of the form  $\psi = \psi_0 \circ \gamma^{-1}$ where  $\gamma: M_0 \to M$  is an area-preserving diffeomorphism [38]. Since  $\psi \in \mathcal{O}_{\psi_0}$ , this shows that for all sufficiently small deformations M of an elliptical domain  $M_0$ , there exists at least one isochronal flow  $\omega = \Delta \psi$  on M. The algorithm producing the new solution via Theorem 3.4 gives a unique diffeomorphism  $\gamma: M_0 \to M$  and thus offers some support to Conjecture 4. It is conceivable that all isochronal Euler solutions can be constructed in this way, tracing out a path from solid body rotation on the disk. Since all isochronal flows constructed in this way continue to satisfy (H1), they are non-isolated from non-isochronal steady solutions and thus unstable in  $C^{1,\alpha}$  according to Koch's Theorem 3.18.

We finally remark that the issue of characterizing flows with the isochronal property subject to various constraints arises in the classical subject of constructing the tautochrone curve, in Hamiltonian dynamical systems [24] and even has applications to problems in engineering [9].

Returning to the issue of long-term growth, it is natural to suppose further that all steady (at least) Euler solutions should be infinitely unstable in  $C^{\alpha}$  and that this behavior should be generic. This conjecture was enunciated by Yudovich (1974), [113, 201], quote from [155]:

"There is a 'substantial set' of inviscid incompressible flows whose vorticity gradients grow without bound. At least this set is dense enough to provide the loss of smoothness for some arbitrarily small disturbance of every steady flow." [155]

We express this conjecture as follows:

**Conjecture 1** (Yudovich [113]). No steady solutions of the Euler equations are stable in  $C^{1,\alpha}$ . Moreover, for any steady state  $\omega_* \in C^{\alpha}$  and any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there is a  $\|\omega_0 - \omega_*\|_{C^{\alpha}} \le \varepsilon$  such that  $\|\omega(t)\|_{C^{\alpha}} \to \infty$  as  $t \to \infty$ .

A stronger form of the above conjecture reads: for any steady state  $\omega_* \in C^{\alpha}$  and any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , in any  $\varepsilon$ -neighborhood N of  $\omega_*$  in  $C^{\alpha}$  there exists an open set  $B \subset N$  such that all  $\omega_0 \in B$  have  $\|\omega(t)\|_{C^{\alpha}} \to \infty$  as  $t \to \infty$ .

Here we show that Koch's instability argument can be used to prove *generic* longtime growth nearby certain stable steady states. Given  $\omega_0 \in C^{\alpha}(M)$ , we may consider the solution map  $S_t(\omega_0)$  taking  $\omega_0$  to the unique Euler solution at time t that is equal to  $\omega_0$  at time t = 0. It is not difficult to see that  $S_t$  is *not* continuous on  $C^{\alpha}$ . Despite this, we have the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.23.** The map  $||S_t(\cdot)||_{C^{\alpha}(M)}$ :  $C^{\alpha}(M) \to \mathbb{R}^+$  is lower-semi-continuous for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

*Proof.* If a family of continuous initial vorticities  $\omega_n \to \omega_0$  in  $C^{\alpha}(M)$  (even in C(M)), we have that  $\omega_n(t) \to \omega(t)$  uniformly. The result then follows easily from the definition of the  $C^{\alpha}$  norm.

**Remark 3.24.** While it is not difficult to show that  $S_t(\cdot)$  is not continuous on  $C^{\alpha}$ , it is not immediately obvious whether the quantity  $|S_t(\cdot)|_{C^{\alpha}}$  is continuous. However, lower semi-continuity is sufficient for our purposes.

In what follows, all balls are in the fixed  $C^{\alpha}$  topology and  $B_{\varepsilon}$  will be a given ball in  $C^{\alpha}$ .

**Theorem 3.25.** Assume that for every  $\omega_0 \in B_{\varepsilon}$  we have that the corresponding Lagrangian flow-map satisfies  $\|\nabla \Phi_t\|_{L^{\infty}} \ge c(t)$ , for some growth function  $c(t) \to \infty$  as  $t \to \infty$ . Fix a function  $\delta(t) \to 0$  with  $\delta(t)c(t)^{\alpha} \to \infty$ . Then, there is a dense set of  $\omega_0$  in  $B_{\varepsilon}$  for which

$$\sup_{t} \frac{\|S_t(\omega_0)\|_{C^{\alpha}}}{\delta(t)c(t)^{\alpha}} = +\infty.$$

*Proof.* Call the set of  $\omega_0$  satisfying the conclusion  $\mathcal{U}$ . Now let

$$\mathcal{U}_N = \Big\{ \omega_0 \in B_{\varepsilon} : \sup_t \frac{\|S_t(\omega_0)\|_{C^{\alpha}}}{\delta(t)c(t)^{\alpha}} > N \Big\}.$$

By lower semi-continuity of the norm, this is an open set in the  $C^{\alpha}$  topology. Now we will show that it is dense using the result of Koch [128] (Theorem 3.18 herein). Indeed, by Koch's main theorem (Theorem 3.18), given  $\omega_0 \in B_{\varepsilon}$ , and any  $T, \kappa > 0$ , there exists  $\xi$  with  $\|\xi\|_{C^{\alpha}} < \kappa$  for which, for t = T, we have

$$\|S_t(\omega_0+\xi)\|_{C^{\alpha}} \ge \frac{1}{2}\kappa c(T)^{\alpha}$$

Thus, take  $\kappa$  as small and T large so that  $\frac{1}{\delta(T)} \ge 4\kappa^{-1}N$ . Then,

$$\frac{\|S_t(\omega_0+\xi)\|_{C^{\alpha}}}{\delta(T)c(T)^{\alpha}} \ge 2N.$$

It follows that  $\omega_0 + \xi \in \mathcal{U}_N$ . Thus  $\mathcal{U}_N$  is dense in  $B_{\varepsilon}$ . Now let B be any ball with  $\overline{B} \subset B_{\varepsilon}$ .  $\overline{B}$  is a complete metric space. The sets  $\mathcal{U}_N \cap \overline{B}$  are open and dense in  $\overline{B}$ . Thus, by the Baire category theorem,<sup>9</sup>

$$\left\{\omega_0\in \overline{B} : \sup_t \frac{\|S_t(\omega_0)\|_{C^{\alpha}}}{\delta(t)c(t)^{\alpha}} = +\infty\right\} := \mathcal{U}\cap \overline{B} = \bigcap_{N=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{U}_N\cap \overline{B}$$

is dense in  $\overline{B}$ . The result follows.

**Remark 3.26.** This result can be applied *within* symmetry classes. As such, it might be used to prove generic (within symmetry) fast growth.

A direct corollary of Theorem 3.25 is generic growth near stable steady states.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Note that the step of intersecting with  $\overline{B}$  is just to emphasize that the Baire category theorem applies to open subsets of complete metric spaces, even though open subsets are not usually complete. In fact, intersecting with a closed ball "inside" of the original ball is just the first step of the proof of the Baire category theorem.

**Corollary 3.27** (Generic loss of smoothness near stable steady states). Let  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be an annular fluid domain. Fix  $\alpha > 0$  and let  $\omega_* \in C^{\alpha}(\overline{M})$  be an Arnold stable Euler solution such that the boundary travel times are not equal. Then there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that the set

$$\left\{\omega_0 \in B_{\varepsilon}(\omega_*) : \exists c > 0 \text{ so that } \sup_t \frac{\|\omega(t)\|_{C^{\alpha}}}{|t|^{\alpha-}} = +\infty\right\}$$

contains a dense set in  $B_{\varepsilon}(\omega_*)$ .

*Proof.* The argument in Theorem 3.14 shows that the gradient of the Lagrangian flowmap for any perturbation grows at least linearly. We then apply Theorem 3.25.

We also announce a stronger result for a class of M-stable stationary solutions. These are non-isochronal  $L^2$  stable stationary solutions possessing an isolated global maximum or minimum at either or single point or at the boundary. Here generic loss of smoothness can be definitively established:



**Figure 3.9.** Numerical simulation of slightly viscous Navier–Stokes with viscosity  $v = 10^{-6}$  on  $\mathbb{T}^2$  exhibiting spiral formation. Shown are heatmaps of the vorticity field at subsequent times, with rightmost panel at  $t := 0.0025 \times t_v$  where  $t_v := 1/v$ . Initial data  $\omega_0 = \omega_* + \omega'_0$  is a perturbation  $\omega'_0(x, y) := \sin(x) \sin(y) \exp(-100 \times |\cos(x)^2 \cos(y)^2 - \frac{1}{4}|^2)$  of the cellular flow  $\omega_*(x, y) := \sin(x) \sin(y)$ . See [45]. For perturbations with odd-odd symmetry,  $\omega_*$  is nonlinearly stable under Euler evolution.<sup>10</sup>

**Theorem 3.28** (Generic loss of smoothness near M-stable steady states [59]). Let  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded fluid domain. Fix  $\alpha > 0$  and let  $\omega_* \in C^{\alpha}(\overline{M})$  be a M-stable Euler solution. Then there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that the set

 $\{\omega_0 \in B_{\varepsilon}(\omega_*) : \exists c > 0 \text{ so that } \|\omega(t)\|_{C^{\alpha}} \ge c|t|^{\alpha} \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{R}\}$ 

contains an open and dense set in  $B_{\varepsilon}(\omega_*)$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>2D-Euler software by N. C. Constantinou and T. D. Drivas: https://github.com/navidcy/2D-Euler. For simulation video, see https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=25Md9qxIReE.

The basic idea of the proof is that, since the vorticity is non-constant, the Eulerian stability strongly constrains the motion of particles in the direction transverse to the vortex lines. Thus, if the state is not isochronal, then particles starting near different streamlines of the base steady solution will experience a differential rotation which causes that increased separation over time (in a covering of the domain). As such, what is really required is that, away from regions where the solution is locally isochronal, the vorticity is not identically constant. In that case, provided it is not isochronal, the solution is generically infinitely unstable in  $C^{\alpha}$ . This allows us to establish indefinite shearing of the Lagrangian flowmap for a full neighborhood of time-dependent solutions nearby the steady state. Using this we show for any  $\delta > 0$  there exists  $\xi \in B_{\delta}(\omega_*)$  such that for  $\varepsilon > 0$  sufficiently small, any  $\omega_0 \in B_{\varepsilon}(\xi)$  gives rise to  $\omega(t) = S_t(\omega_0)$  having the property

$$\|\omega(t)\|_{C^{\alpha}} \ge ct^{\alpha}$$

for some  $c := c(\xi) > 0$ . The result now follows.

The strongest in this line of conjectures dispenses with the assumption of proximity to steady states:

**Conjecture 2.** For each  $\omega_* \in C^{\alpha}$  and any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there is a  $\|\omega_0 - \omega_*\|_{C^{\alpha}} \leq \varepsilon$  such that  $\|\omega(t)\|_{C^{\alpha}} \to \infty$  as  $t \to \infty$ .

In fact, a more severe form of singularity formation might be generic (see Conjecture 3 below) and is related to the asymptotic portrait of the motion.

## 3.4. Asymptotic picture: "Entropy" decrease

In this section, we give a mathematically precise but conjectural picture of generic behavior at infinite time (either  $+\infty$  or  $-\infty$ ) for 2D Euler solutions. We should take a moment to discuss what is observed from numerical simulations and physical experiment. Starting from almost any initial data, large-scale coherent structures are robustly seen to emerge as time progresses through a process of vortex merger. The formation and persistence of these structures are sometimes understood to be a manifestation of the inverse energy cascade. See Figures 3.10 and 3.11 for two "typical" examples of such behavior on the torus  $\mathbb{T}^2$  (see [154] for more impressive examples on the sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2$ ). These observations indicate that a great deal of diversity is lost in the long-time behavior – the vorticity portrait on  $\mathbb{T}^2$  always begins to resemble some very special subset of phase space consisting of a collection of coherent vortices wandering around the domain. It is tempting to view this apparent "contraction" in phase space as a decrease in entropy, roughly understood as a measure of diversity of a set.<sup>11</sup> Together with the detailed structure of the limiting profiles, understanding these phenomena from first principles (as properties of long-time limits of solutions of the 2D Euler equations) is a major challenge.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>We stress that this apparent decrease of diversity is in the phase space. As discussed in Section 2.1, there is an alternative description of fluid motion in its configuration space in the group of area-preserving



Figure 3.10. Emergence of a vortex dipole at long times in a simulation a slightly viscous Navier–Stokes.<sup>12</sup>



**Figure 3.11.** Emergence of a vortex tripole pair at long times in a simulation of slightly viscous Navier–Stokes.<sup>13</sup>

There has been a great deal of activity in this direction under the name of "statistical hydrodynamics" [147, 159, 163, 184]. Specifically, under an implicit assumption on the uniform validity of finite-dimensional approximations for long times together with an assumption of ergodicity of the finite-dimensional dynamics, they predict that "end states" are thermodynamic equilibria which arise from maximizing a certain entropy<sup>14</sup> measuring the available phase space of a given configuration on a fixed momentum and energy

diffeomorphisms  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$ . In principle, "entropy" could flow from the phase space variables (which is what we typically observe in nature and simulation) to the configuration space variables. This configuration space is known to have infinite diameter diam $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M) = \infty$  [77,178], and so it can absorb an arbitrary amount of entropy. In this way, one might be able to understand irreversibility at infinite time in terms of this transfer of diversity within the two descriptions of fluid motion. We owe this remark to A. Shnirelman (private communication).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>For simulation video, see https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-YdEYumSSJ0.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>For simulation video, see https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=a3ENdIy1WL0.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>We remark that the entropy which is maximized in these theories is associated to the distribution of vorticity in space. Were it not for the constraint imposed by conservation of energy and momentum, the maximum entropy state in this sense would be a uniform mixing, i.e., replacing the vorticity by its average over the entire flow domain. It is a very different measure than from the notion of entropy discussed above in connection to the lack of diversity of end states in the infinite-dimensional phase space of available vorticity

surface. Lars Onsager, a pioneer in these ideas, painted the following picture in the context of the point-vortex dynamical system:

"... vortices of the same sign will tend to cluster – preferably the strongest ones – so as to use up excess energy at the least possible cost in terms of degrees of freedom. It stands to reason that the large compound vortices formed in this manner will remain as the only conspicuous features of the motion; because the weaker vortices, free to roam practically at random, will yield rather erratic and disorganized contributions to the flow." [159]

Indeed, Onsager's conjectured picture is a remarkably accurate description of the late stages of numerical simulations of the continuum system (see, e.g., the final panels in Figures 3.10 and 3.11). However, in practice, these equilibrium theories often predict that the fluid will settle down to a steady solution which is completely determined by its momentum and energy together with possibly the vorticity distribution function of its initial data. This prediction is in contradiction with simulations and experiments which indicate that the flow can, and generally does, retain time dependence asymptotically. For example, Figures 3.10 and 3.11 which are initiated with Gaussian random data seem to have associated end states which are time dependent and are different despite having comparable initial energy/vorticity distribution. On the other hand, in Figure 3.9, the flow is started near a steady state and appears to relax back to equilibrium in a weak sense.

There are a number of possible causes for the failure of statistical hydrodynamic theories to capture this aspect of fluid flows. The issue mainly resides in the commutation of two limits,  $N \to \infty$  (from finite- to infinite-dimensional) and  $t \to \infty$  (long time). Assuming the finite-dimensional dynamics are sufficiently ergodic,<sup>15</sup> these theories predict that the long-time behavior at fixed N will spend the majority of its time around the maximizer of the entropy (maintaining the aforementioned constraints). A leap of faith is taken when it is asserted that the infinite-dimensional system therefore displays the same behavior.

For the infinite-dimensional dynamics, wandering neighborhoods exist [157, 179] (Theorems 3.11 and 3.13), along with infinite-dimensional families of Lyapunov stable solutions [4, 5] (Theorems 3.4, 3.5 and 3.6). Most severely, there are examples of fluid flows which exhibit mixing (loss of compactness) which means that the Euler system is "open" in the sense that information (say enstrophy) can be lost through infinite frequency in the limit of long time. This subtle behavior is intrinsically linked to the infinite dimensionality and cannot be captured by its finite-dimensional approximations. All of the above are instances of non-equilibrium behavior of a mechanical system and, as such, there is no good reason to expect theories built on equilibrium considerations to be realistic.

configurations. Thus, there is no contradiction in fluid motion increasing the former while decreasing the latter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>There are instances in which the finite-dimensional dynamics are known to not be ergodic (see [114] for results on the point-vortex system), although the presence of multiple ergodic components in the phase space by itself may not invalidate the conclusions of equilibrium theories [80].

Shnirelman built a theory which embraced this infinite-dimensional aspect of fluid motion [177] (see also [58]). This theory made the concrete prediction that, if Euler is "maximally mixing" up to constraints imposed by the conserved integrals (momentum, energy, etc.), then the long-time behavior is described by an Arnold stable stationary flow. Despite its more realistic setting, this prediction is also in seeming contradiction with numerical simulations starting far from equilibrium (although it may be appropriate near stable equilibria, see Figure 3.9).

This points toward the apparent fact that the Euler dynamics is not generally completely effective at mixing. Rather, solutions can become "trapped" in time-dependent regimes which can indefinitely avoid further mixing. While the end states may be (and by many observations, are) a very rich and complicated set, there may exist a precise mathematical framework which can effectually capture the spirit of the above discussion. Our considerations are motivated by the following two conjectures concerning fluid flows on bounded planar domains  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ :

**Conjecture 3** (Šverák [190]). Generic initial data  $\omega_0 \in L^{\infty}(M)$  gives rise to inviscid incompressible motions whose vorticity orbits  $\{\omega(t)\}_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$  are not precompact in  $L^2(M)$ .

The precise meaning of "generic" in the above statement is to be elucidated. It may also be better to use the space X introduced by (3.8) herein in regards to the genericity statement above as X is a separable Banach space and has the property that a unit ball in X is invariant for the Euler dynamics at finite times. Conjecture 3 represents an objective form of creation of "small-scale" vorticity. In particular, it implies that a form of mixing or self-averaging must occur in the limit of infinite time somewhere in the flow domain, although in no way implies that the dynamics perform this mixing as efficiently as possible.

**Conjecture 4** (Shnirelman [182]). For any initial data  $\omega_0 \in L^{\infty}(M)$ , the collection of  $L^2(M)$  weak limits of the orbit  $\{\omega(t)\}_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$  consists of vorticities which generate  $L^2(M)$  precompact orbits under 2D Euler evolution.

Conjecture 4 asserts that there exists a genuine (weak) attractor for the 2D Euler equations, the  $\omega$ -limit set defined<sup>16</sup> by

$$\Omega_+(X_*) := \bigcup_{\omega_0 \in X_*} \Omega_+(\omega_0), \qquad \Omega_+(\omega_0) := \bigcap_{s \ge 0} \overline{\{S_t(\omega_0), t \ge s\}}^*.$$
(3.20)

which is made up entirely of those orbits which "do not mix at infinity." Examples of such orbits are stationary [6], time-periodic [102], quasi-periodic [48] and perhaps also chaotic [52], states.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>This definition of the  $\omega$ -limit set of the phase space slightly different from the standard one used in dynamical systems which includes also the weak-\* limit points of sequences of initial data. This definition has the property that the  $\omega$ -limit set of the phase space is the entire phase space and as such cannot capture the irreversible features of 2D fluid motion. On the other hand, the set (3.20) is quite possibily a meager portion of the phase space, in line with Conjectures 3 and 4.

Taken together, Conjectures 3 and 4 give a precise notion of "entropy decrease" for perfect fluids in the long-time limit – a "second law of thermodynamics" for 2D Euler. By this we mean that it gives some quantification of the apparent fact that the velocity fields of long-lived states (whose orbits according to Conjecture 4 are precompact) represent a "sparse" set in the entire  $L^{\infty}$  phase space (whose orbits according to Conjecture 3 are generally not precompact). See Figure 3.12 for a cartoon involving the  $\omega$ -limit set of the phase space  $X_*$  defined in (2.24).



**Figure 3.12.** Euler preserves the unit  $L^{\infty}$  ball  $X_*$  (2.24) for all finite time  $S_t: X_* \to X_*$ . However, the  $\omega$ -limit set  $\Omega_+(X_*)$  (2.25) of the entire phase space can be sparse.

A beautiful refinement to Shnirelman's Conjecture 4 is given by the recent work of Modin and Viviani [152, 154] which postulates some structure of the precompact orbits which form  $\Omega_+(X_*)$ . They conjecture, based on careful numerical simulations of Euler on the sphere using a refinement of Zeitlin's method [203], that the portrait of fluid motion in the limit  $t \to \infty$  consists generically of N blobs where N is the maximum number of point vortices on the fluid vessel M for which the dynamics is integrable (given the macroscopic characteristics; energy, circulation, momentum). The subsequent motion of the center of masses of these blobs is described approximately by the point vortex system. See Figures 3.13 and 3.14 (kindly provided by Klas Modin) for an empirical support of this conjecture. We remark also that [153, Conjecture 1] posits necessary conditions for the point vortex dynamics on a two-dimensional Riemannian manifold with symmetry group G to be integrable.

A much simpler problem than Conjectures 3 and 4 is the following:

### **Problem 4.** Show that $\Omega_+(X_*) \neq X_*$ .

While there are very few rigorous results concerning 2D Euler which survive for all time, there are two which must be mentioned in connection with these conjectures. First is a result of Šverák which establishes that, for each initial datum  $\omega_0 \in L^{\infty}(M)$ , there exists at least one element of its  $\omega$ -limit set (one long-time limit) which corresponds to a  $L^2$  precompact orbit [190], lending some support for Conjecture 4. Next, there is one setting for which both of these conjectures are proved to be correct in some sense. At this moment, these results pertain only to flows near certain equilibria on the periodic channel  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, 1]$  or its unbounded analogue  $\mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{R}$ . This work on *inviscid damping*, initiated with the celebrated paper of Bedrossian and Masmoudi [13], show that in an open neighborhood (in a Gevrey- $\frac{1}{s}$  for  $s \in (0, 1]$  topology with regularity quantified by the scale



**Figure 3.13.** Evolution of vorticity for Euler equations on the sphere, with randomly generated, smooth initial data. After a transient stage, where vorticity regions of equal sign undergo weak mixing, a dynamically stable configuration of 3 vortex blobs emerge. These blobs continue to interact, yielding quasi-periodic trajectories well approximated by 3-point vortices on the sphere. That 3 blobs emerge seems to correspond to integrability conditions: on the sphere N point vortex dynamics is integrable for  $N \leq 3$ , and in general non-integrable for  $N \geq 4$ .<sup>17</sup>



**Figure 3.14.** Evolution of vorticity for Euler equations on the sphere, with randomly generated, smooth initial data chosen so that the *total angular momentum vanishes*. A dynamically stable configuration of 4 vortex blobs emerge. The trajectories of these blobs are well approximated by 4-point vortices on the sphere. That 4 blobs emerge seems to correspond to integrability conditions: on the sphere *N* point vortex dynamics with vanishing momentum is integrable for  $N \le 4$ .<sup>18</sup>

of norms  $||f||_{\mathcal{G}^{\lambda;s}} = ||e^{\lambda|\nabla|^s} f||_{L^2}$  of any sufficiently smooth monotone shear flow, the solutions starting from any initial data (with the sole exception of other stationary states)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>For simulation video, see https://play.chalmers.se/media/0\_sqc7dy3t.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>For simulation video, see https://play.chalmers.se/media/0\_eik8wnab.

converge weakly but not strongly in  $L^2$  back to equilibrium as time goes to infinity [107]. The following is the (rough) statement:

**Theorem 3.29** (Bedrossian and Masmoudi [13]). Let  $M = \mathbb{T} \times [0, 1]$  or  $\mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{R}$ . There exists an  $\varepsilon_0 := \varepsilon_0(\lambda, \lambda')$  such that if

$$\left\|u_0-\binom{x_2}{0}\right\|_{L^2}+\left\|\omega_0-1\right\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\lambda;\frac{1}{2}}}=\varepsilon<\varepsilon_0,$$

then there is a profile  $\omega_{\infty} \in \mathcal{G}^{\lambda';\frac{1}{2}}$  corresponding to a (possibly different) shear flow such that the solution converges weakly-\* in  $L^{\infty}(M)$  to this equilibrium, i.e.,  $\omega(t) \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \omega_{\infty}$  as  $t \to \infty$ . Moreover, there is an open set of data such that

- $\|\omega(t)\|_{C^{\alpha}} \approx \varepsilon t^{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha > 0, t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,
- $\|\omega_{\infty}\|_{L^2} < \|\omega_0\|_{L^2}.$

This has been generalized by Ionescu and Jia [107] and Masmoudi and Zhao [145] to hold for the class of monotone shear flows, i.e.,  $u_* := (v(x_2), 0)$  where  $v \in C^{\infty}([0, 1])$ is a monotone function. To some extent, similar phenomena can be established also in the radial vortex setting [12, 108]. Theorem 3.29 and the like are the only ones to fully characterize the  $\omega$ -limit sets (2.25) for Euler, albeit for very smooth perturbations of special equilibria. Specifically, if  $\omega_*$  is a monotone shear on  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, 1]$  or  $\mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{R}$ , then for  $\|\omega_0 - \omega_*\|_{e^{\lambda', \frac{1}{\lambda}}} \ll 1$ , one has

$$\Omega_+(\omega_0) = \{\omega_\infty\},\$$

where  $\omega_{\infty} := \omega_{\infty}(\omega_0)$  is a (slightly modified) shear flow nearby  $\omega_*$ . The convergence happens weakly, not strongly, in  $L^2$  for an open set of data, so some amount of mixing definitively occurs in accord with Conjecture 3. Moreover, they show that certain full neighborhoods in the Gevrey phase space relax to equilibrium at long time, confirming Conjecture 4 in this context. Of course, in this setting much more can be said, but far from equilibrium one may hope that two conjectures in concert are as robust as seem the phenomena which they describe.

# 4. 3D fluids: Finite-time singularity formation

We now move to discuss the issue of finite-time singularity in solutions to the Euler equation. This problem has been considered by many authors in different contexts. For the purposes of this article, we will discuss analytical results in the following categories:

- Necessary conditions for blow-up.
- Lower-dimensional models.
- Blow-up of infinite energy solutions.

#### • Self-similar blow-up.

As we discuss each of the above issues, we will mention relevant numerical simulations that have helped to guide the analytical studies.

### 4.1. Background, 1D models and special solutions

**4.1.1. Necessary conditions for blow-up.** The local existence and uniqueness of solutions in  $C^{1,\alpha}$  and a wide variety of function spaces is not difficult to establish using the basic energy estimate

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|u\|_{X} \le C_{X} \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}} \|u\|_{X}, \tag{4.1}$$

enjoyed by smooth solutions to the Euler equation. It follows also that a necessary condition for blow-up at some time  $T_*$  is that

$$\lim_{t \to T_*} \int_0^t \|\nabla u\|_{L^\infty} = +\infty.$$
(4.2)

This result is somewhat unsatisfying since to determine whether there is a blow-up in a particular scenario, or likewise to find a good candidate for a blow-up, one must study the behavior of the whole matrix  $\nabla u$ . This approach is limited by our poor understanding of the corresponding pressure term  $D^2 p$ .

An important improvement on the basic blow-up criterion (4.2) is that of Beale, Kato, and Majda [11]. In particular, they observed that there is a little more than a logarithm of room in the basic energy estimate (4.1) while there is only a logarithmic loss in replacing  $\|\nabla u\|_{L^{\infty}}$  by  $\|\nabla \times u\|_{L^{\infty}}$ , since we know that div(u) = 0. While this improvement appears on the surface to be merely technical, it is actually paradigmatic in that we now only need to study the evolution of the vorticity  $\omega = \nabla \times u$ . Indeed,  $\omega$  now evolves by the equation:

$$\partial_t \omega + u \cdot \nabla \omega = \omega \cdot \nabla u,$$

and in fact the equation is closed due to the fact that

$$u = (-\Delta)^{-1} \nabla \times \omega.$$

There are, strictly speaking, "better" analytical blow-up criteria than the BKM (see, for example, [160]). However, the BKM criterion is the *best* in that it gives us something concrete to look for, pointwise growth, on a quantity,  $\omega$ , whose evolution is understandable.

A second important improvement is due to Constantin, Fefferman, and Majda [40]. This criterion answers the basic question: *Can a 3D Euler solution blow up in a twodimensional way*? Since 2D Euler solutions are global, the answer should be "no" in a general setting. In particular, the authors of [40] proved that if the velocity field *u* remains uniformly bounded up to the blow-up time and if the *direction* of vorticity remains  $C^1$ , then no blow-up can occur. In other words, in order that a singularity occurs, the vorticity vector must change direction very quickly. We remark that if a singularity were to occur at a point where the vorticity vanishes for all  $t < T_*$  (as occurs in [65]), the direction of vorticity becomes discontinuous at the time of blow-up. If the vorticity is nowhere vanishing initially, it is possible that the criteria of [40] could be helpful in ruling out blow-up. See Question 5.

A natural question one could ask when discussing blow-up criteria is whether they are sharp. In fact, it is possible to show that the BKM criterion is actually sharp in several senses. In particular, if we have a solution with  $|\omega|_{L^{\infty}} \approx \frac{1}{T_* - t}$  as  $t \to T_*$ , then the BKM criterion is clearly borderline. This was done in setting of  $C^{1,\alpha}$  solutions in [65] and it is not difficult to deduce that the BKM criterion is actually *sharp* in the scale of  $L^p$ spaces for general  $C^{1,\alpha}$  solutions of the Euler equation. In other words, given  $p < \infty$ , there are classical  $C^{1,\alpha}$  solutions that remain bounded in  $L^p$  uniformly up to the blow-up time. This phenomenon is present in many of the basic models where we know finite-time singularity. This is not difficult to show in the 1D Burgers equation, for example. However, an interesting consequence of [33] and a direct calculation gives the following:

**Lemma 4.1.** If u is a smooth solution to the 1D Burgers equation:

$$u_t + uu_x = 0$$

Then, if u becomes singular at  $t = T_*$ , we have

$$\sup_{t\in[0,T_*)}\|u_x(t)\|_{L^{3/2}}=+\infty.$$

Note that there are smooth solutions to the Burgers equation that becomes singular so that  $||u_x||_{L^p} < \infty$  for any p < 3/2 uniformly up to the blow-up time.

We thus close the section on blow-up criteria with the following conjecture, the meaning of which is that any smooth Euler solution that becomes singular in finite time must do so with a minimal intensity. Ideally, one would hope that this conjecture can be established *without* a full resolution of the blow-up problem.

**Conjecture 5.** There exists a universal  $p_* < \infty$  so that if a smooth solution to the Euler equation  $\omega \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3 \times [0, T_*))$  becomes singular as  $t \to T_*$ , then

$$\sup_{t\in[0,T_*)}\|\omega(t)\|_{L^{p_*}}=+\infty.$$

**Remark 4.2.** If we are looking at  $C^{1,\alpha}$  solutions, necessarily  $p_*$  must depend on  $\alpha$  and  $p_*(\alpha) \to \infty$  as  $\alpha \to 0$ . See [67].

**4.1.2.** Lower-dimensional models: Advection and vortex stretching. Aside from proving bounds, understanding the *dynamics* of solutions of the Euler equation presents a significant challenge in any dimension. In dimension two, the vorticity is transported by the velocity field that is determined through the Biot–Savart law  $u = (-\Delta)^{-1} \nabla^{\perp} \omega$ . Because of the simple nature of transport, there are a number of special types of solutions

one can study to gain intuition about general solutions: one can consider point vortices, vortex sheets, vortex patches, etc. Such solutions allow us to visualize vortex motion in two dimensions. In three dimensions the situation is a bit more grim and our understanding is much weaker, the main difference being that vorticity is no longer transported but is now also "stretched":

$$\partial_t \omega + u \cdot \nabla \omega = \omega \cdot \nabla u. \tag{4.3}$$

A natural approach to understanding the vorticity equation is thus to simply understand the equation (4.3) in various settings, forgetting about the link between u and  $\omega$ . It turns out that a number of the classical models of the Euler equation such as the SQG equation [43] and other active scalar equations [123], the De Gregorio equation [50], and many others can be recast in the general form (4.3), the defining feature of the equation being the relationship between u and  $\omega$ . Even in one-dimensional renditions, the combination of transport *and* stretching is significantly richer than just transport.

Before discussing specific examples, it is important to remark that there can be no model that describes the dynamics of *all* solutions of the vorticity equation. At best, we should hope for a model that accurately describes the behavior of some solutions perhaps in a symmetry class or even more restrictive class. In fact, the more universal of a model we try to give, the less likely we are to understand it any better than we do the Euler equation itself. At the same time, there are a few guiding principles we can use to devise models that may be relevant to some Euler solutions:

- The vorticity is transported and stretched by the same velocity field *u*. It is not necessary that *u* should always be divergence-free since the model may only describe lower-dimensional dynamics.
- That the velocity field  $u = (-\Delta)^{-1} \nabla \times \omega$  is determined through an operator of degree -1 is important though it could be of even less degree depending on the scenario.
- The parity between u and  $\omega$  is important, but also may change depending on the scenario.

**4.1.3. General ideas.** We now discuss a little bit the general intuition behind the *linear* equation

$$\partial_t \omega + u \partial_x \omega = \omega \partial_x u, \tag{4.4}$$

where *u* is a given time-independent mean-zero function on  $S^1$ . Let  $x_0, x_1$  be two consecutive zeros of *u* and let us assume that u > 0 in  $(x_0, x_1)$ . while  $\partial_x(x_0) > 0$  and  $\partial_x u(x_1) < 0$ . Then, using a simple calculation, it is easy to show that smooth solutions of (4.4) in  $(x_0, x_1)$  can be written as:

$$\omega(x,t) = \omega(x_0,0)F_*(x,t) + \partial_x \omega(x_0,0)u(x) + \Omega(x,t),$$

where

$$\|\Omega\|_{L^2} \le C \exp(-ct)$$

and  $F_*(x, t)$  is just the solution of (4.4) with data  $\omega \equiv 1$  on  $[x_0, x_1]$ . Note that it is not difficult to see that  $F_*$  grows exponentially.

The above decomposition on  $(x_0, x_1)$  tells us that if u has only finitely many zeros that are all non-degenerate, the smooth solutions of (4.4) all approach a finite-dimensional family of solutions exponentially fast. The key to the proof is that  $\frac{\omega}{u}$  is transported and any smooth solution to the transport equation

$$\partial_t f + u \partial_x f = 0$$

vanishing initially at  $x_0$  will decay exponentially in  $L^2([x_0, x_1])$  as  $t \to \infty$ . What this means is that smooth solutions to (4.4) evolve almost completely based on the Taylor expansion of the data near the zeros of u: the constant part is magnified at stationary points where  $\partial_x u > 0$ , the first derivative term is preserved, and the higher order terms are dissipated. This (linear) behavior appears to be similar to what has been found even in the nonlinear case and it is tempting to conjecture that this behavior is "universal" even among nonlinear 1D vorticity equations, the main difference being that what happens in infinite time for the linear problem may happen in finite time in the nonlinear problem. We remark that the presence of advection is what leads to a relatively simple dynamics in (4.4). Without advection, the dynamics of the linear problem would be completely infinite-dimensional. Let us now discuss two simple nonlinear examples.

## 4.1.4. Examples and a conjecture. Consider the following projection operator

$$\mathbb{P}_1(f) = \sin(x) \int_{\mathbb{S}^1} f(x) \sin(x) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Now consider the nonlinear problem:

$$\partial_t \omega + u \partial_x \omega = \omega \partial_x u,$$

$$u = \mathbb{P}_1(\omega).$$
(4.5)

Interestingly, we can give a complete characterization of blow-up and global regularity in this problem. We may write:

$$u = \lambda(t)\sin(x), \qquad \lambda(t) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^1} \omega(x,t)\sin(x) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Thus, (4.5) becomes:

$$\partial_t \omega + \lambda(t) \sin(x) \partial_x \omega = \lambda(t) \cos(x) \omega$$

It follows that

$$\partial_t \left(\frac{\omega}{\sin(x)}\right) + \lambda(t)\sin(x)\partial_x \left(\frac{\omega}{\sin(x)}\right) = 0.$$

Thus, letting  $\dot{X}_t(a) = \lambda(t) \sin(X_t(a))$  with  $X_0(a) = a$ , we get that

$$\frac{\omega(X_t(a),t)}{\sin(X_t(a))} = \frac{\omega_0(x)}{\sin(x)}, \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \omega(x,t) = \omega_0 \left( X_t^{-1}(x), t \right) \frac{\sin(x)}{\sin(X_t^{-1}(x))}.$$

It follows that

$$\lambda(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \omega_0 \left( X_t^{-1}(x), t \right) \frac{\sin^2(x)}{\sin(X_t^{-1}(x))} \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Now let's solve for X. We get  $\frac{\dot{X}_t(a)}{\sin(X_t(a))} = \lambda(t)$ . If we let  $\Lambda(t) = \int_0^t \lambda(s) \, ds$  we get:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\log(\tan(X_t(a)/2)) = \lambda(t) \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \log\frac{\tan(x/2)}{\tan(X_t^{-1}(x)/2)} = \Lambda(t).$$

Thus, we obtain

$$X_t^{-1}(x) = 2 \arctan\left(e^{-\Lambda(t)} \tan(x/2)\right)$$

We now only need to consider

$$\Lambda'(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \omega_0 \left(2 \arctan\left(e^{-\Lambda(t)} \tan(x/2)\right)\right) \frac{\sin^2(x)}{\sin\left(2 \arctan\left(e^{-\Lambda(t)} \tan(x/2)\right)\right)} \, dx$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \omega_0 \left(2 \arctan\left(e^{-\Lambda(t)} \tan(x/2)\right)\right) \frac{e^{\Lambda(t)} \sin^2(x) \left(1 + e^{-2\Lambda(t)} \tan^2(x/2)\right)}{2 \arctan(x/2)}$$

Therefore we arrive at the expression:

$$\Lambda'(t) = \frac{e^{\Lambda(t)}}{4\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \omega_0(\dots) \frac{\sin^2(x)}{\tan(x/2)} \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{e^{-\Lambda(t)}}{4\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \omega_0(\dots) \sin^2(x) \tan(x/2) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Notice, however, that the functions  $\frac{\sin^2(x)}{\tan(x/2)}$  and  $\sin^2(x) \tan(x/2)$  are smooth  $2\pi$ -periodic functions with zero mean on  $[-\pi, \pi]$ . This is a key observation. It is now easy to see that if  $\omega_0 \in C^1$  we have global regularity. Indeed, in the first integral, we use the mean-zero property of  $\frac{\sin^2(x)}{\tan(x/2)}$  and we get:

$$\left|\omega_0\left(2\arctan\left(e^{-\Lambda(t)}\tan(x/2)\right)\right) - \omega_0(0)\right| \le C \left|\omega_0\right|_{C^1} e^{-\Lambda(t)}\tan(x/2).$$

Arguing similarly in the second integral (subtracting  $\omega_0(\pi)$  this time) we get that

$$|\Lambda'(t)| \le C \|\omega_0\|_{C^1},$$

for some universal constant *C*. This bound is sharp since  $\lambda(t) = \Lambda'(t)$  can be constant for all time. We arrive at the following theorem.

**Theorem 4.3.**  $C^1$  solutions to (4.5) are globally regular and  $\lambda(t)$  is uniformly bounded for all time in that case.

It is also clear from the above that we can construct  $\omega_0 \in C^{\alpha}$  for any  $\alpha < 1$  for which  $\Lambda(t)$  satisfies the bound:

$$\Lambda'(t) \ge c \exp((1-\alpha)\Lambda(t)).$$

This leads to a finite-time singularity and the following:

**Theorem 4.4.** For any  $\alpha < 1$  there are  $C^{\alpha}$  solutions to (4.5) that become singular in finite time.

It is interesting that the sharp regularity threshold is not  $C^1$  but is rather given by a (sharp) Osgood-type condition on the modulus of continuity of  $\omega_0$ . For example, even when  $\omega_0$  has a modulus of continuity like  $r | \log r |$  there is still global regularity.

**4.1.5.**  $\partial_x u = \mathbb{P}_1(\omega)$ . We now consider the problem

$$\partial_t \omega + u \partial_x \omega = \omega \partial_x u,$$

$$\partial_x u = \mathbb{P}_1(\omega).$$
(4.6)

This problem may seem to be a trivial modification of the preceding one since the system simply becomes (after a translation):

$$\partial_t \omega + \lambda(t) \sin(x) \partial_x \omega = \lambda(t) \cos(x) \omega,$$

where

$$\lambda(t) = \int_0^{2\pi} \omega(x, t) \cos(x) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

The strange fact is that smooth solutions to *this* problem now can develop a singularity in finite time. This issue is that the parity of the velocity is the *opposite* of the parity of the vorticity, in a sense. Indeed, for this problem we arrive at the equation:

$$\Lambda'(t) = \frac{e^{\Lambda(t)}}{4\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \omega_0 \left(2 \arctan\left(e^{-\Lambda(t)} \tan(x/2)\right)\right) \frac{\sin(x)\cos(x)}{\tan(x/2)} \, \mathrm{d}x \\ + \frac{e^{-\Lambda(t)}}{4\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \omega_0 \left(2 \arctan\left(e^{-\Lambda(t)} \tan(x/2)\right)\right) \sin(x)\cos(x)\tan(x/2) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

The key difference now is that  $\frac{\sin(x)\cos(x)}{\tan(x/2)}$  and  $\sin(x)\cos(x)\tan(x/2)$  are *not* mean-zero. The following theorem is an exercise.

**Theorem 4.5.** There exist analytic solutions to (4.6) on  $\mathbb{S}^1$  that blow up in finite time.

While the above models appear to be somewhat overly-simplified, we do gain some very important pieces of information about the dynamics of the general equation

$$\partial_t \omega + u \partial_x \omega = \omega \partial_x u,$$

with some functional relation between u and  $\omega$ . Generally speaking, the picture we get is that:

- Growth of vorticity is coming from the vortex stretching term  $\omega \partial_x u$ .
- The transport term depletes the growth.
- Whether the growth or depletion wins depends on the regularity of the solution *and* the parity of the mapping relating *u* and *ω*.

The above observations along with the existing results on various models of this type motivate us to make the following guess about the nature of solutions of the 1D vorticity equation for general Biot–Savart law  $\omega \rightarrow u$ . As we will discuss below, some aspects of the conjecture have already been established on a number of non-trivial models.

**Conjecture 6.** Consider the 1D vorticity equation on  $\mathbb{S}^1$ :

 $\partial_t \omega + u \partial_x \omega = \omega \partial_x u, \qquad u = \mathcal{K}(\omega),$ 

where  $\mathcal{K}$  is a non-trivial Fourier integral operator with bounded symbol *m* satisfying  $|m(k)| \leq \frac{C}{1+|k|}$ .

- In general,  $H^s$  solutions should develop singularities when s < 3/2.
- If m is odd, there exist analytic solutions that become singular in finite time.
- If m is even,  $H^s$  solutions must be global whenever s > 3/2.

We have written the bullet points of the conjecture in order of perceived difficulty. Note that the two models we discussed above exhibit exactly the behavior described in the above conjecture.

**Remark 4.6.** It is important to emphasize that the spatial domain in the above conjecture is  $\mathbb{S}^1$ . When the spatial domain has a boundary such as the case of domains like [a, b], the results of the conjecture do not necessarily hold. In particular, there may be singularities no matter the parity of m – see [166] as an example.

Let us now move to discuss several of the existing results on non-trivial models that seem to support the above conjecture.

**4.1.6.** Overview of results on 1D models of the vorticity equation. As mentioned above, the first 1D model of the vorticity equation that we are aware of is the model of Constantin, Lax, and Majda [42], where only the effect of vortex stretching is studied. A related model is the De Gregorio model:

$$\partial_t \omega + u \partial_x \omega = \omega \partial_x u,$$
  
 $\partial_x u = H(\omega),$  (4.7)

where *H* is the Hilbert transform defined on  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  by:

$$H(f)(x) = \frac{1}{\pi} P.V. \int \frac{f(y)}{x - y} \,\mathrm{d}y.$$

Alternatively, we can write:

$$\mathcal{F}(Hf)(\xi) = -i\operatorname{sgn}(\xi)\mathcal{F}(f)(\xi),$$

where  $\mathcal{F}$  is the Fourier transform. The choice of *H* in (4.7) is due to the desire to have the relation between  $\partial_x u$  and  $\omega$  to be translation invariant, zeroth order, and truly a singular

integral operator (as opposed to just the identity on the right-hand side, for example). Numerical computations of De Gregorio himself [50] indicated that solutions to his equation may be global, but major theoretical advances in this direction were only made just a few years ago. Since the symbol relating u and  $\omega$  in (4.7) is even, Conjecture 6 indicates that solutions to the De Gregorio model with high smoothness should be globally regular while low regularity solutions should become singular. All of the recent advances in the study of the De Gregorio equation have confirmed these predictions.

In the direction of singularity formation for low regularity data, advances were made in [72] where self-similar blow-up profiles were constructed via perturbative methods. These blow-up profiles were studied further in the works [68] and [27] where asymptotic stability was also established. In the very recent work [25], J. Chen proved the first bullet point in Conjecture 6 for the De Gregorio model using a different type of perturbative method that perturbs a steady state to construct a blow-up profile with smoothness  $C^{1-\varepsilon}$ . In the direction of global regularity, the authors of [111] observed a very interesting mechanism for asymptotic stability of steady states in the De Gregorio model and gave the first results on global regularity for non-trivial solutions. Thereafter, it was shown that non-negative regular solutions are global [134]. Most recently, this was extended to signchanging solutions under some symmetry hypotheses [25].

Let us close by remarking that there are several other 1D models of fluid problems related to 3D Euler [30, 32, 57, 101, 123, 127]. While these models are not models of the vorticity equation *per se*, they tend to exhibit several similar features to the models we described above. One important example that satisfies the assumptions and conclusions of Conjecture 6 is the equation:

$$\partial_t \omega + u \partial_x \omega = \omega \partial_x u, \qquad \partial_{xx} u = \omega.$$

See [166] for more details.

**4.1.7.** Symmetry reductions and special ansatzes. A natural first step to understand the dynamics of real solutions to the Euler equation is to consider solutions in symmetry. The solution map for the Euler equation enjoys a number of important symmetry properties. In particular, whenever u is a solution,  $\lambda$ ,  $\tau > 0$  are constants, and  $\mathcal{O}$  satisfies  $\mathcal{OO}^t = I$ , we have that

$$\frac{1}{\lambda}u(\lambda x,t), \qquad \mathcal{O}^t u(\mathcal{O}x,t), \qquad \tau u(x,\tau t),$$

are automatically solutions. It follows that solutions belonging to an existence and uniqueness class must retain symmetries of the above type. Up to now, there are three principle types of symmetries:

- rotationally symmetric and reflection symmetric solutions;
- scale-invariant solutions;
- self-similar solutions.

There are also solutions that are a combination of various symmetries. For example, helically symmetric solutions [79] are obtained through a combination of the translation and rotation symmetries.

**4.1.8. Rotation and reflection symmetries.** Rotation and reflection symmetries are helpful to reduce the complexity of the Euler equation. A particular example is the axi-symmetry assumption. We let

$$r = \left(x_1^2 + x_2^2\right)^{1/2}.$$

**Definition 4.7.** A velocity field u is said to be axi-symmetric (with respect to  $x_3$ ) if for all rotation matrices  $\mathcal{O}$  fixing the  $x_3$  axis we have:

$$u(\mathcal{O}x) = \mathcal{O}u(x).$$

This immediately implies that  $u_3$  is a function of r and  $x_3$  only. Moreover, expanding  $u_h = (u_1, u_2)$  in a Fourier series in  $\theta = \arctan \frac{x_2}{x_1}$ , we see that

$$u_h(r, x_3, \theta) = \sum_k u_h^k(r, x_3) \exp(ik\theta).$$

Thus, we have that

$$\sum_{k} u_{h}^{k}(r, x_{3}) \exp(ik(\theta + \alpha)) = \exp(i\alpha) \sum_{k} u_{h}^{k}(r, x_{3}) \exp(ik\theta)$$

for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ . It follows that  $u_h^k \neq 0$  if and only if k = 1. We have established the following lemma.

**Lemma 4.8.** Any  $L^2$  axi-symmetric velocity field can be written as:

 $u = u_r(r, x_3)e_r + u_{\theta}(r, x_3)e_{\theta} + u_3(r, x_3)e_3,$ 

where  $e_r = \frac{1}{r}(x_1, x_2, 0), e_\theta = \frac{1}{r}(-x_2, x_1, 0), and e_3 = (0, 0, 1).$ 

Now via some simple identities,<sup>19</sup> we find that axi-symmetric solutions of the 3D Euler equation satisfy a simplified equation.

**Corollary 4.9.** Axi-symmetric solutions  $u(\cdot, t)$  of the Euler equation satisfy

$$\partial_t v + v \cdot \nabla v + \nabla p = \left(\frac{(u_\theta)^2}{r}, 0\right),$$
(4.8)

$$\nabla \cdot (rv) = 0, \tag{4.9}$$

$$\partial_t (r u_\theta) + v \cdot \nabla (r u_\theta) = 0, \tag{4.10}$$

where  $v = (u_r, u_3)$  and  $\nabla = (\partial_r, \partial_3)$ .

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{{}^{19}e_r \cdot \nabla = \partial_r, e_\theta \cdot \nabla = \partial_\theta, e_3 \cdot \nabla = \partial_3}, \text{ while } \partial_i e_r = \partial_i e_\theta = \partial_i e_3 = 0, \text{ for } i \in \{r, 3\}, \text{ and } \partial_\theta e_r = e_\theta, \partial_\theta e_\theta = -e_r, \partial_\theta e_3 = 0.$ 

Even though axi-symmetric solutions are governed by a system of two evolution equations in two spatial variables  $(r, x_3)$ , the qualitative behavior of solutions remains largely open. As we shall see below, even in the case where  $u_{\theta} \equiv 0$  we are able to make highly non-trivial statements about the dynamics.

**4.1.9.** Scale-invariant solutions. We now move to discuss scale-invariant solutions. We start with a formal definition of scale invariance, where the "scale" we choose is obviously motivated by the Euler equation.

**Definition 4.10** (Scale invariance). A velocity field *u* is said to be scale-invariant if for every  $\lambda > 0$  we have that

$$u(\lambda x) = \lambda u(x).$$

Observe that this level of homogeneity is the only one that could possibly be propagated by solutions except perhaps in trivial situations. Surprisingly, these solutions seem to have only been discovered and analyzed in recent years [64, 66, 69, 70, 73]. One reason appears to be that such solutions are automatically linearly growing at spatial infinity and are not smooth except in special situations or possibly in domains that exclude the origin. We remark that it is an interesting problem to classify those solutions that satisfy the no-penetration boundary condition on annular domains in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , though it is known that there is a large number of non-trivial solutions of this type. Let us remark here that the assumption of scale invariance essentially reduces the complexity of full 3D solutions to essentially a 2D problem. If it were also possible to combine this with another symmetry like axi-symmetry, then we would have reduced the problem to a one-dimensional one that would be more amenable to analysis.

The key difficulty in analyzing scale-invariant solutions is to define the pressure in the Euler equation:

$$\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u + \nabla p = 0.$$

In particular, to restrict the Euler equation to scale-invariant solutions we would need to show that if u is scale-invariant then  $\nabla p$  is scale-invariant, where p is determined by:

$$-\Delta p = \operatorname{div}(u \cdot \nabla u). \tag{4.11}$$

In terms of scaling, it would seem that if u were scale-invariant, then the right-hand side of (4.11) is 0-homogeneous spatially so that the solution p should be 2-homogeneous. If this "scaling counting" were rigorous, then we would have no trouble to directly analyze scale-invariant solutions. Unfortunately, when it comes to the Poisson equation, integer homogeneity counting is in general false and there need to be logarithmic corrections. In particular, there exist u that are scale-invariant for which *any* solution to (4.11) grows like  $|x|^2 \log |x|$  when  $|x| \to \infty$ . The extra logarithm can be viewed as a "resonance" due to the harmonic polynomials of degree two. In particular, the scaling problem can be solved by imposing further restrictions on u that ensure that this resonance does not occur. To make this precise, let us first make some definitions. First we define

$$\mathcal{H}_2 = \left\{ \frac{P(x)}{|x|^2} : P \text{ is a harmonic polynomial of degree 2} \right\}.$$

**Definition 4.11.** A function  $f: \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \to \mathbb{R}$  is said to belong to  $\mathcal{H}_2^{\perp}$  if

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} f(\sigma) h(\sigma) d\sigma = 0,$$

for all  $h \in \mathcal{H}_2$ .

The following lemma was established in [73] in the case d = 2, though the proof carries over word by word to general  $d \ge 2$ .

**Lemma 4.12.** Let  $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and that  $f(r, \cdot) \in \mathcal{H}_2^{\perp}$  for all  $r \in [0, \infty)$ . Then, there exists a unique  $\psi \in W_{loc}^{2,p}$  for all  $p < \infty$  with

$$\Delta \psi = f$$

 $|\psi(x)| \leq C |x|^2$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and with  $\psi(r, \cdot) \in \mathcal{H}_2^{\perp}$  for all  $r \in [0, \infty)$ .

An important corollary of this lemma is the following:

**Corollary 4.13.** Given a 0-homogeneous function  $f \in \mathcal{H}_2^{\perp}$ , there is a unique 2-homogeneous function  $\psi \in \mathcal{H}_2^{\perp}$  solving

$$\Delta \psi = f$$

From the above, it is natural to conjecture that we can give a sense to scale-invariant solutions as long as the right-hand side of (4.11) belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_2^{\perp}$  automatically. It does not seem that  $\mathcal{H}_2^{\perp}$  itself is an invariant set for the solution map; however, using considering solutions that also satisfy rotational and/or reflection symmetries, we can force the solutions we consider to be under the domain of applicability of Corollary 4.13. In two dimensions, there is a very nice analogue of the Yudovich theory that allows for the analysis of scale-invariant solutions.

**Theorem 4.14.** ([73]) Given an initial vorticity  $\omega_0 \in L^{\infty}$  that is m-fold symmetric for some  $m \geq 3$ , there exists a unique  $L^{\infty}$  and m-fold symmetric solution to the 2D Euler equation.

A corollary of this theorem is that every scale-invariant initial data that is  $\frac{2\pi}{m}$ -periodic in  $\theta$  on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  gives rise to a unique scale-invariant solution. In vorticity form, the equation takes the form of an active scalar equation on  $\mathbb{S}^1$ :

$$\partial_t g + 2G \partial_\theta g = 0,$$
 (4.12)  
 $4G + \partial_{\theta\theta} G = g.$ 

This equation is globally well-posed in  $L^{\infty}$ . Though some aspects of the long-time behavior of solutions of (4.12), the long-time dynamics is not yet resolved.

**Problem 5.** Establish generic infinite-time singularity formation and convergence to compact orbits for smooth solutions to (4.12) in the infinite-time limit.

When  $d \ge 3$ , there does not seem to be any analogue of Theorem 4.14 due to issues of ill-posedness [76]. However, if we add a bit of regularity we can still give a sense to scale-invariant solutions. To do this, we need to make two definitions, the first describing admissible symmetry classes and the second regarding regularity.

**Definition 4.15.** A collection  $\mathcal{M}$  of orthogonal matrices is said to be an *admissible* symmetry class if whenever  $u \in C^{\infty}$  is  $\mathcal{M}$ -invariant, we have that

$$\operatorname{div}(u \cdot \nabla u) \in \mathcal{H}_2^{\perp}$$

on every sphere centered at the origin.

**Definition 4.16.** Given  $0 \le \alpha \le 1$ , a function  $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is said to belong to  $\mathring{C}^{0,\alpha}$  if

$$|f|_{\mathring{C}^{0,\alpha}} := \sup_{x \neq y} \frac{\left| |x|^{\alpha} f(x) - |y|^{\alpha} f(y) \right|}{|x - y|^{\alpha}} < \infty.$$

Now the main theorem in this direction is the following:

**Theorem 4.17.** Fix  $0 < \alpha < 1$  and an admissible symmetry class  $\mathcal{M}$ . Then, the Euler equation is locally well-posed in the class of velocity fields u that are  $\mathcal{M}$ -invariant with  $\nabla u \in \mathring{C}^{0,\alpha}$ .

**Remark 4.18.** The interested reader can look at the thesis of I. Jeong [110] and the papers [64, 69, 70, 73].

As we have already remarked, the utility of this theorem is that scale-invariant solutions will satisfy a lower-dimensional equation, which should be easier to analyze. This gives an interesting approach to the blow-up problem that yielded the first examples of blow-up for finite-energy strong solutions to the 3D Euler equation [69, 70, 74]. We must remark, however, that there remain numerous interesting problems in this direction. An important one is:

**Problem 6.** Does there exist a scale-invariant solution with  $\nabla u \in \mathring{C}^{\infty}$  belonging to an admissible symmetry class that develops a singularity in finite time?

Here, the space  $\mathring{C}^{\infty}$  (as defined in [70]) is the space of functions  $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\})$  for which  $|x|^k D^k f$  is bounded for all k = 0, 1, 2, ...

**4.1.10. Self-similar solutions.** Another type of solution that is more amenable to analysis than full time-dependent 3D solutions are self-similar solutions. In vorticity form, these are solutions of the form:

$$\omega(x,t) = \frac{1}{T_* - t} \Omega\left(\frac{x}{(T_* - t)^{\lambda}}\right),$$

where  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ . We remark that the power of 1 on the coefficient  $\frac{1}{T_{*}-t}$  is the only selfconsistent one, as can be readily checked. The value of  $\lambda$  is free and there may be different "branches" of self-similar solutions for different values of  $\lambda$ . There are a few important ideas to keep in mind when studying self-similar solutions:

- $\lambda > 0$  corresponds to a concentrating profile in which the singularity occurs only at the origin at  $t = T_*$ .  $\lambda < 0$  corresponds to an expanding profile in which the singularity occurs everywhere  $t = T_*$ . The fact that the time-dependent solution looks like it is "expanding" or "contracting" does not violate the divergence-free condition.
- It should not be expected that there are self-similar solutions where Ω decays fast. In fact, the decay of Ω *should* be precisely |x|<sup>-λ</sup> when λ > 0. Indeed, the profile would satisfy an equation of the form:

$$\Omega + \lambda z \cdot \nabla_z \Omega = B(\Omega, \Omega),$$

where *B* is bilinear. Thus, if a decaying solution exists, it must be such that  $\Omega + \lambda z \cdot \nabla_z \Omega$  decays *faster* than  $\Omega$  itself. Under some quite soft assumptions, this implies that the profile decays precisely like  $|x|^{-\lambda}$ . We do not make this precise (and it may not be true in full generality since  $\Omega$  may oscillate at spatial infinity), but see [72] for example for some settings where this is made precise.

Even though self-similar solutions will decay slowly and will have infinite energy in general, if we have a self-similar solution with λ > 0, it is likely that there do exist finite-energy solutions nearby that behave asymptotically self-similar near the blow-up time. This even be the case when the solution is "unstable" since the instability generically would be only finite-dimensional.

Until the recent work [65], it was not known whether self-similar solutions to the 3D Euler equation exist and a complete theory remains elusive. What is clear is that their analysis is the most promising one available to attack the singularity problem in general. It is important to emphasize that self-similar solutions are not only useful for the blow-up problem, but also for numerous other problems related to non-trivial dynamics of solutions [2, 78, 194]. Note that there are several interesting no blow-up results under various assumptions on self-similar or nearly self-similar blow-ups (see [21–23]).

### 4.2. Taming the non-local effects

We now move to discuss the issue of finite-time singularity for the actual 3D Euler equation, where we recall it in vorticity form:

$$\partial_t \omega + u \cdot \nabla \omega = \omega \cdot \nabla u,$$

$$u = \nabla \times (-\Delta)^{-1} \omega.$$
(4.13)

Though this problem looks significantly more difficult than the corresponding onedimensional equations we discussed before, we can still build quite a bit of intuition from the one-dimensional problems. For the benefit of the reader, we repeat some of these ideas:

- Growth tends to occur near a stagnation point where  $\nabla u$  has a positive eigenvalue.
- The transport term will deplete the growth though this depletion can be overcome when the vorticity is non-smooth in the expanding direction of *u*, in the presence of a physical boundary, *or* for smooth vorticity without a boundary when parity allows.

In the coming pages we will describe the simplest setting in which the above principles, coupled with a deeper understanding of the Biot–Savart law

$$u = \nabla \times (-\Delta)^{-1} \omega$$

can be successfully applied to give a singularity for "strong" and "classical" solutions of (4.13). We will also discuss the limitations of the constructions in those settings to achieve a singularity for smooth data without boundary and move on to discuss one avenue to get a smooth blow-up solution.

**4.2.1.** A first look at non-locality. The non-local nature of incompressible fluids is captured in the pressure term in the velocity formulation and in the Biot–Savart law in the vorticity formulation. In both cases, the non-local operator involved is the solution to

$$\Delta \psi = f.$$

Let us make precise the meaning of this non-locality through the trivial observation that the Taylor expansion of f at 0 does not determine the Taylor expansion for  $\psi$ at 0. To be more precise, the terms in the Taylor expansion of  $\psi$  corresponding to Harmonic polynomials are determined by the global behavior of f while the other terms only depend on f locally. We have already alluded to this in the discussion around Corollary 4.13. In fact, as can be expected, the presence of these harmonic polynomials in the Taylor expansion of f leads to a type of resonance that yields a logarithmic correction. The above considerations hint at a decomposition of the following type:

$$\Delta^{-1} = \mathcal{S} + \mathcal{R},$$

where S is a singular part coming only from projection to certain the spherical harmonics and a more regular part  $\mathcal{R}$ .

We will start with some examples.

**4.2.2. Examples illustrating the behavior on**  $L^{\infty}$ . We start with some examples illustrating the behavior of solutions of  $\Delta \psi = f$ .

Radial case. Observe that if

$$\psi(x) = |x|^{\beta},$$

then

$$\Delta \psi = \left(\partial_{rr} + \frac{1}{r}\partial_r\right) (r^{\beta}) = \beta^2 |x|^{\beta-2}.$$

Thus, up to a harmonic part, the solution to

 $\Delta \psi = |x|^{-\gamma}$ 

is

$$\psi = \frac{1}{(2-\gamma)^2} |x|^{2-\gamma},$$

and we are interested in the case  $\gamma \rightarrow 0$ . Thus we see that:

$$|D^2\psi| \le C|x|^{-\gamma},$$

for C independent of  $\gamma$  as  $\gamma \to 0$ . It is in fact possible to show that  $\mathcal{K}$  restricted to radial functions is bounded on  $L^p$  *independent* of p and, in particular, on  $L^{\infty}$ .

**General homogeneous vorticity.** Now we look at more general negative homogeneous data:

$$\psi(r,\theta) = r^{\beta}m(\theta),$$

where we leave m free for now. Then we see that

$$\Delta \psi(r,\theta) = \left(\partial_{rr} + \frac{1}{r}\partial_r + \frac{1}{r^2}\partial_{\theta\theta}\right)\psi = \left(\beta^2 m(\theta) + m''(\theta)\right)r^{\beta-2}.$$

At the same time,

$$|D^2\psi| \approx (|m| + |m'| + |m''|)r^{\beta-2}$$

Thus, singular behavior occurs only when we have

$$|\beta^2 m + m''| \ll |m| + |m'| + |m''|.$$

This only occurs when:  $\beta$  is, or is very close to, some  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and when  $\beta^2 m(\theta) + m''$  is very small. For example,

$$\psi(r,\theta) = r^{\beta} \sin(2\theta),$$

and  $\beta$  close to 2 gives:

$$\Delta \psi(r,\theta) = (4 - \beta^2) \sin(2\theta) r^{2-\beta}.$$

Thus, as  $\beta \to 2$ , we see that  $|D^2\psi| = O(1)$  but  $\Delta \psi = O(2-\beta)$ .

**4.2.3. Expansion of the Biot–Savart law.** We now place the preceding calculations in their proper context. The first is through a lemma about the Taylor expansion of  $\psi$  and can be seen as a pointwise estimate and the second is in an  $L^2$  context.

# 4.2.4. Pointwise estimates.

**Lemma 4.19.** Let  $\mathbb{P}_2$  be the orthogonal projection on  $L^2(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})$  to the spherical harmonics of order 2. Assume that  $\Delta \psi = f$ . Then,

$$\left|\psi(x)-\psi(0)-x\cdot\nabla\psi(0)-|x|^2\int_{|x|}^{\infty}\frac{\mathbb{P}_2f(\rho,\sigma)}{\rho}\,\mathrm{d}\rho\right|\leq C|f|_{L^{\infty}}|x|^2,$$

where C = C(d) is a dimensional constant.

**Remark 4.20.** This lemma may be stated similarly at higher orders of the Taylor expansion of  $\psi$ . A proof can be found in [75] in the case d = 2, the general case being similar. Note also that the corresponding expansion for  $\nabla \psi$  holds (again with a bound on  $|f|_{L^{\infty}}$  only). This can be seen as a generalization of the key lemma of [126].

Observe that the term

$$L(f) := \int_{|x|}^{\infty} \frac{\mathbb{P}_2 f(\rho, \sigma)}{\rho} \,\mathrm{d}\rho$$

could be unbounded, even if f is bounded. As we have remarked, a version of this lemma was used in [126] to establish double exponential growth for the gradient of some solutions of 2D Euler in domains with boundary. An important open problem is to study domains without boundary and it is tempting to try to use the above lemma to give a simplified model to determine whether double exponential growth occurs without boundary. Toward this end, we may consider the model (written in polar coordinates):

$$\partial_t \omega + \frac{1}{r} (\partial_\theta \psi \partial_r \omega - \partial_r \psi \partial_\theta \omega) = 0, \qquad \psi(r, \theta) = r^2 \int_r^\infty \frac{\mathbb{P}_2(\omega)(\rho, \theta)}{\rho} \,\mathrm{d}\rho. \quad (4.14)$$

**Problem 7.** Determine whether a smooth compactly supported solution to (4.14) on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  can have  $\nabla \omega$  grow double exponentially.

**Remark 4.21.** In the model we have only retained the "singular part" of the streamfunction  $\psi$  near r = 0. It is natural to believe that the answer to the question above should be the same for 2D Euler, though it is not clear how to pass from one to the other.

**4.2.5.**  $L^2$  based estimates. We now move to understand the above expansion in an  $L^2$  context that also allows us to give an expansion for  $D^2 \Delta^{-1}$  rather than just  $\Delta^{-1}$  or  $\nabla \Delta^{-1}$ . We consider  $\Delta \psi = f$ , where we take f to be of the form

$$f(r,\theta) = \Omega(R,\theta),$$

where

$$R = r^{\alpha}$$

and  $\alpha > 0$  is *small*. Note that even if  $\Omega$  is smooth,  $\omega$  will generally only be  $C^{\alpha}$  in space (though it may be  $C^{\infty}$  away from the origin). So, we want to study the solution  $\psi$  of  $\Delta \psi = f$ , which in polar coordinates reads

$$\partial_{rr}\psi + \frac{1}{r}\partial_{r}\psi + \frac{1}{r^{2}}\partial_{\theta\theta}\psi = f.$$

Now let us make the above changes:

$$\psi(r,\theta) = r^2 \Psi(R^{\alpha},\theta), \qquad \omega(r,\theta) = \Omega(R,\theta).$$

Thus,

$$\alpha^2 R^2 \partial_{RR} \Psi + (4\alpha + \alpha^2) R \partial_R \Psi + 4\Psi + \partial_{\theta\theta} \Psi = \Omega.$$
(4.15)

**4.2.6. The regular part.** We begin with a discussion of the regular part of  $D^2 \Delta^{-1}$  as it acts on  $\Omega$ .

Theorem 4.22. Assume that

$$\int_0^{2\pi} \Omega(R,\theta) \exp(in\theta) d\theta = 0,$$

for all R and for n = 0, 1, 2. Then, given  $\Omega \in H^s$ , there is a unique solution to (4.15) satisfying

$$\alpha^2 |R^2 \partial_{RR} \Psi|_{H^s} + \alpha |R \partial_R \Psi|_{H^s} + |\partial_{\theta\theta} \Psi|_{H^s} \le C_s |\Omega|_{H^s}$$

with the constant  $C_s$  independent of  $\alpha$ .

*Proof.* We will only prove the  $L^2$  estimate. The case  $s \ge 1$  is easier after that. First, observe that  $\Psi$  also satisfies the orthogonality conditions. Indeed, if we define

$$\Psi_n(R) = (\Psi(R,\theta), \exp(in\theta))_{L^2_{\theta}}.$$

We see that

$$\alpha^2 R^2 \partial_{RR} \Psi_n + (4\alpha + \alpha^2) R \partial_R \Psi_n + (4 - n^2) \Psi_n = 0.$$

Consequently,

$$\Psi_n(R) = c_{1,n} R^{\lambda_1} + c_{2,n} R^{\lambda_2},$$

where  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2$  are the roots of

$$\alpha^2 \lambda (\lambda - 1) + (4\alpha + \alpha^2)\lambda + (4 - n^2) = 0,$$

which is reduces to  $\alpha^2 \lambda^2 + 4\alpha \lambda + (4 - n^2) = 0$ . Thus,

$$\lambda = \frac{-2 \pm n}{\alpha}.$$

It is then easy to see that since we want  $\Psi \in L^2$ , we need  $\Psi_n \equiv 0$  for n = 0, 1, 2. Now coming back to the  $L^2$  estimates, take

$$\alpha^2 R^2 \partial_{RR} \Psi + (4\alpha + \alpha^2) R \partial_R \Psi + 4\Psi + \partial_{\theta\theta} \Psi = \Omega,$$

multiply by  $\partial_{\theta\theta} \Psi$ , and integrate. Then we see:

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_{\theta\theta}\Psi|_{L^{2}}^{2} - 4|\partial_{\theta}\Psi|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \int \alpha^{2}R^{2}\partial_{RR}\Psi\partial_{\theta\theta}\Psi + (4\alpha + \alpha^{2})\int R\partial_{R}\Psi\partial_{\theta\theta}\Psi \\ &\leq |\Omega|_{L^{2}}|\partial_{\theta\theta}\Psi|_{L^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

The crucial point is that because of the orthogonality condition, we have that

$$|\partial_{\theta}\Psi|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{9}|\partial_{\theta\theta}\Psi|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

Moreover,

$$(4\alpha + \alpha^2) \int R \partial_R \Psi \partial_{\theta\theta} \Psi = -(4\alpha + \alpha^2) \int R \partial_R \partial_\theta \Psi \partial_\theta \Psi = \frac{4\alpha + \alpha^2}{2} \int (\partial_\theta \Psi)^2.$$

Additionally,

$$\int \alpha^2 R^2 \partial_{RR} \Psi \partial_{\theta\theta} \Psi = -\alpha^2 \int R^2 \partial_{RR\theta} \Psi \partial_{\theta} \Psi = \alpha^2 \int R^2 |\partial_{R\theta} \Psi|^2 + 2\alpha^2 \int R \partial_{R\theta} \Psi \partial_{\theta} \Psi$$
$$= \alpha^2 \int R^2 |\partial_{R\theta} \Psi|^2 - \alpha^2 \int (\partial_{\theta} \Psi)^2.$$

Thus we get:

$$\frac{1}{2}|\partial_{\theta\theta}\Psi|_{L^2}^2 + \alpha^2 \int R^2 |\partial_{R\theta}\Psi|^2 + \frac{4\alpha - \alpha^2}{2} \int (\partial_{\theta}\Psi)^2 \le |\Omega|_{L^2} |\partial_{\theta\theta}\Psi|_{L^2}.$$

To prove the rest, multiply by  $R^2 \partial_{RR} \Psi$  and integrate. This is left as an exercise.

**4.2.7. The singular part.** Obviously, the singular part must come from functions which are *not* orthogonal to  $\exp(in\theta)$  for some  $n \in \{0, 1, 2\}$ :

$$\alpha^2 R^2 \partial_{RR} \Psi + (4\alpha + \alpha^2) R \partial_R \Psi + 4\Psi + \partial_{\theta\theta} \Psi = \Omega.$$

**Theorem 4.23.** Assume that

$$\Omega(R,\theta) = F(R)\exp(2i\theta)$$

and that  $F \in L^2$ . Then, the unique solution to (4.15) with  $\Psi \in L^2$  is

$$\Psi(R,\theta) = \frac{1}{4\alpha} L(F)(R) \exp(2i\theta) + \mathcal{R}(F),$$

where

$$L(F)(R) = \int_{R}^{\infty} \frac{F(s)}{s} \, \mathrm{d}s$$

and  $\|\mathcal{R}\|_{H^s \to H^s} \leq C_s$  independent of  $\alpha$ .

*Proof.* As in the proof above, we can write:

$$\Psi(R,\theta) = G(R)\exp(2i\theta)$$

so that G satisfies:

$$\alpha^2 R^2 G''(R) + (4\alpha + \alpha^2) R G'(R) = F(R).$$

Now we just have to solve this ODE. Observe that

$$G'' + \frac{4+\alpha}{\alpha R}G'(R) = \frac{F}{\alpha^2 R^2}$$

It follows that  $(G'R^{\frac{4+\alpha}{\alpha}})' = R^{\frac{4+\alpha}{\alpha}}\frac{F}{\alpha^2 R^2}$  and thus

$$G'(R) = R^{-\frac{4+\alpha}{\alpha}} \int_0^R s^{\frac{4+\alpha}{\alpha}} \frac{F(s)}{\alpha^2 s^2} \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Integrating, we find

$$\begin{split} G(R) &= \int_R^\infty \tau^{-\frac{4+\alpha}{\alpha}} \int_0^\tau s^{\frac{4+\alpha}{\alpha}} \frac{F(s)}{\alpha^2 s^2} \, \mathrm{d}s = -\int_R^\infty \frac{\alpha}{4} \frac{d}{d\tau} \tau^{-\frac{4}{\alpha}} \int_0^\tau s^{\frac{4+\alpha}{\alpha}} \frac{F(s)}{\alpha^2 s^2} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{1}{4\alpha} \int_R^\infty \frac{F(s)}{s} \, \mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{4\alpha} R^{-\frac{4}{\alpha}} \int_0^R s^{\frac{4}{\alpha}} \frac{F(s)}{s} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &=: \frac{1}{4\alpha} L(F) + \mathcal{R}(F). \end{split}$$

**Lemma 4.24.** There is a constant *C* independent of  $0 \le \alpha \le 1$  so that

$$|\mathcal{R}(F)|_{L^2} \le C |F|_{L^2}.$$

In Lemma 4.24, we can take C = 1/56.

Proof. The proof is similar to the proof of the Hardy inequality.

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathcal{R}(F)F &= \frac{1}{4\alpha} \int_{0}^{\infty} F(R)R^{-\frac{4}{\alpha}} \int_{0}^{R} s^{\frac{4}{\alpha}} \frac{F(s)}{s} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{1}{4\alpha} \int_{0}^{\infty} R^{-\frac{8}{\alpha}+1} R^{4/\alpha} \frac{F(R)}{R} \int_{0}^{R} s^{4/\alpha} \frac{F(s)}{s} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{1}{8\alpha} \int_{0}^{\infty} R^{-\frac{8}{\alpha}+1} \frac{d}{dR} \Big( \int_{0}^{R} s^{4/\alpha} \frac{F(s)}{s} \, \mathrm{d}s \Big)^{2} \\ &= \frac{1}{8\alpha} \Big( \frac{8}{\alpha} - 1 \Big) \int_{0}^{\infty} R^{-8/\alpha} \Big( \int_{0}^{R} s^{4/\alpha} \frac{F(s)}{s} \, \mathrm{d}s \Big)^{2} = \frac{64\alpha^{2}(8-\alpha)}{8\alpha^{2}} |\mathcal{R}(F)|_{L^{2}}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Thus, we obtain  $|\mathcal{R}(F)|_{L^2} \leq \frac{1}{8(8-\alpha)}|F|_{L^2}$ .

**4.2.8.** Discussion. We showed above two senses in which we can see that for merely bounded or almost merely bounded f (like  $C^{\alpha}$  for small  $\alpha$ ), the leading order behavior of the solution of  $\Delta \psi = f$  is given by:

$$\psi\left(|x|, \frac{x}{|x|}\right) \approx |x|^2 \int_{|x|}^{\infty} \frac{\mathbb{P}_2(f)(\rho, \frac{x}{|x|})}{\rho} \,\mathrm{d}\rho.$$

As we have remarked several times, similar expansions can be done at higher order and it would be interesting to see in what sense these higher expansions can lead to higher order singular expansions in higher regularity spaces. We now move to discuss stable selfsimilar blow-up in a general context before applying these ideas to the Euler equation.

## 4.3. Self-similar singularity

In the preceding section, we were able to show that under a certain change of variables (i.e., by looking at the correct type of functions), we can re-write the Euler equation as follows:

$$\partial_t \omega + u \cdot \nabla \omega = \nabla u \omega,$$
  
 $u = \frac{1}{\alpha} u_{\mathcal{S}} + u_{\mathcal{R}}$ 

for  $\alpha$  small. In particular, by scaling time by  $\alpha$ , we see that

$$\partial_t \omega + u_{\mathcal{S}} \cdot \nabla \omega = \nabla u_{\mathcal{S}} \omega + \alpha N(u_{\mathcal{R}}, \omega),$$

where  $u_s$  has a very simple angular dependence and can be thought of as a function of one variable (the radial variable). Thus, for the problem when  $\alpha = 0$ , there is some hope to actually establish a finite-time singularity. We now want to discuss, on toy examples, what kind of techniques one could use to pass from a blow-up when  $\alpha = 0$  to a blow-up for  $\alpha > 0$ . We will discuss two techniques to approach this problem: the *fixed point method* and *compactness method*.

**4.3.1. Fixed point method.** For an example of the fixed point approach that led to a great deal of work in this direction see [72]. Consider the following problem for  $(x, t) \in [0, \infty) \times [0, \infty)$ :

$$\partial_t f = f^2 + \varepsilon N(f),$$

where N could be a functional satisfying the following properties:

$$N(af) = a^2 N(f), \qquad N(f(a \cdot)) = N(f)(a \cdot).$$

for  $a \in \mathbb{R}$ . Let us also assume that N is a bounded operator, for example, on  $H^k$  for some  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ .

The case  $\varepsilon = 0$ . When  $\varepsilon = 0$ , we have  $\partial_t f = f^2$ . This has many self-similar profiles:

$$f(x,t) = \frac{1}{1-t} F\left(\frac{x}{1-t}\right),$$

where the F are solutions to

$$F + z\partial_z F = F^2.$$

From this, it is easy to see that  $F \equiv 1$  is a solution (though this is quite unstable). The stable solution is:

$$F_0(z) = \frac{1}{1+z}.$$

**The case of**  $\varepsilon$  **small.** Let us try to find a solution like this when  $\varepsilon > 0$  for

$$\partial_t f = f^2 + \varepsilon N(f).$$

We seek a solution of the form:

$$f(x,t) = \frac{1}{1-t} F_{\varepsilon} \left( \frac{x}{(1-t)^{1+\delta(\varepsilon)}} \right),$$

where  $\delta(\varepsilon)$  is to be determined. Then,

$$F_{\varepsilon} + (1 + \delta_{\varepsilon}) z \partial_z F_{\varepsilon} = F_{\varepsilon}^2 + \varepsilon N(F_{\varepsilon}).$$

Thus, letting  $F_{\varepsilon} = g + F_0$  we see:

$$g + z\partial_z g - \frac{2}{1+z}g = -\delta_{\varepsilon} z\partial_z F_0 + g^2 + \varepsilon N(F_0 + g),$$

which we write as:

$$\mathscr{L}(g) = -\delta_{\varepsilon} z \,\partial_z F_0 + g^2 + \varepsilon N(F_0 + g).$$

**Lemma 4.25.** Let  $f \in H^k$ ,  $k \ge 2$ .  $\mathcal{L}(g) = f$  is solvable in  $C^1$  if and only if f'(0) + 2f(0) = 0. Moreover, in this case we can write

$$g(z) = -f(0) + \frac{z}{(z+1)^2} \int_0^z \frac{(t+1)^2}{t^2} \left( f(t) + f(0) \frac{t-1}{t+1} \right) dt$$

and  $|g|_{H^k} \leq C_k |f|_{H^k}$ .

**Remark 4.26.** Assuming the truth of this lemma, the idea is just to use  $\delta_{\varepsilon}$  to make sure that the right-hand side satisfies the solvability condition.

*Proof.* Evaluating  $\mathcal{L}(g) = f$  and its derivative at z = 0 gives

$$-g(0) = f(0), \qquad 2g(0) = f'(0).$$

This gives the condition f'(0) + 2f(0) = 0. When f satisfies this, we write:

$$\frac{z-1}{z+1}g + z\partial_z g = f,$$

so that

$$\frac{z-1}{z+1}(g-g(0)) + z\partial_z(g-g(0)) = f + f(0)\frac{z-1}{z+1}$$

Let

$$G = g - g(0),$$
  $F = f + f(0)\frac{z - 1}{z + 1}$ 

Observe that F(0) = F'(0) = 0 using the condition. Thus we have

$$\frac{z-1}{z+1}G + z\partial_z G = F, \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \frac{(z-1)}{(z+1)z}G + \partial_z G = \frac{F}{z}.$$

Note that

$$\int \frac{z-1}{(z+1)z} = \int \frac{2z-z-1}{(z+1)z} = 2\log(z+1) - \log(z).$$

Thus,

$$\partial_z \left( \frac{(z+1)^2}{z} G \right) = \frac{(z+1)^2}{z^2} F, \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad G(z) = \frac{z}{(z+1)^2} \int_0^z \frac{(t+1)^2}{t^2} F(t) \, \mathrm{d}t,$$

where we chose that G'(0) = 0 (since we have one compatibility condition, we have one free condition on G and this is how we chose it). We obtain

$$g(z) = -f(0) + \frac{z}{(z+1)^2} \int_0^z \frac{(t+1)^2}{t^2} F(t) \,\mathrm{d}t.$$

The proof of the  $H^k$  bound follows from small generalizations of the Hardy inequality and we leave it as an exercise. There may be some concern about the f(0) terms for  $L^2$ bounds so we will explain this part. Let us observe that when  $z \ge 1$ ,

$$-f(0) + \frac{z}{(1+z)^2} \int_1^z \frac{(t+1)^2}{t^2} F(t) \, \mathrm{d}t = -f(0) + \frac{z}{(1+z)^2} \int_1^z \frac{(t+1)^2}{t^2} f(0) \frac{t-1}{t+1} \, \mathrm{d}t$$
$$= f(0) \Big( -1 + \frac{z}{(1+z)^2} \int_1^z \frac{t^2 - 1}{t^2} \, \mathrm{d}t \Big) = f(0) O\Big(\frac{1}{z}\Big). \quad \blacksquare$$

Now, back to finding *g*:

$$\mathcal{L}(g) = -\delta_{\varepsilon} z \,\partial_{z} F_{0} + g^{2} + \varepsilon N(F_{0} + g).$$

Observe that the compatibility condition is:

$$2g(0)^{2} + 2\varepsilon N(F_{0} + g)(0) - \delta_{\varepsilon}F_{0}'(0) + 2g(0)g'(0) + \varepsilon N(f_{0} + g)'(0) = 0.$$

Since  $F'_0(0) = 1$  we thus set:

$$\delta_{\varepsilon} = 2g(0)^2 + 2\varepsilon N(F_0 + g)(0) + 2g(0)g'(0) + \varepsilon N(f_0 + g)'(0).$$

Then we can write:

$$g = \mathcal{L}^{-1} \left( -\delta_{\varepsilon} z \partial_{z} F_{0} + g^{2} + \varepsilon N(F_{0} + g) \right) := \mathcal{K}(g).$$

**Theorem 4.27.** Since N is bounded on  $H^k$  for some  $k \ge 2$ , there is a  $\delta > 0$  (which is just a constant multiple of  $\varepsilon$ ) so that

$$\mathcal{K}: \overline{B_{\delta}(0)} \to \overline{B_{\delta}(0)}$$

is a contraction (where  $B_{\delta}(0)$  is the ball of radius  $\delta$  around 0 in  $H^k$ ).

**Remark 4.28.** We do not actually need that N is bounded on  $H^k$ . All we need is that  $\mathcal{L}^{-1}(N)$  is bounded on  $H^k$ , which is possible in some cases even when N contains derivatives (see, for example, [72]). We now discuss a more flexible approach given by a compactness method.

**4.3.2. Compactness method.** The compactness approach follows essentially the same line of reasoning as the fixed point approach but instead of using invertibility of the linearized operator, we use its ellipticity on certain spaces. The point of this is to deal with possible unboundedness of N in

$$\partial_t f = f^2 + \varepsilon N(f). \tag{4.16}$$

General philosophy. Suppose we are trying to solve an equation of the form:

$$L(f) = g + \varepsilon N(f).$$

When  $\mathcal{L}^{-1}N$  is a bounded operator, we can do as above and solve it via a clear iteration scheme. In the case that *L* is a positive operator and *N* satisfies:

$$|(N(f), f)| \le C |f|^2$$
,

while

$$(L(f), f) \ge c|f|^2,$$

we are still able to construct a solution. Indeed, in this case we can add a "fake" time variable  $\tau$ :

$$\partial_{\tau} f + L(f) = g + \varepsilon N(f).$$

In the above, the reader should interpret (,) as an  $H^k$  inner-product or similar. Since g is independent of  $\tau$ , it is usually then possible to show that  $\partial_{\tau} f$  decays exponentially in, say  $H^{k-1}$  while f is bounded in  $H^k$ . The existence of a solution then follows.

**Simple application of the compactness method.** Consider equation (4.16). We now search for a solution of the form

$$f(x,t) = \frac{1}{1 - (1 + \mu(\varepsilon))t} F_{\varepsilon} \Big( \frac{x}{(1 - (1 + \mu(\varepsilon))t)^{1 + \delta(\varepsilon)}} \Big).$$

Essentially the point we will see is that while for invertibility of  $\mathcal{L}$  we needed only one free parameter, we will need two to establish ellipticity. Then we get:

$$(1 + \mu(\varepsilon))F_{\varepsilon} + z(1 + \mu(\varepsilon))(1 + \delta(\varepsilon))\partial_z F_{\varepsilon} = F_{\varepsilon}^2 + \varepsilon N(F_{\varepsilon}).$$

Writing  $F_{\varepsilon} = F_0 + g$ , we obtain

$$g + z\partial_z g - \frac{2}{1+z}g$$
  
=  $-\mu F_0 - (\mu + \lambda + \mu\lambda)z\partial_z F_0 + g^2 - \mu g - (\mu + \lambda + \mu\lambda)z\partial_z g + \varepsilon N(F_0 + g).$ 

Thus,

$$\mathcal{L}(g) = -\mu F_0 - (\mu + \lambda + \mu\lambda) z \partial_z F_0 + g^2 - \mu g - (\mu + \lambda + \mu\lambda) z \partial_z g + \varepsilon N(F_0 + g).$$
(4.17)

Our goal is now to find a space X so that

$$(\mathcal{L}(g), g)_X \ge c |g|_X^2 \tag{4.18}$$

while

$$(\text{RHS}, g)_X \le C \varepsilon \left( |g|_X + |g|_X^2 \right) + C |g|_X^3.$$
(4.19)

Recall that

$$\mathcal{L}(g) = g + z\partial_z g - \frac{2}{1+z}g.$$

Consider a g supported in [0, 1] which satisfies g(0) > 0 and then decreases monotonically to 0. Obviously, for such g,  $(\mathcal{L}(g), g)_{L^2} < 0$ , while for g supported at large z we see that  $(\mathcal{L}(g), g) > 0$ . This means that it will not be able to take the space X to be a normal Sobolev space.

If we wish to show that  $\mathcal{L}$  is positive, we should try to penalize mass at 0. It turns out that if one just defines the weight

$$w(z) = \frac{(1+z)^4}{z^4},$$

then

$$(\mathcal{L}(f), f)_{L^2_w} = \frac{1}{2} |f|^2_{L^2_w}.$$

Note that it is not really necessary to have an exact weight which will give us equality as above, but the point is to take a strong weight near z = 0. There are now a number of ways to get around this issue and choosing the weight for a given problem can be quite involved.

**Choice of**  $\mu$  and  $\lambda$ . Since we intend to solve for g in the space  $L_w^2$  with weight  $w = \frac{(1+z)^4}{z^4}$ , we need to ensure that g and the right-hand side vanish quadratically at z = 0. Observe that, as in the fixed point approach, we can use  $\mu$  and  $\lambda$  to satisfy these two conditions since we have on the RHS or (4.17) the term

$$-\mu F_0 - (\mu + \lambda + \lambda \mu) z \partial_z F_z$$

which when evaluated at z = 0 gives  $\mu$  and when differentiated and evaluated at 0 gives  $2\mu + \lambda + \mu\lambda$ . This means that we can choose  $\mu$  to ensure RHS(0) = 0 and then choose  $\lambda$  to ensure RHS'(0) = 0.

**Lemma 4.29.** It is possible to find constants  $c_1, c_2 > 0$  so that the inner product

 $(f,g)_{X} = (f,g)_{L^{2}_{w}} + c_{1}(z\partial_{z}f,z\partial_{z}g)_{L^{2}_{w}} + c_{2}((z\partial_{z})^{2}f,(z\partial_{z})^{2}g)_{L^{2}_{w}}$ 

is such that (4.18) holds.

**Remark 4.30.** Additionally, (4.19) holds with the above choices of  $\mu$  and  $\lambda$  so long as N satisfies reasonable assumptions (basically that we can do standard energy estimates).

**Corollary 4.31** (A priori estimate). There exists a  $C_* > 0$  and an  $\varepsilon > 0$  sufficiently small so that if a solution to (4.17)  $g \in X$  exists with  $|g|_X \leq C_*\varepsilon$ , then actually  $|g|_X \leq C_*\frac{\varepsilon}{2}$ .

#### 4.4. Application to axi-symmetric no swirl solutions

We now discuss a particular situation where the perturbation arguments discussed above as well as the expansion of the non-local operator of Section 4.2.1 can be applied to give a singularity for  $C^{1,\alpha}$  solutions of 3D Euler as in [65]. We emphasize that this is just one application of these ideas. Another application appeared in [26], where the authors establish a finite-time singularity for  $C^{1,\alpha}$  solutions to the 3D Euler equation in a cylinder in the precise scenario of the numerical work [141]. Recall the axi-symmetric Euler equation derived above (4.8)–(4.10):

$$\partial_t v + v \cdot \nabla v + \nabla p = \left(\frac{(u_\theta)^2}{r}, 0\right),$$
$$\nabla \cdot (rv) = 0,$$
$$\partial_t (ru_\theta) + v \cdot \nabla (ru_\theta) = 0.$$

Recall that  $v = (u_r, u_z)$  and all derivatives are (r, z) derivatives. We restrict further our class of solutions to the ones where

$$u_{\theta} \equiv 0.$$

These are called no-swirl solutions. Geometrically, particles are allowed to move toward/away and from and up/down the *z*-axis but cannot "swirl" around the axis. Such solutions are effectively 2D though they are three-dimensional exactly at the axis of symmetry. While this restriction appears quite restrictive, it turns out that solutions can still exhibit non-trivial behavior and even blow-up.

Our first task will be to pass to the vorticity equation. We define

$$\omega = \partial_r u_z - \partial_z u_r.$$

We obtain the system

$$\partial_t \omega + v \cdot \nabla_{r,z} \omega = \frac{u_r}{r} \omega, \qquad (4.20)$$

$$\operatorname{div}(rv) = 0, \qquad \omega = \partial_r u_z - \partial_z u_r. \tag{4.21}$$

**4.4.1. Boundary conditions and growth mechanism.** The physical domain of the solution is:

$$(r, z) \in [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}$$

When r = 0, the system does not actually require any boundary condition on  $\omega$ . However, in order for the original u to be smooth,  $\omega_0$  must vanish at least linearly on r = 0. Of course, if we only care that  $u \in C^{1,\alpha}$  all it means is that  $\omega$  must vanish like  $r^{\alpha}$  as  $r \to 0$ . The system does impose a boundary condition on  $u_r$ . We need  $u_r$  to vanish at r = 0 linearly (just for the solution to be  $C^1$ ).

In this particular setting, it is easy to see that in order for  $\omega$  to grow, we need to be working in a scenario where  $\frac{u_r}{r} > 0$  (at least near the maximum of  $\omega$ ). It is easy to see that
if we put an odd symmetry in z and also make  $\omega$  positive in  $[0, \infty) \times [0, \infty)$ ,  $u_r$  will be positive on z = 0 and  $u_z$  will be negative on r = 0. This follows from the Hopf lemma. We now see that 0 is a hyperbolic point and that  $\omega$  grows along trajectories. Whether  $\omega$ actually grows pointwise depends on the degree of vanishing of  $\omega$  along r = 0, just as we saw in our analysis of the vorticity equation in 1D in Section 4.1.2.

**4.4.2. Passage to the fundamental model.** Toward understanding the behavior of weakly vanishing solutions near the origin, we introduce the new variables

$$R = \rho^{\alpha}, \theta = \arctan\left(\frac{z}{r}\right)$$

where  $\rho = \sqrt{r^2 + z^2}$ . Following a similar computation to what we did in Section 4.2.1 (see [65] for details), we get that (4.20)–(4.21) can be re-written as

$$\partial_t \Omega - \frac{3}{2} L_{12}(\Omega) \sin(2\theta) \partial_\theta \Omega = L_{12}(\Omega) \Omega + \alpha N(\Omega),$$
$$L_{12}(\Omega)(R) = \int_R^\infty \int_0^{\pi/2} \frac{\Omega(s,\theta)}{s} K(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

where  $K(\theta) = 3\cos^2(\theta)\sin(\theta)$  and N is a quadratic nonlinearity that is amenable to energy estimates independent of  $\alpha$ .

Let us now set  $\alpha = 0$ . Then we see that

$$\partial_t \Omega - \frac{3}{2} L_{12}(\Omega) \sin(2\theta) \partial_\theta \Omega = L_{12}(\Omega) \Omega,$$
 (4.22)

$$L_{12}(\Omega)(R) = \int_{R}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\pi/2} \frac{\Omega(s,\theta)}{s} K(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}s. \tag{4.23}$$

This is the system

$$\partial_t \omega + u_s \cdot \nabla \omega = \nabla u_s \omega$$

which we mentioned before, restricted to axi-symmetric solutions without swirl.

It is not difficult to check that (4.22)–(4.23) is, in fact, globally regular for data which is smooth in  $\theta$  and *R* and vanishing on  $\theta = 0$ .

**Lemma 4.32.** Assume that  $\Omega_0 \in C_c^{1/3}([0, \frac{\pi}{2}] \times [0, \infty))$  and  $\Omega_0(R, 0) = 0$ , then the unique local solution of (4.22)–(4.23) is global. If, however,  $\Omega_0(\theta, R) \ge (\pi/2 - \theta)^{\alpha}$  for  $\theta$  near  $\pi/2$  and for any  $\alpha < \frac{1}{3}$ , the solution can blow-up in finite time.

**Remark 4.33.** This lemma implies that even when we formally set  $\alpha = 0$  smooth (in  $\theta$  and *R*) solutions are global. These solutions are merely bounded solutions in the original coordinates; however, because of the regularity in  $\theta$  they have the key property that  $\omega$  vanishes linearly on the axis of symmetry. In this regime, the transport term is strong enough to prevent blow-up just as we saw in the 1D models.

In particular, this means that the small  $\alpha$  regime in the change of variables  $r \rightarrow r^{\alpha}$  itself does not actually change the regularity properties of the Euler equation. The only

use of this change of variables is to magnify certain effects that, in principle, could be magnified in the smooth case as well. To get a singularity, we need to minimize the effect of the transport term. This leads us to introduce non-smoothness in the direction of the flow.

**4.4.3.** Dropping the angular transport term for solutions that are almost  $\theta$  independent. When  $\Omega$  is independent of  $\theta$ , (4.22)–(4.23) becomes

$$\partial_t \Omega(R,t) = \Omega(R,t) \int_R^\infty \frac{\Omega(s,t)}{s} \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

This is like a non-local Ricatti equation. It turns out that very similar arguments to what we described in Section 4.3.2 above (the compactness approach), yield that the self-similar blow-up profile

$$\Omega(R,t) = \frac{1}{1-t} F\left(\frac{R}{1-t}\right), \qquad F(z) = \frac{z}{(1+z)^2}, \qquad L_{12}(F) = \frac{1}{(1+z)}$$

is stable.

### 4.5. Analysis of the linearized operator $\mathcal L$ and design of angular weights

When interpreted as a solution of (4.22)–(4.23), the linearized operator becomes:

$$\mathcal{L}g = g + z\partial_z g - \frac{2}{1+z}g - \frac{z}{(1+z)^2}L_{12}(g) + \frac{3}{2(1+z)}\sin(2\theta)\partial_\theta g.$$

The way to deal with  $\mathcal{L}$ , we have to be very careful in how we deal with the angular transport term. Our goal is to design a reasonable inner product space X for which we have

$$(\mathcal{L}g,g)_X \ge c |g|_X^2.$$

Let us adopt the notation:

$$D_{\theta} = \sin(2\theta)\partial_{\theta}, \qquad D_z = z\partial_z.$$

Now, observe that

$$D_{\theta}\mathcal{L}g = D_{\theta}g + z\partial_z D_{\theta}g - \frac{2}{1+z}D_{\theta}g + \frac{3}{2(1+z)}\sin(2\theta)\partial_{\theta}(D_{\theta}g).$$

We already have a weight  $w_z(z) = (1 + z)^4/z^4$  which gives us positivity from the first three terms. For the last term, we can simply add the weight

$$w_{\theta} = \frac{1}{\sin(2\theta)^{1+\delta}},$$

and if  $\delta$  is sufficiently small, we will see that

$$(D_{\theta}\mathfrak{L}g, D_{\theta}g)_{L^2_w} \ge \left(\frac{1}{2} - \delta\right) |D_{\theta}g|^2_{L^2_w},$$

where  $w := w_z w_\theta$ . This allows us to get control of  $D_\theta g$  in terms of itself. We then define an inner product of order 1 as follows:

$$(f,g)_{\mathcal{H}^1} = (D_\theta f, D_\theta g)_{L^2_{uv}} + c_1(f,g)_{L^2_{uv}} + c_2(D_z f, D_z g)_{L^2_{uv}}$$

and  $c_1$  can be taken small and then  $c_2$  smaller so that we have:

$$(\mathcal{L}g,g) \ge c|g|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2.$$

The choice of taking  $\delta > 0$  is to ensure that  $\mathcal{H}^k$  embeds in  $C^{\alpha}$  for some  $\alpha > 0$ .

## 5. Perspectives and problems on singularity formation

We now move on to give precise statements of the existing blow-up results on the 3D Euler equation and discuss various possible extensions. Most of the discussion below will be regarding axi-symmetric solutions. The reason for this is that fully 3D solutions are significantly more complicated and there are very few existing results. An interesting direction of study in the full 3D setting is the high-symmetry setting introduced in [14,121] and studied analytically in [74]. An interesting feature of *all* of the current results (numerical and analytical) on singularity formation in the Euler equation is that they seem to occur near stationary points of the flow where the vorticity is also vanishing. This motivates the following interesting question of D. Sullivan.

Question 5 (D. Sullivan). Do there exist blow-up solutions with non-vanishing vorticity?

**Remark 5.1.** Even in the 1D models, the vanishing of vorticity seems to be a necessary condition for blow-up. It is not clear at all how one could approach this question with the current technology; however, it would be interesting to develop arguments in this direction applied to the 1D models.

#### 5.1. The Boussinesq system

Let us now recall the axi-symmetric Euler equation and Boussinesq system. We already derived the axi-symmetric Euler equation above in (4.8)–(4.10):

$$\partial_t v + v \cdot \nabla v + \nabla p = \left(\frac{(u_\theta)^2}{r}, 0\right),$$
$$\nabla \cdot (rv) = 0,$$
$$\partial_t (ru_\theta) + v \cdot \nabla (ru_\theta) = 0,$$

where that  $v = (u_r, u_z)$  and all derivatives are (r, z) derivatives. Here, the two-dimensional velocity field v essentially solves the 2D Euler equation except that it is forced on the right-hand side by an effect of the swirl  $u^{\theta}$ . A multiple of the swirl  $u^{\theta}$  is then transported. There are two quite different regimes for this equation. Near r = 0 even the zero-swirl solutions

can behave in a complicated way. Away from r = 0, axi-symmetric Euler solutions can be effectively modeled by solutions to the Boussinesq system:

$$\partial_t v + v \cdot \nabla v + \nabla p = (\rho, 0), \tag{5.1}$$

$$\nabla \cdot v = 0, \tag{5.2}$$

$$\partial_t \rho + v \cdot \nabla \rho = 0. \tag{5.3}$$

Definitive links between the singularity problem for the Boussinesq and axi-symmetric Euler equations were established in [26, 69, 70]. While it may not always be the case, it is reasonable to guess that a blow-up in the Boussinesq system essentially implies a corresponding blow-up of axi-symmetric Euler solutions.

**5.1.1. Corner domains.** The first results on blow-up for 3D Euler with finite energy were established in domains with corners following a series of papers by I. Jeong and the second author [69, 70, 74]. The key idea of these works is to introduce and analyze scenarios in which the Biot–Savart law can be *localized*. The key is to impose geometric conditions, such as spatial symmetries or boundary conditions, that ensure that we can recover the entire velocity gradient at a point  $x_* = 0$  from just the vorticity vector at this point. In the setting of solutions on the whole space where we impose only symmetry conditions, we have already discussed this in Section 4.1.9. In the setting of domains with boundary, this phenomenon is understood from an analysis of the Taylor expansion of solutions to the Poisson equation. We explain this in the following example.

**Example 5.2.** Assume that  $\psi \in C^2$  is any solution to a Dirichlet problem  $\Delta \psi = f$  on the sector  $\{(x, y) : 0 \le x \le y\}$ . Then, the entire matrix  $D^2\psi(0)$  can be determined uniquely from f(0). The same can be said in any sector or corner domain of angle strictly less than  $\pi/2$ . The reason for this is that on this domain we have that  $\psi(x, 0) = 0$  and  $\psi(x, x) = 0$  so that  $\partial_{xx}\psi(0, 0) = 0$  and  $2\partial_{xy}\psi(0) + \partial_{yy}\psi(0) = 0$ . Since  $f(0) = \partial_{xx}\psi(0) + \partial_{yy}\psi(0)$ , we now recover  $D^2\psi(0)$ .

When considering solutions on domains without a corner or with a corner of size  $\pi/2$  or more, further symmetries should be imposed on the data. One idea considered in [70,73] is to impose a reflection symmetry. This is the setting of the following problem.

**Problem 8.** Prove that there exist scale-invariant blow-up solutions to the Boussinesq system (5.1)–(5.3) on the corner domain  $\Omega = \{(r, \theta) : -\pi/4 < \theta < \pi/4\}$  with vanishing vorticity and density gradient on  $\partial\Omega$ .

**Remark 5.3.** The interested reader should look at [70] for previous results and ideas in this direction. Additionally, a scalar model of this system was studied in [66] where this type of result was established.

The above problem is a prelude to the more striking possibility that solutions supported entirely inside of such corner domains could become singular in finite time.

#### 5.2. Axi-symmetric solutions on the cylinder: The Hou-Luo scenario

We now move to discuss a very promising scenario for blow-up of smooth solutions at the boundary of a smooth domain proposed by Guo Luo and Thomas Hou [140]. The singularity mechanism is most clearly explained on the Boussinesq system (5.1)–(5.3) on the domain  $[0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}$ . Observe that the two-dimensional vorticity  $\omega$  is forced by the vertical derivative of  $\rho$ :

$$\partial_t \omega + u \cdot \nabla \omega = \partial_v \rho,$$

while  $\rho$  is transported by u:

$$\partial_t \rho + u \cdot \nabla \rho = 0.$$

Now let us assume that the initial data for  $\rho$  even in y and decreasing as a function of y on  $[0, \infty)$  for fixed x. Under this condition, positive vorticity is produced for short time in the quadrant  $[0, \infty) \times [0, \infty)$  and the vorticity remains odd in y for all time. For short time, the generated vorticity produces a velocity field that pushes particles down in y and "out" in x on  $[0, \infty) \times [0, \infty)$ . This, in turn leads to the growth of the magnitude of  $\partial_y \rho$ . The growth in  $\partial_y \rho$  leads to more vorticity growth and stronger advection. If this growth "loop" is sustained for all time, a finite-time singularity will form. Remarkably, there does not appear to be any clear "enemy" to blow-up in this situation and the only difficulty is to capture the blow-up rigorously. The difficulty is compounded by the fact that (5.1)–(5.3) is a system and is non-local. Despite the difficulties associated to rigorously establishing the blow-up, upon studying the simulations provided by Luo and Hou [140] and reflecting upon the mathematical mechanism described above, one is naturally led to believe that a singularity does indeed occur in this scenario:

**Conjecture 7.** There exists a smooth solution to the axi-symmetric Euler equation on the cylindrical domain  $\{(r, z) : 0 \le r \le 1\}$  that becomes singular in finite time.

**Remark 5.4.** There may be different approaches to solve this conjecture. If it be through constructing first a self-similar profile, it would suffice to establish the corresponding result on the Boussinesq system. In the category of  $C^{1,\alpha}$  solutions, a singularity was constructed in the work [26] via this strategy. It is important to emphasize that singularity formation at the boundary is qualitatively different from singularity formation in free space. This is due to the suppression, via the boundary, of a powerful regularizing mechanism in the vorticity equation. We know that this regularizing mechanism is present in 1D equations and *prevents* singularity formation for smooth data. This regularizing mechanism is completely absent when the vorticity does not vanish on the boundary.

The study of Conjecture 7 has led to a number of outstanding results in the analysis of the Euler equation and related models. The first such result was given by Kiselev and Šverák [126] where the authors established the qualitatively optimal double-exponential growth rate for the gradient of vorticity for 2D Euler solutions on the disk. The result was established using two essential ingredients: the key lemma, which is contained in

Lemma 4.19, which gives the leading order term in the expansion of the velocity at a hyperbolic point in the case of uniformly bounded vorticity. This is used to give large-scale control on the motion of particles. The second ingredient is a clever argument to control the evolution of a bump of vorticity on the boundary which also uses a type of comparison principle given by the key lemma that particles closer to the hyperbolic point tend to have higher relative velocity. An important extension of the methods introduced in [126] was given in [125] where a singularity was established in a related two-dimensional model. Finally, following the work of Luo and Hou [140], there were a number of model equations that were proposed to get a better understanding of the singularity in the Hou-Luo scenario. Singularity formation in these models is established mostly using contradiction and/or barrier arguments (see, for example, [30, 32, 35, 36, 56, 57, 101, 125, 127, 204]). Recently, Chen, Hou, and Huang [28] established the existence of a self-similar blowup in a one-dimensional "boundary layer model" of the Hou-Luo scenario via computer assistance. The authors of [28] also suggested the existence of approximate self-similar profiles in the original Hou-Luo scenario. More recently, Wang, Lai, Gómez-Serrano, and Buckmaster [196] proposed a new method to find self-similar profiles in the Hou–Luo scenario using neural networks.

#### 5.3. Axi-symmetric solutions without swirl

The focus of this subsection is on possible extensions and follow-up problems related to the blow-up result [65]. We remark that all of the problems we discuss below could also be asked in the context of the singularity result of Chen and Hou [26] (though there should be no regularity limitations there). Let us first recall the main theorem of [65]:

**Theorem 5.5.** There is a continuum  $(0, \alpha_0)$  of self-similar blow-up axi-symmetric noswirl Euler solutions.

The solutions consist of concentrating and colliding oppositely signed vortex rings. See Figure 5.1.



Figure 5.1. Snapshots of blow-up solution of Theorem 5.5 at times approaching singularity.

A first obvious problem is to give a reasonable estimate on the size of  $\alpha_0$ . This can be done by checking the constants in [65], though many of the estimates done there were suboptimal. It is possible that by sharpening the arguments in [65], one can show that  $\alpha_0 > 10^{-4}$ . To motivate the next problem, let us observe that the blow-up constructed in [65] is essentially one-dimensional. Indeed, one of the key ideas is to show that in some regime the Euler equation is well approximated by solutions to the so-called "fundamental model":

$$\partial_t F = FL_{12}(F), \qquad L_{12}(F) = \int_r^\infty \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{F(s,\theta)K(\theta)}{s} \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}s$$

This model problem has an infinite-dimensional family of self-similar blow-up profiles starting from data of the form:

$$F_0(R,\theta) = \frac{R}{(1+R)^2} \Gamma(\theta),$$

for any  $\Gamma$  satisfying  $\int_0^{2\pi} K(\theta)\Gamma(\theta)d\theta > 0$ . Despite this, in [65] the author was only able to establish singularity formation in the Euler equation near *one* particular profile  $\Gamma_*$ . Whether there is actually a singularity near other angular profiles is a very interesting problem.

**Problem 9.** Establish blow-up for axi-symmetric no-swirl solutions in the vicinity of a large class of blow-up profiles to the fundamental model.

**Remark 5.6.** It is possible that most of the tools to solve this problem are essentially contained in [65], though it is possible that singularities near profiles other than  $\Gamma_*$  will exhibit non-self-similar behavior. Studying this problem would also shed some light on the universality profiles. Indeed, in a number of other similar models it is observed that corresponding to each blow-up speed there is a unique self-similar profile.

In the spirit of the preceding problem, we also mention the following general problem.

**Problem 10.** Study the stability/instability of the self-similar profiles of Theorem 5.5 with respect to general 3D perturbations.

**Remark 5.7.** In the work [67], stability of those profiles was established with respect to certain types of perturbations including perturbations with swirl.

Another problem that may appear to be technical at first is the following.

**Problem 11.** Establish the existence of self-similar profiles relying only on the invertibility of the linear operator rather than its coercivity.

**Remark 5.8.** Another way to say this is to establish existence using the "fixed point method" rather than the "compactness method" as discussed in Section 4.3. It would be interesting to see whether this can be done even in the setting of [65]. We remark that if it were possible to establish existence of a profile based only on invertibility, it would allow

for a much more robust approach to the construction of singularities, both analytically and numerically. In particular, it would give a basis for studying the continuation of curves of self-similar profiles as we are about to discuss.

Another important direction of study is to determine the behavior of self-similar solutions as we increase the continuation parameter  $\alpha$  used in the paper [65]. Such a study would shed further light on the nature of singularity formation in this setting. It may be possible to establish analytical results in the spirit of [100], though even a better understanding through numerical simulations of the solution curves would be illuminating.

**Problem 12.** Study the behavior of the curve of self-similar solutions in  $\alpha$  constructed in [65]. Does the curve continue for all  $\alpha \leq 2$  or does it stop at some  $\alpha_* < 2$ ? Establish continuation criteria for the curve of solutions.

**Remark 5.9.** Note that the curve does not necessarily stop until  $\alpha = 2$  (after which the change of variables involving the parameter  $\alpha$  ceases to make sense). The parameter  $\alpha$  only controls the radial regularity, which could be  $C^{\infty}$  as we will remark below.

**Conjecture 8.** For any  $\alpha < \frac{1}{3}$ , there exists a  $C_c^{\alpha}$  axi-symmetric no-swirl local Euler solution that becomes singular in finite time.

**Remark 5.10.** Note that  $C_c^{1/3+}$  solutions are globally regular and so solving this conjecture would close the regularity gap (see [1,49,165,169,173,193]). It is likely that there is global regularity in the borderline case as well.

A sharper version of the preceding conjecture is the following one where the real nonsmoothness required is in the flow direction as we remarked above in Remark 4.33.

**Conjecture 9** (Smooth in *R*, limited regularity in  $\theta$ ). In the preceding conjecture,  $\omega_0$  can be  $C^{\infty}$  in  $\rho = \sqrt{x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2}$ .

Finally, we remark that the key to the blow-up seems to be the degree of vanishing of the vorticity on the axis of symmetry and not non-smoothness *per se*. The following conjecture makes this precise.

**Conjecture 10** (artificial boundary at the axis of symmetry). *There exist smooth solutions* to the axi-symmetric Euler equation non-vanishing on the axis of symmetry that become singular in finite time.

**Remark 5.11.** Of course, "smooth" in the preceding conjecture means smooth in the axisymmetric coordinates; however, once they are lifted to 3D solutions they are not smooth on the axis since the vorticity does not vanish on the symmetry axis.

**5.3.1. Continuation after singularity?** An important problem is to study extensions of classical solutions beyond the time of singularity. Since solutions leave the classical

uniqueness classes at the singularity time, it seems that "anything" could occur after the singularity. Despite this, we have the following:

**Theorem 5.12.** Let  $\omega_0$  be a compactly supported initial axi-symmetric no-swirl vorticity that gives a local classical solution that becomes singular in finite time. Also assume that  $\frac{1}{r}\omega_0 \in L^{2+\delta}$  for some  $\delta > 0$ . Consider a family  $\omega^{\varepsilon}$  of axi-symmetric no-swirl solutions from regularized data  $\omega_0^{\varepsilon}$ . Now let  $\omega_*$  be any subsequential limit of  $\omega^{\varepsilon}$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Then,  $\omega_*$  is a weak solution to the 3D Euler equation that is necessarily smooth outside of  $B_{C\cdot(t-T_*)}(0)$  for some constant  $C = C(\omega_0) > 0$ , where  $T_* = T_*(\omega_0)$  is the blow-up time of the Euler solution emanating from  $\omega_0$ .

The theorem says that the singular set after the blow-up time remains inside a growing ball around the origin. The structure of the flow-lines seems to indicate that the singular set is actually much smaller. This is the content of the following conjecture.

**Conjecture 11.** The singular set of the solutions of [65] propagates within the natural symmetry class as an expanding ring  $\delta(t) = \{(r, x_3) = (\delta(t), 0)\}$ , where  $\delta(T_*) = 0$  while  $\delta$  is increasing in t for all  $t \ge T_*$ .

**Remark 5.13.** This may be related to corresponding results and conjectures in two dimensions [18,78].

Sketch of the proof of Theorem 5.12. By the assumptions and properties of axi-symmetric no-swirl solutions, we have a time and  $\varepsilon$  independent bound on

$$\|\omega^{\varepsilon}/r\|_{L^{2+\delta}}$$

Standard elliptic estimates give a uniform bound on *u*:

$$\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C(\omega_0)$$

for all  $\varepsilon, t > 0$ . At the same time, we have that  $\omega/r$  is transported. This implies

$$\|\omega^{\varepsilon}/r\|_{L^{\infty}(A)}(t_1) \leq \|\omega^{\varepsilon}/r\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\delta(t)}(A))},$$

whenever  $t_2 \ge t_1$ , for any open set A where  $B_{\delta(t_1,t_2)}(A)$  is the set of points within distance  $\delta(t)$  of A and  $\delta(t_1, t_2) = C \cdot (t_2 - t_1)$ . This implies local  $L^{\infty}$  bounds on  $\omega^{\varepsilon}$  independent of  $\varepsilon$  away from the axis of symmetry. The global  $L^2$  bound on  $\omega$  along with the local  $L^{\infty}$  bounds away from the axis of symmetry gives local propagation of regularity away from the axis of symmetry. This is because the Biot–Savart law is smoothing off the diagonal. That  $\omega_*$  is a weak solution follows from a standard compactness argument using the a priori bound.

**Remark 5.14.** This result has a 2D analogue [60]: if we consider data  $\omega_0 \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^2) \cap C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\})$  for p > 2, then any limit of regularized solutions will be smooth outside of a growing ball. In particular, possible non-uniqueness can only come from inside that ball.

## 6. $\infty$ D fluids: Finite-time singularity from smooth data

Here we consider *pressureless solutions*, i.e., those with  $\nabla p = 0$  for all time on the domain  $M = \mathbb{T}^d$  or  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . These solve the multidimensional Burgers' equation

$$\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u = 0, \tag{6.1}$$

$$u|_{t=0} = u_0. (6.2)$$

To be consistent with incompressibility, the initial data  $u_0$  must be very special as we shall see. From the (infinite-dimensional) geometric viewpoint of Section 2.1, such Euler solutions correspond to flowmaps  $\Phi_t$  which are *asymptotic geodesics* [118]. Namely, those curves which are geodesic both in the group  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  of smooth volume-preserving diffeomorphisms of M with the  $L^2$  pseudo-Riemannian metric (2.6) as well as in the full diffeomorphism group  $\mathcal{D}(M)$  for either the non-invariant or right invariant  $L^2$  metrics (the distinction of non-invariant and right invariant is immaterial for  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$  since the Jacobian determinant is unity). We remark also that, in view of Theorem 2.3, they are *minimizers* of the energy for all time.

The first statement characterizes for which initial data the Burgers solution can maintain incompressibility. This result can be found in the thesis of Serfati [167, Chapter III] and the paper of Yudovich [201]. That pressureless solutions are globally regular is a consequence of the continuation criterion given by Chae and Constantin [22].

**Theorem 6.1.** A velocity field  $u: M \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^d$  is an incompressible solution of (6.1) with  $u|_{t=0} = u_0: M \to \mathbb{R}^d$  for all time  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  if and only if  $\nabla u_0: M \to \mathcal{M}^{d \times d}(\mathbb{R})$  is a nilpotent matrix for each  $x \in M$ . If  $\nabla u_0$  is a nilpotent matrix, then the solution exists for all time and the gradient satisfies:

$$\nabla u(\Phi_t(x), t) = \sum_{m=0}^{d-2} (-t)^m (\nabla u_0(x))^{m+1}$$
(6.3)

where  $\Phi_t$  is the Lagrangian flowmap.

Theorem 6.1 gives examples of solutions on  $\mathbb{T}^d$  and  $\mathbb{R}^d$  for any d > 2 which exist for all time and grow with a specific polynomial rate  $||u(t)||_{C^1} \sim t^{d-2}$ . This point is related to the fact that these flows are unstable in Sobolev spaces in their (Lagrangian) configuration space [148].

*Proof.* Let  $\Phi_t$  be the flowmap corresponding to the solution of (6.1)–(6.2). Equation (6.1) says that u is transported by its own flow, thus trajectories are straight lines

$$\Phi_t(x) = x + tu_0(x).$$

The velocity field *u* is incompressible if and only if the flow is volume-preserving, i.e.,  $det(\nabla \Phi_t(x)) = 1$ . Thus, the incompressibility condition is equivalent to

$$\det(I + t\nabla u_0(x)) = 1 \quad \text{for all} \quad x \in M, \ t \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(6.4)

Recall that if a matrix N is nilpotent, then det(I + tN) = 1 for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Conversely, if det(I + tN) = 1 for d + 1 distinct values of t, then N is nilpotent. It follows that the condition of (6.4) holding for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  is equivalent to the matrix  $\nabla u_0(x)$  being nilpotent for every  $x \in M$ .

The equation for the gradient of the Burgers solution is

$$(\partial_t + u \cdot \nabla)\nabla u = -(\nabla u)^2$$

Thus  $A(t) = \nabla u(\Phi_t(x), t)$  satisfies the following matrix ODE<sup>20</sup> for each  $x \in M$ :

$$\dot{A} = -A^2, \tag{6.5}$$

$$A|_{t=0} = A_0 := \nabla u_0. \tag{6.6}$$

The solution of (6.5)–(6.6) is readily seen to be

$$A(t) = A_0 (I + tA_0)^{-1}.$$

If  $N \in \mathcal{M}^{d \times d}$  is nilpotent then  $(I + N)^{-1} = \sum_{m=0}^{d-1} (-N)^m$ . The claim follows.

**Example 6.2** (example of nilpotent data). Let  $u_0: M \to \mathbb{R}^d$  be defined by

$$u_{0}(x_{1}, x_{2}, \dots, x_{d}) = \begin{pmatrix} u_{1}(x_{2}, \dots, x_{d}) \\ u_{2}(x_{3}, \dots, x_{d}) \\ \vdots \\ u_{d-2}(x_{d-1}, x_{d}) \\ u_{d-1}(x_{d}) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\nabla u_{0}(x_{1}, x_{2}, \dots, x_{d}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \partial_{2}u_{1} & \partial_{3}u_{1} & \dots & \dots & \partial_{d}u_{1} \\ 0 & 0 & \partial_{3}u_{2} & \dots & \dots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \dots & \ddots & \ddots & \dots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \dots & \ddots & \partial_{d-1}u_{d-2} & \partial_{d}u_{d-2} \\ \vdots & \dots & \dots & \ddots & \partial_{d}u_{d-1} \\ 0 & \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

It is easy to check that  $(\nabla u_0)^{d-1}$  has only one non-trivial component  $\prod_{i=1}^{d-1} \partial_{i+1} u_i$  which is located on the first row and final column. Thus whenever  $\prod_{i=1}^{d-1} \partial_{i+1} u_i \neq 0$ , then  $(\nabla u_0)^d = 0$  but  $(\nabla u_0)^n \neq 0$  for any n < d.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>See Sullivan [186] for a discussion of conditions for long-time existence and genericity of finite-time blow-up in quadratic ODEs of this type.

We now discuss the possibility of singularity formation in "infinite" spatial dimensions. Although there are no examples, it is expected that the higher the dimension, the easier it is for a perfect fluid to form a singularity in finite time. In this direction, Khesin and Yang constructed a finite-time blow-up for the binormal equation in 5D, which is a localized induction approximation (LIA) of the 5D Euler [120]. It is also hoped [81,83] that more complicated phenomena, such as turbulence, simplify in the large dimension limit due to the decreased influence of pressure (the reason being the incompressibility becomes one constraint amongst infinitely many components, and thus becomes trivially satisfied – at least in some generic sense – without need of pressure). Here we show, in some sense, that infinite-dimensional perfect fluids form a singularity in finite times from smooth initial conditions.

Theorem 6.3. The following two statements hold:

• For any smooth vector field  $u_0^{(d)}: M \to \mathbb{R}^d$ , we have

$$\left\|\nabla u^{(d)}(\cdot,t)\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \frac{\|\nabla u_0^{(d)}\|_{L^{\infty}}}{1-t\|\nabla u_0^{(d)}\|_{L^{\infty}}},\tag{6.7}$$

where  $||A||_{L^{\infty}} = \sup_{x \in M} ||A(x)||$  and  $||A|| := \max_{1 \le i \le d} \sum_{j=1}^{d} |a_{ij}|$  is the induced  $L^{\infty}$  norm (maximum absolute row sum).

• There exists a family  $\{u_0^{(d)}\}_{d\in\mathbb{N}}$  of smooth vector fields  $u_0^{(d)}: M \to \mathbb{R}^d$  whose gradients  $A_0^{(d)} = \nabla u_0^{(d)}: M \to \mathcal{M}^{d \times d}$  are nilpotent for every  $x \in M$  such that  $\|\nabla u_0^{(d)}\|_{L^{\infty}} = 1$  and for all  $t \in [0, 1]$  we have

$$\lim_{d \to \infty} \|\nabla u^{(d)}(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{\infty}} = \frac{1}{1 - t}.$$
(6.8)

*Proof.* The bound (6.7) follows from (6.5)–(6.6) noting that by sub-multiplicativity of the  $L^{\infty}$  norm, one has the differential inequality for  $A(t) = \nabla u^{(d)}(\Phi_t(x), t)$ 

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|A\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \|A\|_{L^{\infty}}^2.$$

The lower bound (6.8) follows from bounding the sum (6.3) for data of the form

$$u_0(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_d) = \begin{pmatrix} u_1(x_2) \\ u_2(x_3) \\ \vdots \\ u_{d-2}(x_{d-1}) \\ u_{d-1}(x_d) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

with  $u_1, \ldots, u_{d-1}$  to be chosen. This is a special case of the data of Remark 6.2. For such initial data, the matrix  $(\nabla u_0)^n$  has non-zero entries only on the *n*th superdiagonal.

In particular, there are no cancellations when the powers are summed up to construct the Lagrangian velocity gradient  $A(t) := \nabla u(\Phi_t(x), t)$  via the formula (6.3). Then A(t) takes the explicit upper triangular form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & \partial_2 u_1 & -t \prod_{i=1}^2 \partial_{i+1} u_i & t^2 \prod_{i=1}^3 \partial_{i+1} u_i & \dots & (-t)^{d-2} \prod_{i=1}^{d-1} \partial_{i+1} u_i \\ 0 & 0 & \partial_3 u_2 & \ddots & \ddots & (-t)^{d-3} \prod_{i=2}^{d-1} \partial_{i+1} u_i \\ \vdots & \dots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \dots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \dots & \dots & \ddots & \partial_{d-1} u_{d-2} & -t \prod_{i=d-2}^{d-1} \partial_{i+1} u_i \\ \vdots & \dots & \dots & \ddots & \partial_d u_{d-1} \\ 0 & \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We now choose initial data such that the absolute maxima of all the partials is unity and this is achieved at the point x = 0, i.e.,  $\partial_{i+1}u_i(0) = -1$  while  $|\partial_{i+1}u_i(x)| \le 1$  for all  $x \in M$  and all  $1 \le i \le d-1$ . It follows that  $\|\nabla u_0\|_{L^{\infty}} = 1$  and thus  $\|\nabla u(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \frac{1}{1-t}$ . On the other hand, we note

$$\|\nabla u(0,t)\|_{L^{\infty}} = \sum_{i=0}^{d-2} t^i = \frac{1-t^{d-1}}{1-t}.$$

This concludes the proof.

We remark that this blow-up is generic within the class of nilpotent initial conditions in the sense that perturbations also exhibit finite-time singularities at slightly modified times. One might hope that in large but finite spatial dimensions, 1/d could serve as a small parameter with which to perform a controlled expansion.

**Question 6.** Is it possible to construct a blow-up for smooth solutions in large but finite dimension *d* perturbatively from a suitable infinite-dimensional blow-up?

We note also that, for axi-symmetric no swirl solutions in dimensions larger than three, it remains unclear whether global existence and uniqueness holds for smooth solutions.

**Question 7.** Can singularities form from smooth data for the axi-symmetric no swirl Euler equations on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  when  $d \ge 4$ ?

# 7. Collection of problems, questions and conjectures

We collect, for the reader's convenience, the problems, questions and conjectures stated throughout the paper (with perceived difficulty in that order). We remark that a good number of the problems and conjectures below are either explicit, or are simplifications of, statements by other authors. For the others, we have followed Arnold's principle: "*There is a general principle that a stupid man can ask such questions to which one hundred wise* 

men would not be able to answer. In accordance with this principle I shall formulate some problems."

## Section 2.

**Question 1** (Shnirelman [175]). Let  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a domain with smooth boundary. Does there exist a perfect fluid flow connecting any two isotopic states  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(M)$ ?

# Section 3.

**Problem 1.** Show that there is no steady 2D Euler solution  $\omega \in C^1$  that is isolated in  $C^1$  from other stationary solutions (modulo symmetries).

**Question 2** (Yudovich [202]). Does there exist a continuous  $L^2$  stable steady state  $\omega_*$  that is unstable in  $L^{\infty}$ ?

**Question 3.** Let (M, g) be a compact two-dimensional Riemannian manifold without boundary (e.g.,  $\mathbb{S}^2$  with the round metric or  $\mathbb{T}^2$  with the flat metric). Do there exist any non-trivial stable steady Euler solutions?

**Problem 2.** Show that there exist wandering neighborhoods in the phase space  $L^{\infty}$  of vorticity on compact domains without boundary (e.g.,  $M = \mathbb{T}^2$  or  $\mathbb{S}^2$ ).

**Problem 3.** Let X be any space compactly embedded in  $L^2$ . Show that any smooth stationary solution  $\omega_*$  of the two-dimensional Euler equation whose Lagrangian flow is not periodic in time is nonlinearly unstable in X.

**Question 4.** For each simply connected domain  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ , is there at most one (modulo scaling) smooth isochronal flow?

**Conjecture 1** (Yudovich [113]). No steady solutions of the Euler equations are stable in  $C^{1,\alpha}$ . Moreover, for any steady state  $\omega_* \in C^{\alpha}$  and any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there is a  $\|\omega_0 - \omega_*\|_{C^{\alpha}} \le \varepsilon$  such that  $\|\omega(t)\|_{C^{\alpha}} \to \infty$  as  $t \to \infty$ .

**Conjecture 2.** For each  $\omega_* \in C^{\alpha}$  and any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there is a  $\|\omega_0 - \omega_*\|_{C^{\alpha}} \leq \varepsilon$  such that  $\|\omega(t)\|_{C^{\alpha}} \to \infty$  as  $t \to \infty$ .

**Conjecture 3** (Šverák [190]). Generic initial data  $\omega_0 \in L^{\infty}(M)$  gives rise to inviscid incompressible motions whose vorticity orbits  $\{\omega(t)\}_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$  are not precompact in  $L^2(M)$ .

**Conjecture 4** (Shnirelman [182]). For any initial data  $\omega_0 \in L^{\infty}(M)$ , the collection of  $L^2(M)$  weak limits of the orbit  $\{\omega(t)\}_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$  consists of vorticities which generate  $L^2(M)$  precompact orbits under 2D Euler evolution.

**Problem 4.** Show that  $\Omega_+(X_*) \neq X_*$ .

### Section 4.

**Conjecture 5.** There exists a universal  $p_* < \infty$  so that if a smooth solution to the Euler equation  $\omega \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3 \times [0, T_*))$  becomes singular as  $t \to T_*$ , then

$$\sup_{t\in[0,T_*)}\|\omega\|_{L^{p_*}}=+\infty.$$

**Conjecture 6.** Consider the 1D vorticity equation on  $\mathbb{S}^1$ :

$$\partial_t \omega + u \partial_x \omega = \omega \partial_x u, \qquad u = \mathcal{K}(\omega),$$

where  $\mathcal{K}$  is a non-trivial Fourier integral operator with bounded symbol *m* satisfying  $|m(k)| \leq \frac{C}{1+|k|}$ .

- In general,  $H^s$  solutions should develop singularities when s < 3/2.
- If m is odd, there exist analytic solutions that become singular in finite time.
- If m is even,  $H^s$  solutions must be global whenever s > 3/2.

**Problem 5.** Establish generic infinite-time singularity formation and convergence to compact orbits for smooth solutions to (4.12) in the infinite-time limit.

**Problem 6.** Does there exist a scale-invariant solution with  $\nabla u \in \mathring{C}^{\infty}$  belonging to an admissible symmetry class that develops a singularity in finite time?

**Problem 7.** Determine whether a smooth compactly supported solution to (4.14) on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  can have  $\nabla \omega$  grow double exponentially.

### Section 5.

Question 5 (D. Sullivan). Do there exist blow-up solutions with non-vanishing vorticity?

**Problem 8.** Prove that there exist scale-invariant blow-up solutions to the Boussinesq system (5.1)–(5.3) on the corner domain  $\Omega = \{(r, \theta) : -\pi/4 < \theta < \pi/4\}$  with vanishing vorticity and density gradient on  $\partial\Omega$ .

**Conjecture 7.** There exists a smooth solution to the axi-symmetric Euler equation on the cylindrical domain  $\{(r, z) : 0 \le r \le 1\}$  that becomes singular in finite time.

**Problem 9.** Establish blow-up for axi-symmetric no-swirl solutions in the vicinity of a large class of blow-up profiles to the fundamental model.

**Problem 10.** Study the stability/instability of the self-similar profiles of Theorem 5.5 with respect to general 3D perturbations.

**Problem 11.** Establish the existence of self-similar profiles relying only on the invertibility of the linear operator rather than its coercivity. **Problem 12.** Study the behavior of the curve of self-similar solutions in  $\alpha$  constructed in [65]. Does the curve continue for all  $\alpha \leq 2$  or does it stop at some  $\alpha_* < 2$ ? Establish continuation criteria for the curve of solutions.

**Conjecture 8.** For any  $\alpha < \frac{1}{3}$ , there exists a  $C_c^{\alpha}$  axi-symmetric no-swirl local Euler solution that becomes singular in finite time.

**Conjecture 9.** In the preceding conjecture,  $\omega_0$  can be  $C^{\infty}$  in  $\rho = \sqrt{x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2}$ .

**Conjecture 10.** There exist smooth solutions to the axi-symmetric Euler equation nonvanishing on the axis of symmetry that become singular in finite time.

**Conjecture 11.** The singular set of the solutions of [65] propagates within the natural symmetry class as an expanding ring  $\delta(t) = \{(r, x_3) = (\delta(t), 0)\}$ , where  $\delta(T_*) = 0$  while  $\delta$  is increasing in t for all  $t \ge T_*$ .

### Section 6.

**Question 6.** Is it possible to construct a blow-up for smooth solutions in large but finite dimension *d* perturbatively from a suitable infinite-dimensional blow-up?

**Question 7.** Can singularities form from smooth data for the axi-symmetric no swirl Euler equations on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  when  $d \ge 4$ ?

Acknowledgments. First and foremost, we would like to thank D. Sullivan for generously sharing with us his unique vision of fluid dynamics and mathematics at large. This review is dedicated to Dennis with admiration and affection. We would like to thank A. Shnirelman for many inspiring remarks and insights. We are grateful to M. Dolce and K. Modin for illuminating discussions and help creating some of the figures. We thank C. Lalescu for providing the visualization in Figure 5.1. We thank V. Vicol for a careful reading of the manuscript and insightful remarks which greatly improved the paper. We thank also D. Ginsberg, B. Khesin, G. Misiołek, K. Modin, R. Shvydkoy, V. Šverák, F. Torres de Lizaur, and Y. Yao for very useful comments and discussions on the manuscript.

**Funding.** The research of T. D. was partially supported by NSF-DMS grant 2106233, NSF CAREER award 2235395, and the Charles Simonyi Endowment at the Institute for Advanced Study. The research of T. E. was partially supported by the NSF grants DMS-2043024 and DMS-2124748 as well as the Alfred P. Sloan Foundation.

# References

 H. Abidi, T. Hmidi, and S. Keraani, On the global well-posedness for the axisymmetric Euler equations. *Math. Ann.* 347 (2010), no. 1, 15–41 Zbl 1398.35159 MR 2593281

- [2] D. Albritton, E. Brué, M. Colombo, C. De Lellis, V. Giri, M. Janisch, and H. Kwon, *Instability and non-uniqueness for the 2D Euler equations after M. Vishik*. Ann. of Math. Stud. 219, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ (to appear)
- [3] H. Aref, P. K. Newton, M. A. Stremler, T. Tokieda, and D. L. Vainchtein. Vortex crystals. In Advances in Applied Mechanics 39 (2003), 1–79
- [4] V. I. Arnol'd, Conditions for non-linear stability of stationary plane curvilinear flows of an ideal fluid. (in Russian) *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR* 162 (1965), no. 5, 975–978 MR 0180051; English version: *Sov. Math. Dokl.* 6 (1965), 773–777 Zbl 0141.43901; also in *Vladimir I. Arnold Collected works*, vol. 2, pp. 19–23, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013
- [5] V. I. Arnol'd, An a priori estimate in the theory of hydrodynamical stability. (in Russian) *Izv. Vysš. Učebn. Zaved. Matematika* **1966** (1966), no. 5 (54), 3–5 MR 0205552; English version: *Am. Math. Soc. Transl.* (2) **79** (1969), 267–269 Zbl 0141.43901; also in *Vladimir I. Arnold Collected works*, vol. 2, pp. 29–31, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013
- [6] V. I. Arnol'd, On a variational principle for the steady flows of perfect fluids and its applications to problems of non-linear stability. *Journal de Mécanique* 5 (1966), no. 1, 29– 43; English translation: In *Vladimir I. Arnold – Collected Works*, vol. 2, pp. 71–84, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg (2014)
- [7] V. Arnold, Sur la géométrie différentielle des groupes de Lie de dimension infinie et ses applications à l'hydrodynamique des fluides parfaits. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 16 (1966), no. 1, 319–361 Zbl 0148.45301 MR 202082
- [8] V. I. Arnold and B. A. Khesin, *Topological methods in hydrodynamics*. Applied Mathematical Sciences 125, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1998 Zbl 0902.76001 MR 1612569
- [9] T. J. Awe, M. B. M. Elgindi, and R. W. Langer, Internal design of uniform shear rate dies. *Morehead Electronic Journal of Applicable Mathematics* 4 (2005), article no. MATH-2005-02
- [10] G. K. Batchelor, *The theory of homogeneous turbulence*. Cambridge Monogr. Mech. Appl. Math., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1953 Zbl 0053.14404 MR 0052268
- [11] J. T. Beale, T. Kato, and A. Majda, Remarks on the breakdown of smooth solutions for the 3-D Euler equations. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 94 (1984), no. 1, 61–66 Zbl 0573.76029 MR 763762
- [12] J. Bedrossian, M. Coti Zelati, and V. Vicol, Vortex axisymmetrization, inviscid damping, and vorticity depletion in the linearized 2D Euler equations. *Ann. PDE* 5 (2019), no. 1, article no. 4 Zbl 1428.35321 MR 3987441
- [13] J. Bedrossian and N. Masmoudi, Inviscid damping and the asymptotic stability of planar shear flows in the 2D Euler equations. *Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci.* **122** (2015), 195–300 Zbl 1375.35340 MR 3415068
- [14] O. N. Boratav and R. B. Pelz, Direct numerical simulation of transition to turbulence from a high symmetry initial condition. *Physics of Fluids* 6 (1994), no. 8, 2757–2784 Zbl 0845.76065
- [15] J. Bourgain and D. Li, Strong ill-posedness of the incompressible Euler equation in borderline Sobolev spaces. *Invent. Math.* 201 (2015), no. 1, 97–157 Zbl 1320.35266 MR 3359050
- [16] Y. Brenier, The least action principle and the related concept of generalized flows for incompressible perfect fluids. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 2 (1989), no. 2, 225–255 Zbl 0697.76030 MR 969419

- Y. Brenier, Minimal geodesics on groups of volume-preserving maps and generalized solutions of the Euler equations. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 52 (1999), no. 4, 411–452
   Zbl 0910.35098 MR 1658919
- [18] A. Bressan and R. Murray, On self-similar solutions to the incompressible Euler equations. J. Differential Equations 269 (2020), no. 6, 5142–5203 Zbl 1442.35313 MR 4104468
- [19] T. Buckmaster and V. Vicol, Convex integration and phenomenologies in turbulence. EMS Surv. Math. Sci. 6 (2019), no. 1–2, 173–263 Zbl 1440.35231 MR 4073888
- [20] J. M. Burgers, On the application of statistical mechanics to the theory of turbulent fluid motion. VII. Proceedings of the Section of Sciences, Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen te Amsterdam 36 (1933), no. 2, 620
- [21] D. Chae and P. Constantin, Remarks on type I blow-up for the 3D Euler equations and the 2D Boussinesq equations. J. Nonlinear Sci. 31 (2021), no. 5, article no. 77 Zbl 1476.35184 MR 4287298
- [22] D. Chae and P. Constantin, On a type I singularity condition in terms of the pressure for the Euler equations in R<sup>3</sup>. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN 2022 (2021), no. 12, 9013–9023 Zbl 1492.35195 MR 4436200
- [23] D. Chae and R. Shvydkoy, On formation of a locally self-similar collapse in the incompressible Euler equations. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 209 (2013), no. 3, 999–1017 Zbl 1285.35070 MR 3067830
- [24] J. Chavarriga and M. Sabatini, A survey of isochronous centers. Qual. Theory Dyn. Syst. 1 (1999), no. 1, 1–70 MR 1747197
- [25] J. Chen, On the regularity of the De Gregorio model for the 3D Euler equations. 2021, arXiv:2107.04777; J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), to appear
- [26] J. Chen and T. Y. Hou, Finite time blowup of 2D Boussinesq and 3D Euler equations with C<sup>1,α</sup> velocity and boundary. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 383 (2021), no. 3, 1559–1667 Zbl 1485.35071 MR 4244260
- [27] J. Chen, T. Y. Hou, and D. Huang, On the finite time blowup of the De Gregorio model for the 3D Euler equations. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 74 (2021), no. 6, 1282–1350
   Zbl 1469.35053 MR 4242826
- [28] J. Chen, T. Y. Hou, and D. Huang, Asymptotically self-similar blowup of the Hou–Luo model for the 3D Euler equations. Ann. PDE 8 (2022), no. 2, article no. 24 Zbl 1504.35247 MR 4508052
- [29] A. Choffrut and V. Šverák, Local structure of the set of steady-state solutions to the 2D incompressible Euler equations. *Geom. Funct. Anal.* 22 (2012), no. 1, 136–201 Zbl 1256.35076 MR 2899685
- [30] K. Choi, T. Y. Hou, A. Kiselev, G. Luo, V. Sverak, and Y. Yao, On the finite-time blowup of a one-dimensional model for the three-dimensional axisymmetric Euler equations. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* **70** (2017), no. 11, 2218–2243 Zbl 1377.35218 MR 3707493
- [31] K. Choi and I.-J. Jeong, Infinite growth in vorticity gradient of compactly supported planar vorticity near Lamb dipole. *Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl.* 65 (2022), article no. 103470 Zbl 1482.35162 MR 4350517
- [32] K. Choi, A. Kiselev, and Y. Yao, Finite time blow up for a 1D model of 2D Boussinesq system. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 334 (2015), no. 3, 1667–1679 Zbl 1309.35072 MR 3312447
- [33] C. Collot, T.-E. Ghoul, and N. Masmoudi, Singularity formation for Burgers' equation with transverse viscosity. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4) 55 (2022), no. 4, 1047–1133 Zbl 1501.35089 MR 4468858

- [34] A. Constantin and P. Germain, Stratospheric planetary flows from the perspective of the Euler equation on a rotating sphere. *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.* 245 (2022), no. 1, 587–644 Zbl 1500.76033 MR 4444081
- [35] P. Constantin, The Euler equations and nonlocal conservative Riccati equations. Internat. Math. Res. Notices 2000 (2000), no. 9, 455–465 Zbl 0970.76017 MR 1756944
- [36] P. Constantin, On the Euler equations of incompressible fluids. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.)
   44 (2007), no. 4, 603–621 Zbl 1132.76009 MR 2338368
- [37] P. Constantin, T. D. Drivas, and T. M. Elgindi, Inviscid limit of vorticity distributions in the Yudovich class. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* **75** (2022), no. 1, 60–82 Zbl 1506.35138 MR 4373167
- [38] P. Constantin, T. D. Drivas, and D. Ginsberg, Flexibility and rigidity in steady fluid motion. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 385 (2021), no. 1, 521–563 Zbl 1467.76013 MR 4275792
- [39] P. Constantin, T. D. Drivas, and D. Ginsberg, Flexibility and rigidity of free boundary MHD equilibria. *Nonlinearity* 35 (2022), no. 5, 2363–2384 Zbl 1490.76231 MR 4443918
- [40] P. Constantin, C. Fefferman, and A. J. Majda, Geometric constraints on potentially singular solutions for the 3-D Euler equations. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations* 21 (1996), no. 3–4, 559–571 Zbl 0853.35091 MR 1387460
- [41] P. Constantin, I. Kukavica, and V. Vicol, Contrast between Lagrangian and Eulerian analytic regularity properties of Euler equations. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré C Anal. Non Linéaire 33 (2016), no. 6, 1569–1588 Zbl 1353.35233 MR 3569243
- [42] P. Constantin, P. D. Lax, and A. Majda, A simple one-dimensional model for the threedimensional vorticity equation. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 38 (1985), no. 6, 715–724 Zbl 0615.76029 MR 812343
- [43] P. Constantin, A. J. Majda, and E. Tabak, Formation of strong fronts in the 2-D quasigeostrophic thermal active scalar. *Nonlinearity* 7 (1994), no. 6, 1495–1533 Zbl 0809.35057 MR 1304437
- [44] P. Constantin, V. Vicol, and J. Wu, Analyticity of Lagrangian trajectories for well posed inviscid incompressible fluid models. *Adv. Math.* 285 (2015), 352–393 Zbl 1422.35135 MR 3406503
- [45] N. C. Constantinou, G. L. Wagner, L. Siegelman, B. C. Pearson, and A. Palóczy, GeophysicalFlows.jl: Solvers for geophysical fluid dynamics problems in periodic domains on CPUs & GPUs. *Journal of Open Source Software* 6(60) (2021), article no. 3053
- [46] G. Crippa and G. Stefani, An elementary proof of existence and uniqueness for the Euler flow in localized Yudovich spaces. 2021, arXiv:2110.15648
- [47] M. Coti Zelati, T. M. Elgindi, and K. Widmayer, Stationary structures near the Kolmogorov and Poiseuille flows in the 2d Euler equations. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 247 (2023), no. 1, article no. 12 MR 4544663
- [48] N. Crouseilles and E. Faou, Quasi-periodic solutions of the 2D Euler equation. Asymptot. Anal. 81 (2013), no. 1, 31–34 Zbl 1277.35279 MR 3060030
- [49] R. Danchin, Axisymmetric incompressible flows with bounded vorticity. Uspekhi Mat. Nauk
   62 (2007), no. 3 (375), 73–94 MR 2355419; English translation: Russian Math. Surveys 62 (2007), no. 3, 475–496 Zbl 1139.76011
- [50] S. De Gregorio, On a one-dimensional model for the three-dimensional vorticity equation. J. Statist. Phys. 59 (1990), no. 5–6, 1251–1263 Zbl 0712.76027 MR 1063199
- [51] C. De Lellis and L. Székelyhidi, Jr., The *h*-principle and the equations of fluid dynamics. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 49 (2012), no. 3, 347–375 MR 2917063

- [52] F. T. de Lizaur, Chaos in the incompressible Euler equation on manifolds of high dimension. *Invent. Math.* 228 (2022), no. 2, 687–715 Zbl 1492.35210 MR 4411730
- [53] S. A. Denisov, Infinite superlinear growth of the gradient for the two-dimensional Euler equation. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst.* 23 (2009), no. 3, 755–764 Zbl 1156.76009 MR 2461825
- [54] S. A. Denisov, Double exponential growth of the vorticity gradient for the two-dimensional Euler equation. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* 143 (2015), no. 3, 1199–1210 Zbl 1315.35150 MR 3293735
- [55] R. J. DiPerna and A. J. Majda, Concentrations in regularizations for 2-D incompressible flow. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 40 (1987), no. 3, 301–345 Zbl 0850.76730 MR 882068
- [56] T. Do, On vorticity gradient growth for the axisymmetric 3D Euler equations without swirl. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 234 (2019), no. 1, 181–209 MR 3981396
- [57] T. Do, A. Kiselev, and X. Xu, Stability of blowup for a 1D model of axisymmetric 3D Euler equation. J. Nonlinear Sci. 28 (2018), no. 6, 2127–2152 Zbl 1406.35249 MR 3867639
- [58] M. Dolce and T. D. Drivas, On maximally mixed equilibria of two-dimensional perfect fluids. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 246 (2022), no. 2–3, 735–770 Zbl 07643210 MR 4514063
- [59] T. D. Drivas, T. M. Elgindi, and I. J. Jeong, Twisting in Hamiltonian flows and perfect fluids. 2023, arXiv:2305.09582
- [60] T. D. Drivas, T. M. Elgindi, and J. La, Propagation of singularities by Osgood vector fields and for 2D inviscid incompressible fluids. *Math. Ann.* (2022), online first DOI 10.1007/s00208-022-02498-2
- [61] T. D. Drivas, G. Misiołek, B. Shi, and T. Yoneda, Conjugate and cut points in ideal fluid motion. Ann. Math. Qué. 46 (2022), no. 1, 207–225 Zbl 1485.58011 MR 4396077
- [62] D. G. Ebin and J. Marsden, Groups of diffeomorphisms and the motion of an incompressible fluid. Ann. of Math. (2) 92 (1970), no. 1, 102–163 Zbl 0211.57401 MR 271984
- [63] D. G. Ebin, G. Misiołek, and S. C. Preston, Singularities of the exponential map on the volume-preserving diffeomorphism group. *Geom. Funct. Anal.* 16 (2006), no. 4, 850–868 Zbl 1105.35070 MR 2255383
- [64] T. M. Elgindi, Remarks on functions with bounded Laplacian. 2016, arXiv:1605.05266
- [65] T. M. Elgindi, Finite-time singularity formation for C<sup>1,α</sup> solutions to the incompressible Euler equations on R<sup>3</sup>. Ann. of Math. (2) **194** (2021), no. 3, 647–727 Zbl 1492.35199 MR 4334974
- [66] T. Elgindi, S. Ibrahim, and S. Shen, Finite-time singularity formation for an active scalar equation. *Nonlinearity* 34 (2021), no. 7, 5045–5069 Zbl 1472.35276 MR 4281467
- [67] T. M. Elgindi, T.-E. Ghoul, and N. Masmoudi, On the stability of self-similar blow-up for  $C^{1,\alpha}$  solutions to the incompressible Euler equations on  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . *Camb. J. Math.* **9** (2021), no. 4, 1035–1075 MR 4445341
- [68] T. M. Elgindi, T.-E. Ghoul, and N. Masmoudi, Stable self-similar blow-up for a family of nonlocal transport equations. *Anal. PDE* 14 (2021), no. 3, 891–908 Zbl 1472.35277 MR 4259877
- [69] T. M. Elgindi and I.-J. Jeong, Finite-time singularity formation for strong solutions to the axi-symmetric 3D Euler equations. Ann. PDE 5 (2019), no. 2, article no. 16 Zbl 1436.35055 MR 4029562
- [70] T. M. Elgindi and I.-J. Jeong, Finite-time singularity formation for strong solutions to the Boussinesq system. Ann. PDE 6 (2020), no. 1, article no. 5 Zbl 1462.35287 MR 4098032

- [71] T. M. Elgindi and I.-J. Jeong, On singular vortex patches, II: Long-time dynamics. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 373 (2020), no. 9, 6757–6775 Zbl 1454.35265 MR 4155190
- [72] T. M. Elgindi and I.-J. Jeong, On the effects of advection and vortex stretching. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 235 (2020), no. 3, 1763–1817 Zbl 1434.35091 MR 4065651
- [73] T. M. Elgindi and I.-J. Jeong, Symmetries and critical phenomena in fluids. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 73 (2020), no. 2, 257–316 Zbl 1442.76031 MR 4054357
- [74] T. M. Elgindi and I.-J. Jeong, The incompressible Euler equations under octahedral symmetry: singularity formation in a fundamental domain. *Adv. Math.* **393** (2021), article no. 108091 Zbl 1496.35297 MR 4340227
- [75] T. M. Elgindi and I.-J. Jeong, On singular vortex patches, I: Well-posedness issues. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 283 (2023), article no. 1400 Zbl 1508.76028 MR 4537304
- [76] T. M. Elgindi and N. Masmoudi, L<sup>∞</sup> ill-posedness for a class of equations arising in hydrodynamics. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 235 (2020), no. 3, 1979–2025 Zbl 1507.35153 MR 4065655
- [77] Y. Eliashberg and T. Ratiu, The diameter of the symplectomorphism group is infinite. *Invent. Math.* 103 (1991), no. 2, 327–340 Zbl 0725.58006 MR 1085110
- [78] V. Elling, Self-similar 2d Euler solutions with mixed-sign vorticity. Comm. Math. Phys. 348 (2016), no. 1, 27–68 Zbl 1351.35114 MR 3551260
- [79] B. Ettinger and E. S. Titi, Global existence and uniqueness of weak solutions of threedimensional Euler equations with helical symmetry in the absence of vorticity stretching. *SIAM J. Math. Anal.* **41** (2009), no. 1, 269–296 Zbl 1303.76006 MR 2505860
- [80] G. L. Eyink and H. Spohn, Negative-temperature states and large-scale, long-lived vortices in two-dimensional turbulence. J. Statist. Phys. 70 (1993), no. 3–4, 833–886 Zbl 0945.82568 MR 1203717
- [81] G. Falkovich, I. Fouxon, and Y. Oz, New relations for correlation functions in Navier–Stokes turbulence. J. Fluid Mech. 644 (2010), 465–472 Zbl 1189.76291 MR 2593977
- [82] A. B. Ferrari, On the blow-up of solutions of the 3-D Euler equations in a bounded domain. Comm. Math. Phys. 155 (1993), no. 2, 277–294 Zbl 0787.35071 MR 1230029
- [83] J. D. Fournier, U. Frisch, and H. A. Rose, Infinite-dimensional turbulence. J. Phys. A 11 (1978), no. 1, 187–198 Zbl 0375.76051 MR 459275
- [84] S. Friedlander and A. Shnirelman, Instability of steady flows of an ideal incompressible fluid. In *Mathematical fluid mechanics*, pp. 143–172, Adv. Math. Fluid Mech., Birkhäuser, Basel, 2001 Zbl 0984.35129 MR 1865052
- [85] S. Friedlander, W. Strauss, and M. Vishik, Nonlinear instability in an ideal fluid. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré C Anal. Non Linéaire 14 (1997), no. 2, 187–209 Zbl 0874.76026 MR 1441392
- [86] S. Friedlander, M. Vishik, and V. Yudovich, Unstable eigenvalues associated with inviscid fluid flows. J. Math. Fluid Mech. 2 (2000), no. 4, 365–380 Zbl 0972.35100 MR 1814223
- [87] S. Friedlander and M. M. Vishik, Instability criteria for steady flows of a perfect fluid. *Chaos* 2 (1992), no. 3, 455–460 Zbl 1055.76518 MR 1184488
- [88] U. Frisch and V. Zheligovsky, A very smooth ride in a rough sea. Comm. Math. Phys. 326 (2014), no. 2, 499–505 Zbl 1285.35072 MR 3165464
- [89] T. Gallay and V. Šverák, Arnold's variational principle and its application to the stability of planar vortices. 2021, arXiv:2110.13739
- [90] B. Gidas, W.-M. Ni, and L. Nirenberg, Symmetry and related properties via the maximum principle. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 68 (1979), no. 3, 209–243 Zbl 0425.35020 MR 544879

- [91] D. Gilbarg and N. S. Trudinger, *Elliptic partial differential equations of second order*. Grundlehren Math. Wiss. 224, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1983 Zbl 0361.35003 MR 737190
- [92] V. L. Ginzburg and B. Khesin, Topology of steady fluid flows. In *Topological aspects of the dynamics of fluids and plasmas*, pp. 265–272, NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. E: Appl. Sci. 218, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1992 Zbl 0789.76014 MR 1232236
- [93] V. L. Ginzburg and B. Khesin, Steady fluid flows and symplectic geometry. J. Geom. Phys. 14 (1994), no. 2, 195–210 Zbl 0805.58023 MR 1288220
- [94] J. Gómez-Serrano, J. Park, and J. Shi, Existence of non-trivial non-concentrated compactly supported stationary solutions of the 2D Euler equation with finite energy. 2021, arXiv:2112.03821
- [95] J. Gómez-Serrano, J. Park, J. Shi, and Y. Yao, Remarks on stationary and uniformly-rotating vortex sheets: rigidity results. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 386 (2021), no. 3, 1845–1879 Zbl 1471.76021 MR 4299136
- [96] J. Gómez-Serrano, J. Park, J. Shi, and Y. Yao, Symmetry in stationary and uniformly rotating solutions of active scalar equations. *Duke Math. J.* 170 (2021), no. 13, 2957–3038 MR 4312192
- [97] N. M. Günther, On the motion of fluid in a moving container. (in Russian) Izvestia Akad. Nauk SSSR VI. Ser. 20 (1926), no. 13–14, 1323–1348 Zbl 53.0786.08
- [98] F. Hamel and N. Nadirashvili, Shear flows of an ideal fluid and elliptic equations in unbounded domains. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* **70** (2017), no. 3, 590–608 Zbl 1360.35155 MR 3602531
- [99] F. Hamel and N. Nadirashvili, Circular flows for the Euler equations in two-dimensional annular domains, and related free boundary problems. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) 25 (2023), no. 1, 323–368 Zbl 1510.35221 MR 4556785
- [100] Z. Hassainia, N. Masmoudi, and M. H. Wheeler, Global bifurcation of rotating vortex patches. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* **73** (2020), no. 9, 1933–1980 Zbl 1452.76038 MR 4156612
- [101] S. He and A. Kiselev, Boundary layer models of the Hou–Luo scenario. J. Differential Equations 298 (2021), 182–204 Zbl 1470.35270 MR 4286676
- [102] T. Hmidi and J. Mateu, Existence of corotating and counter-rotating vortex pairs for active scalar equations. *Comm. Math. Phys.* **350** (2017), no. 2, 699–747 Zbl 1360.35157 MR 3607460
- [103] E. Hölder, Über die unbeschränkte Fortsetzbarkeit einer stetigen ebenen Bewegung in einer unbegrenzten inkompressiblen Flüssigkeit. *Math. Z.* 37 (1933), no. 1, 727–738 MR 1545431
- [104] D. D. Holm, J. E. Marsden, T. Ratiu, and A. Weinstein, Nonlinear stability of fluid and plasma equilibria. *Phys. Rep.* **123** (1985), no. 1–2, 1–116 Zbl 0717.76051 MR 794110
- [105] D. D. Holm, J. E. Marsden, and T. S. Ratiu, The Euler–Poincaré equations and semidirect products with applications to continuum theories. *Adv. Math.* 137 (1998), no. 1, 1–81 Zbl 0951.37020 MR 1627802
- [106] E. Hopf, Statistical hydromechanics and functional calculus. J. Rational Mech. Anal. 1 (1952), 87–123 Zbl 0049.41704 MR 59119
- [107] A. D. Ionescu and H. Jia, Nonlinear inviscid damping near monotonic shear flows. 2020, arXiv:2001.03087
- [108] A. D. Ionescu and H. Jia, Axi-symmetrization near point vortex solutions for the 2D Euler equation. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* **75** (2022), no. 4, 818–891 Zbl 1492.76017 MR 4400903

- [109] A. Izosimov and B. Khesin, Characterization of steady solutions to the 2D Euler equation. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN 2017 (2017), no. 24, 7459–7503 Zbl 1405.35151 MR 3801424
- [110] I.-J. Jeong, Dynamics of the incompressible Euler equations at critical regularity. PhD thesis, Princeton University, 2017 MR 3781766
- [111] H. Jia, S. Stewart, and V. Sverak, On the De Gregorio modification of the Constantin–Lax– Majda model. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 231 (2019), no. 2, 1269–1304 Zbl 1408.35152 MR 3900823
- [112] V. I. Yudovich, Non-stationary flows of an ideal incompressible fluid. (in Russian) Ž. Vyčisl. Mat i Mat. Fiz. 3 (1963), no. 6, 1032–1066 MR 158189; English translation: USSR Comput. Math. Math. Phys. 3 (1963), no. 6, 1407–1456
- [113] V. I. Yudovich, The loss of smoothness of the solutions of Euler equations with time. (in Russian) *Dinamika Splošn. Sredy* 16 (1974), 71–78 MR 0454419
- [114] K. M. Khanin, Quasi-periodic motions of vortex systems. *Phys. D* 4 (82), no. 2, 261–269
   Zbl 1194.76028 MR 653779
- [115] B. Khesin, Topological fluid dynamics. *Notices Amer. Math. Soc.* 52 (2005), no. 1, 9–19
   Zbl 1078.37048 MR 2105567
- [116] B. Khesin, S. Kuksin, and D. Peralta-Salas, KAM theory and the 3D Euler equation. Adv. Math. 267 (2014), 498–522 Zbl 1303.37035 MR 3269186
- [117] B. Khesin, S. Kuksin, and D. Peralta-Salas, Global, local and dense non-mixing of the 3D Euler equation. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 238 (2020), no. 3, 1087–1112 Zbl 1451.35122 MR 4160796
- [118] B. Khesin and G. Misiołek, Asymptotic directions, Monge–Ampère equations and the geometry of diffeomorphism groups. J. Math. Fluid Mech. 7 (2005), no. 3 suppl., S365–S375 Zbl 1081.76011 MR 2168248
- [119] B. Khesin, G. Misiołek, and K. Modin, Geometric hydrodynamics and infinite-dimensional Newton's equations. *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.* (*N.S.*) 58 (2021), no. 3, 377–442 Zbl 1473.35444 MR 4273106
- [120] B. Khesin and C. Yang, Higher-dimensional Euler fluids and Hasimoto transform: counterexamples and generalizations. *Nonlinearity* 34 (2021), no. 3, 1525–1542 Zbl 1459.76032 MR 4228026
- [121] S. Kida, Three-dimensional periodic flows with high-symmetry. J. Phys. Soc. Japan 54 (1985), no. 6, 2132–2136
- [122] G. Kirchhoff, Vorlesungen über mathematische Physik (Vol. 1: Mechanik). B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, 1876
- [123] A. Kiselev, Regularity and blow up for active scalars. *Math. Model. Nat. Phenom.* 5 (2010), no. 4, 225–255 Zbl 1194.35490 MR 2662457
- [124] A. Kiselev, Small scales and singularity formation in fluid dynamics. in Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians (ICM 2018), pp. 2363–2390, 2018 Zbl 1448.35398
- [125] A. Kiselev, L. Ryzhik, Y. Yao, and A. Zlatoš, Finite time singularity for the modified SQG patch equation. Ann. of Math. (2) 184 (2016), no. 3, 909–948 Zbl 1360.35159 MR 3549626
- [126] A. Kiselev and V. Šverák, Small scale creation for solutions of the incompressible twodimensional Euler equation. *Ann. of Math. (2)* 180 (2014), no. 3, 1205–1220 Zbl 1304.35521 MR 3245016

- [127] A. Kiselev and C. Tan, Finite time blow up in the hyperbolic Boussinesq system. Adv. Math. 325 (2018), 34–55 Zbl 1382.35054 MR 3742585
- [128] H. Koch, Transport and instability for perfect fluids. *Math. Ann.* 323 (2002), no. 3, 491–523
   Zbl 1006.76008 MR 1923695
- [129] A. N. Kolmogorov, Dissipation of energy in the locally isotropic turbulence. (in Russian) Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR A 32 (1941), 16–18 Zbl 0063.03292 MR 0005851; English version: Proc. Roy. Soc. A 434 (1991), 15–17
- [130] S. Kouranbaeva, The Camassa–Holm equation as a geodesic flow on the diffeomorphism group. J. Math. Phys. 40 (1999), no. 2, 857–868 Zbl 0958.37060 MR 1674267
- [131] R. H. Kraichnan, Inertial ranges in two-dimensional turbulence. *Physics of Fluids* 10 (1967), no. 7, 1417–1423
- [132] R. Lan, The Minimizer of the Dirichlet Integral. Master's thesis, Concordia University, 2012
- [133] T. D. Lee, On some statistical properties of hydrodynamical and magneto-hydrodynamical fields. *Quart. Appl. Math.* 10 (1952), 69–74 ZbI 0047.19601 MR 51081
- [134] Z. Lei, J. Liu, and X. Ren, On the Constantin–Lax–Majda model with convection. Comm. Math. Phys. 375 (2020), no. 1, 765–783 Zbl 1439.35402 MR 4082178
- [135] J. Lenells, The Hunter–Saxton equation describes the geodesic flow on a sphere. J. Geom. Phys. 57 (2007), no. 10, 2049–2064 Zbl 1125.35085 MR 2348278
- [136] L. Lichtenstein, Über einige Existenzprobleme der Hydrodynamik homogener, unzusammendrückbarer, reibungsloser Flüssigkeiten und die Helmholtzschen Wirbelsätze. *Math. Z.* 23 (1925), no. 1, 89–154 Zbl 51.0658.01 MR 1544733
- [137] Z. Lin, Some stability and instability criteria for ideal plane flows. Comm. Math. Phys. 246 (2004), no. 1, 87–112 Zbl 1061.76016 MR 2044892
- [138] Z. Lin and C. Zeng, Inviscid dynamical structures near Couette flow. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 200 (2011), no. 3, 1075–1097 Zbl 1229.35197 MR 2796139
- [139] M. C. Lopes Filho, A. L. Mazzucato, and H. J. Nussenzveig Lopes, Weak solutions, renormalized solutions and enstrophy defects in 2D turbulence. *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.* 179 (2006), no. 3, 353–387 Zbl 1138.76362 MR 2208320
- [140] G. Luo and T. Y. Hou, Potentially singular solutions of the 3D axisymmetric Euler equations. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 111 (2014), no. 36, :12968–12973 Zbl 1431.35115
- [141] G. Luo and T. Y. Hou, Toward the finite-time blowup of the 3D axisymmetric Euler equations: a numerical investigation. *Multiscale Model. Simul.* **12** (2014), no. 4, 1722–1776 Zbl 1316.35235 MR 3278833
- [142] A. J. Majda and A. L. Bertozzi, *Vorticity and incompressible flow*. Cambridge Texts Appl. Math. 27, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2021 Zbl 0983.76001 MR 1867882
- [143] C. Marchioro and M. Pulvirenti, *Mathematical theory of incompressible nonviscous fluids*. Appl. Math. Sci. 96, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1994 Zbl 0789.76002 MR 1245492
- [144] J. E. Marsden and T. S. Ratiu, Introduction to mechanics and symmetry: A basic exposition of classical mechanical systems. Texts Appl. Math. 17, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1994 Zbl 0933.70003 MR 1304682
- [145] N. Masmoudi and W. Zhao, Nonlinear inviscid damping for a class of monotone shear flows in finite channel. 2020, arXiv:2001.08564
- [146] L. D. Mešalkin and J. G. Sinaĭ, Investigation of the stability of a stationary solution of a system of equations for the plane movement of an incompressible viscous liquid. J. Appl. Math. Mech. 25 (1961), no. 6, 1700–1705 Zbl 0108.39501 MR 0137419

- [147] J. Miller, Statistical mechanics of Euler equations in two dimensions. Phys. Rev. Lett. 65 (1990), no. 17, 2137–2140 Zbl 1050.82553 MR 1074119
- [148] G. Misiołek, Stability of flows of ideal fluids and the geometry of the group of diffeomorphisms. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 42 (1993), no. 1, 215–235 Zbl 0799.58019 MR 1218713
- [149] G. Misiołek, Conjugate points in  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(T^2)$ . Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **124** (1996), no. 3, 977– 982 Zbl 0849.58004 MR 1301038
- [150] G. Misiołek and S. C. Preston, Fredholm properties of Riemannian exponential maps on diffeomorphism groups. *Invent. Math.* **179** (2010), no. 1, 191–227 Zbl 1183.58006 MR 2563764
- [151] G. Misiołek and T. Yoneda, Local ill-posedness of the incompressible Euler equations in  $C^1$  and  $B^1_{\infty,1}$ . *Math. Ann.* **364** (2016), no. 1–2, 243–268 Zbl 1336.35280 MR 3451386
- [152] K. Modin and M. Viviani, A Casimir preserving scheme for long-time simulation of spherical ideal hydrodynamics. J. Fluid Mech. 884 (2020), article no. A22 Zbl 1460.76182 MR 4041463
- [153] K. Modin and M. Viviani, Integrability of point-vortex dynamics via symplectic reduction: a survey. Arnold Math. J. 7 (2021), no. 3, 357–385 Zbl 1482.37056 MR 4293869
- [154] K. Modin and M. Viviani, Canonical scale separation in two-dimensional incompressible hydrodynamics. J. Fluid Mech. 943 (2022), article no. A36 Zbl 1510.76035 MR 4439512
- [155] A. Morgulis, A. Shnirelman, and V. Yudovich, Loss of smoothness and inherent instability of 2D inviscid fluid flows. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations* 33 (2008), no. 4–6, 943–968 Zbl 1141.76012 MR 2424384
- [156] N. Nadirashvili, On stationary solutions of two-dimensional Euler equation. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 209 (2013), no. 3, 729–745 Zbl 1287.35062 MR 3067825
- [157] N. S. Nadirashvili, Wandering solutions of Euler's D-2 equation. (in Russian) Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. 25 (1991), no. 3, 70–71 Zbl 0769.35048 MR 1139875; English translation: Funct. Anal. Appl. 25 (1991), no. 3, 220–221
- [158] H. Q. Nguyen, Remarks on the solution map for Yudovich solutions of the Euler equations. J. Math. Fluid Mech. 24 (2022), no. 2, article no. 44 MR 4400664
- [159] L. Onsager, Statistical hydrodynamics. *Il Nuovo Cimento (9)* 6 (1949), no. 2 suppl., 279–287 MR 36116
- [160] F. Planchon, An extension of the Beale–Kato–Majda criterion for the Euler equations. Comm. Math. Phys. 232 (2003), no. 2, 319–326 Zbl 1022.35048 MR 1953068
- [161] S. C. Preston, The geometry of barotropic flow. J. Math. Fluid Mech. 15 (2013), no. 4, 807– 821 Zbl 1286.35208 MR 3127021
- [162] S. C. Preston, Solar models and McKean's breakdown theorem for the μCH and μDP equations. *Math. Ann.* 385 (2023), no. 3–4, 1181–1211 MR 4566694
- [163] R. Robert, A maximum-entropy principle for two-dimensional perfect fluid dynamics. J. Statist. Phys. 65 (1991), no. 3–4, 531–553 Zbl 0935.76530 MR 1137423
- [164] P. G. Saffman, Vortex dynamics. Cambridge Monogr. Mech. Appl. Math., Cambridge University Press, New York, 1992 Zbl 0777.76004 MR 1217252
- [165] X. Saint Raymond, Remarks on axisymmetric solutions of the incompressible Euler system. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations* 19 (1994), no. 1–2, 321–334 Zbl 0795.35063 MR 1257007
- [166] A. Sarria and R. Saxton, Blow-up of solutions to the generalized inviscid Proudman–Johnson equation. J. Math. Fluid Mech. 15 (2013), no. 3, 493–523 Zbl 1277.35077 MR 3084321

- [167] P. Serfati, Étude mathématique de flammes infiniment minces en combustion: Résultats de structure et de régularité pour l'équation d'Euler incompressible. Thèse de doctorat de l'Université Paris 6, 1992
- [168] P. Serfati, Pertes de regularite pour le laplacien et l'equation d'Euler sur  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Preprint, 1994
- [169] P. Serfati, Régularité stratifiée et équation d'Euler 3D à temps grand. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 318 (1994), no. 10, 925–928 Zbl 0805.76009 MR 1278153
- [170] P. Serfati, Équation d'Euler et holomorphies à faible régularité spatiale. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 320 (1995), no. 2, 175–180 Zbl 0834.34077 MR 1320351
- [171] D. Serre, Sur le principe variationnel des équations de la mécanique des fluides parfaits. RAIRO Modél. Math. Anal. Numér. 27 (1993), no. 6, 739–758 Zbl 0788.76065 MR 1246997
- [172] D. Serre, La croissance de la vorticité dans les écoulements parfaits incompressibles. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 328 (1999), no. 6, 549–552 Zbl 0938.76017 MR 1680027
- T. Shirota and T. Yanagisawa, Note on global existence for axially symmetric solutions of the Euler system. *Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci.* 70 (1994), no. 10, 299–304
   Zbl 0831.35141 MR 1313183
- [174] S. Shkoller, Geometry and curvature of diffeomorphism groups with H<sup>1</sup> metric and mean hydrodynamics. J. Funct. Anal. 160 (1998), no. 1, 337–365 Zbl 0933.58010 MR 1658676
- [175] A. I. Shnirel'man, The geometry of the group of diffeomorphisms and the dynamics of an ideal incompressible fluid. (in Russian) *Mat. Sb. (N.S.)* 128(170) (1985), no. 1(9), 82–109; MR 805697 English version: *Math. USSR Sb.* 56 (1987), no. 1, 79–105
- [176] A. I. Shnirelman, Attainable diffeomorphisms. Geom. Funct. Anal. 3 (1993), no. 3, 279–294
   Zbl 0784.57018 MR 1215782
- [177] A. I. Shnirelman, Lattice theory and flows of ideal incompressible fluid. *Russian J. Math. Phys.* 1 (1993), no. 1, 105–114 Zbl 0874.35096 MR 1240495
- [178] A. I. Shnirelman, Generalized fluid flows, their approximation and applications. Geom. Funct. Anal. 4 (1994), no. 5, 586–620 Zbl 0851.76003 MR 1296569
- [179] A. Shnirelman, Evolution of singularities, generalized Liapunov function and generalized integral for an ideal incompressible fluid. *Amer. J. Math.* **119** (1997), no. 3, 579–608 Zbl 0874.93055 MR 1448216
- [180] A. Shnirelman, Microglobal analysis of the Euler equations. J. Math. Fluid Mech. 7 (2005), no. 3 suppl., S387–S396 Zbl 1080.76011 MR 2168250
- [181] A. Shnirelman, On the analyticity of particle trajectories in the ideal incompressible fluid. 2012, arXiv:1205.5837
- [182] A. Shnirelman, On the long time behavior of fluid flows. Procedia IUTAM 7 (2013), 151–160
- [183] R. Shvidkoy and Y. Latushkin, The essential spectrum of the linearized 2D Euler operator is a vertical band. In Advances in differential equations and mathematical physics, pp. 299–304, Contemp. Math. 327, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003 Zbl 1109.76311 MR 1991549
- [184] J. Sommeria, C. Staquet, and R. Robert, Final equilibrium state of a two-dimensional shear layer. J. Fluid Mech. 233 (1991), 661–689 Zbl 0738.76031 MR 1140092
- [185] D. Sullivan, Algebra, topology and algebraic topology of 3D ideal fluids. In *Low-dimensional and symplectic topology*, pp. 1–7, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 82, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2011 Zbl 1238.35105 MR 2768649

- [186] D. Sullivan, A finite time blowup result for quadratic ODE's. In *Dynamics, games and science I*, pp. 761–762, Springer Proc. Math. 1, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2011 Zbl 1250.34029 MR 3059639
- [187] D. Sullivan, 3D incompressible fluids: combinatorial models, eigenspace models, and a conjecture about well-posedness of the 3D zero viscosity limit. J. Differential Geom. 97 (2014), no. 1, 141–148 Zbl 1300.35104 MR 3229053
- [188] D. Sullivan, A discourse on the measurable Riemann mapping theorem & incompressible fluid motion. In *The legacy of Bernhard Riemann after one hundred and fifty years. Vol. II*, pp. 691–702, Adv. Lect. Math. (ALM) 35, International Press, Somerville, MA, 2016 MR 3525908
- [189] D. Sullivan, Lattice hydrodynamics. In Astérisque 415 (Some aspects of the theory of dynamical systems: a tribute to Jean-Christophe Yoccoz), pp. 215–222, 2020 MR 4142453
- [190] V. Šverák, Course notes. https://math.umn.edu/~sverak/course-notes2011, 2011/2012
- [191] M. E. Taylor, *Partial differential equations. I–III*. Applied Mathematical Sciences 115–117, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1997
- [192] V. K. Tkachenko, Stability of vortex lattices. Soviet Physics JETP 23 (1966), no. 6, 1049– 1056
- [193] M. R. Ukhovskii and V. I. Yudovich, Axially symmetric flows of ideal and viscous fluids filling the whole space. *Prikl. Mat. Meh.* **32** (1968), 59–69 Zbl 0172.53405 MR 0239293; English translation: *J. Appl. Math. Mech.* **32** (1968), 52–62
- [194] M. Vishik, Instability and non-uniqueness in the Cauchy problem for the Euler equations of an ideal incompressible fluid. Part I. 2018, arXiv:1805.09426
- [195] Y. H. Wan and M. Pulvirenti, Nonlinear stability of circular vortex patches. Comm. Math. Phys. 99 (1985), no. 3, 435–450 Zbl 0584.76062 MR 795112
- [196] Y. Wang, C. Lai, J. Gómez-Serrano, and T. Buckmaster, Asymptotic self-similar blow-up profile for three-dimensional axisymmetric Euler equations using neural networks. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 130 (2023), article no. 244002
- [197] D. Wirosoetisno and T. G. Shepherd, Nonlinear stability of Euler flows in two-dimensional periodic domains. *Geophys. Astrophys. Fluid Dynam.* **90** (1999), no. 3–4, 229–246 MR 1732294
- [198] D. Wirosoetisno and J. Vanneste, Persistence of steady flows of a two-dimensional perfect fluid in deformed domains. *Nonlinearity* 18 (2005), no. 6, 2657–2680 Zbl 1084.76011 MR 2176952
- [199] W. Wolibner, Un theorème sur l'existence du mouvement plan d'un fluide parfait, homogène, incompressible, pendant un temps infiniment long. *Math. Z.* 37 (1933), no. 1, 698–726 Zbl 0008.06901 MR 1545430
- [200] V. I. Yudovich, Uniqueness theorem for the basic nonstationary problem in the dynamics of an ideal incompressible fluid. *Math. Res. Lett.* 2 (1995), no. 1, 27–38 Zbl 0841.35092 MR 1312975
- [201] V. I. Yudovich, On the loss of smoothness of the solutions of the Euler equations and the inherent instability of flows of an ideal fluid. *Chaos* 10 (2000), no. 3, 705–719 Zbl 0982.76014 MR 1791984
- [202] V. I. Yudovich, Eleven great problems of mathematical hydrodynamics. Mosc. Math. J. 3 (2003), no. 2, 711–737 Zbl 1061.76003 MR 2025281
- [203] V. Zeitlin, Finite-mode analogs of 2D ideal hydrodynamics: Coadjoint orbits and local canonical structure. *Phys. D* 49 (1991), no. 3, 353–362 Zbl 0724.76004 MR 1115867

[204] A. Zlatoš, Exponential growth of the vorticity gradient for the Euler equation on the torus. *Adv. Math.* 268 (2015), 396–403 Zbl 1308.35194 MR 3276599

Received 12 February 2022; revised 7 December 2022.

#### **Theodore D. Drivas**

Department of Mathematics, SUNY Stony Brook, Stony Brook, NY 11794; School of Mathematics, Institute for Advanced Study, 1 Einstein Dr., Princeton, NJ 08540, USA; tdrivas@math.stonybrook.edu, tdrivas@ias.edu

#### Tarek M. Elgindi

Department of Mathematics, Duke University, Durham, NC 27708, USA; tarek.elgindi@duke.edu